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CLERK OF THE COURT
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, OCTOBER 8, 2015

* ok ok ok ok Kk Kk

DANETTE L., ANTONACCT,

having been first duly sworn to faithfully
and accurately transcribe the following

proceedings to the best of her ability.

MR. PESCI: Ladies and gentlemen of the
Grand Jury, my name 1is Giancarloc Pesci. I'm here with
Sarah Killer and we are the deputy district attorneys
assigned to the State of Nevada versus Ralph Alexander,
James Earl Parker and Tonya Martin, Grand Jury case
number 14BGJ113A-C.

As a matter of housekeeping, ladies and
gentlemen, you have previously heard testimony and
returned a true bill on Ralph Alexander and James Parker
back on August 13, 2015. We are now back here with a
superseding Indictment which is your Exhibit Number 1 I
believe. In that Indictment you will see charges that
yvou've previously returned a true bill on and then there
are new charges. So for clarity purposes if I could,
the new charges, the charges that we're asking you to
focus on today would be Count 1, conspiracy to commit

robbery, and then jump to page 3, Counts 4, 5, 6, 7, 8,

2 AA 005
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°, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19. Those are
the counts that we're going to be presenting evidence.
The remainder of the counts you have already heard the
evidence and already returned a true bill. Does anyone
have any questions in that regard?

Additionally the counts that we're bringing
to you now that are new counts involve charges that you
have already been instructed on. So there are more
counts but it's the same charges. You've already been
instructed, you've also been given those instructions on
the law. Does anyone have any guestions on the
instructions on the law before we start with our
witnesses?

Seeling no answers.

We will call our first witness will be
Detective Lorson.

THE FOREPERSON: Please railse your right
hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help vyvou God?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be

seated.

2 AA 006
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You are advised that vou are here today to
gilve testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving
Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
and last name and spell both for the record.

THE WITNESS: First name 1s Karl with a K
and last name i1s Lorson. It's L-0O-R-S-0O-N.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.

KARL LORSON,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION
BY MR. PESCI:
Q. Sir, are you a detective with Metropolitan
Police Department?
A. Yes, sir, I am.

2 AA 007
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Q. How long have you been with Metro?

A. Almost 18 vyears.

Q. And for some of those years did you work
robbery?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

Q. I want to direct your attention back to an

incident that occurred on or about June 15th of 2015 at
the Boulder Station here in Las Vegas, Clark County,
Nevada. That's on Boulder Highway; 1s that correct?

A. Yes, sir, it 1is.

Q. Were you involved in the investigation of
some crimes that occurred there?

A. Yes, 1 was.

Q. And have you previously testified in front
of this Grand Jury about that incident?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

Q. So we're bringing you back to talk about
another facet of it. Previously vyou talked about the
incident of a woman being robbed while she was seated at

a game inside of a casino.

A. Yes, sir, that's correct.

Q. And vyou talked to us a lot about
surveillance.

A. Yes, I did.

Q. In fact there was some information from the

2 AA 008
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survelllance and witnesses about a white female being
involved potentially; is that correct?

A. That 1s correct.

Q. As you come here and testify today, did you
interview an individual by the name of Tonya Martin?

A. Yes, sir, I did.

Q. Had she become a person of interest or a
suspect in your investigation?

A. Yes, sir, she 1is.

Q. So when you spoke to her, was she arrested

or not arrested?

A. No, she was not arrested.

Q. Did you ask her to come meet with you?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Specifically was this on July the 27th of
20157

A. Yes, sir, 1t was.

Q. When she came to meet with you, was she

placed in handcuffs?
A. No, she was not.
Q. Did you indicate to her that she was free

to leave?

A. Yes, sir, I did.
Q. At any point was she restrained?
A. No, sir, she wasn't.

2 AA 009
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08:57 1 Q. At the end of your interview was she let
2 go’
3 A. Yes, sir, she was.
4 0. With that backdrop, did you ask her about
08:57 5 | the incident that occurred that day at the Boulder

0 Station, that being June 15, 20157
7 A. Yes, sir, I did.
8 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit Number 24.
9 | Do vou recognize the individual in Grand Jury
08:57 10 | Exhibit 247
11 A. Yes, sir, that's Tonya Martin.
12 Q. Is that a fair and accurate depiction of

13 | Miss Martin that you interviewed?

14 A, Yes, sir, 1t 1is.
08:57 15 Q. Did you ask her about the incident?
16 A. Yes, I did.
17 Q. What did she tell vyou?
18 A. She stated that she and Ralph were at the

19 | casino. At one point they had left, went into her

08:57 20 | vehicle. At some point Mr. Alexander had changed
21 clothes, left the wvehicle, went back inside and then she
22 | had stated that she had left the parking lot just to the
23 | outside of the Boulder Station parking lot.
24 Q. In your investigation had you reviewed the

08:58 25 surveillance from Boulder Station?

2 AA o10
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08:58 1 A, Yes, I did.
2 0. Was there a vehicle of 1nterest 1n that

3 surveilllance?

4 A. Yes, there was. It was a 2000, early
08:58 5 | 2000's gold Taurus.
6 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit 23. Do you

7 | recognize that?
8 A. Yes, it 1s the vehicle registration.
9 Q. So 1s this DMV records about that

08:58 10 | particular car?

11 A. Yes, 1t 1s.
12 Q. And 1s that a 2002 —-
13 A. Yes, 1t 1s, a 2002 Ford Taurus.
14 0. What's the color?
08:58 15 A. It looks like —-
IS Q. Or do you remember the color?
17 A. It was gold. They don't have the color

18 | depicted on here.

19 Q. Were you able to confirm with Miss Martin
08:58 20 | the video surveillance about the car?

21 A. Yes, I did.

272 Q. Did you ask her if that was her car?

23 A, Yes, I did, she stated it was.

24 Q. So now that car was the car that vyou had
08:58 25 | seen in the surveillance outside of Boulder Station?

2 AA 011
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08:58 1 A, Yes, 1t was.
2 Q. What did she tell you happened in the car?
3 A. She stated that Mr. Alexander had, when

4 | they originally left to go into the wvehicle, that he had
08:59 5 | changed his clothes and then exited the vehicle and she

6 | stated that she exited to the parking lot, exited the

7 | parking lot just off of I believe i1t was Lamb Boulevard

8 | which runs right next to the Boulder Station. Short

9 | time later Mr. Alexander came running and then reentered
08:59 10 | the wvehicle.

11 0. Now did that corroborate or was that

12 | consistent with what you saw in the video surveillance

13 | and the information you had from witnesses in this case?

14 A. Yes, 1t did.
08:59 15 Q. And in particular you previously testified

16 about how there was a change of clothes?

17 A. Yes, I did.
18 0. And so she confirmed that?
19 A. Yes, that's correct.
08:59 20 Q. Did she indicate to you who Ralph Alexander

21 | was to her?

22 A. I don't recall, I believe i1t was eilther her
23 | boyfriend or her husband. I'm pretty sure it was her

24 | boyfriend or something like that. Significant other.

08:59 25 Q. Did she say that after Mr. Alexander

2 AA 012
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08:59 1 | changed he went back into the casino?
2 A. Yes, he did reenter the casino.
3 Q. And then what did she tell you happened

4 | atter that?
08:59 5 A. She stated that once he got back in the car
6 | that he had told her that he had robbed, there was a
7 | lady that was sitting in there that he robbed.
3 Q. And ladies and gentlemen of the Grand Jury,
9 | what one witness says that the other witness said, you
09:00 10 | cannot use that against Mr. Alexander. This is really
11 | going to Miss Martin and what she knew what was going
12 | on. Will you not use that against Mr. Alexander?
13 | Everyone can understand that and follow that admonition?
14 Thank vyou.
09:00 15 So Miss Martin said that she understood
16 | what was going on as far as what he did inside?
17 A. That 1s correct.
18 0. And did she indicate to you ever that she
19 saw a gun?
09:00 20 A. No. She as a matter of fact stated that
21 | she had never observed him with a firearm.
22 Q. You had information from the witness and
23 the victims about a gun; 1is that correct?
24 A. That 1s correct.

09:00 25 Q. Based upon that you asked her specifically

2 AA 013
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09:00 1 | about that?
2 A. That 1is correct.
3 Q. And if I understand you correctly, she

4 | denied seeing a gun?
09:00 5 A. That 1s correct.
6 Q. What about any money or proceeds from the
7 robbery, what did she say about it?
3 A. she stated that Mr. Alexander had gotten
9 | $200 from the incident.
09:01 10 Q. And did she say whether she got any of that
11 | money?
12 A. She denied getting any of the money.
13 Q. What did she say she did after
14 | Mr. Alexander got back in the car that second time?
09:01 15 A. They drove to their apartment at 1400 T
16 | believe it was North Lamb.
17 Q. Was there anything else from that interview
18 | that you think is pertinent to this presentation?
19 A. Not that I can think of.
09:01 20 MR. PESCI: Are there any questions from
21 | the ladies and gentlemen of the Grand Jury?
22 THE FOREPERSON: No questions.
23 By law, these proceedings are secret and
24 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything

09:01 25 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and

2 AAo14



15

09:01 1 | statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
2 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
3 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.
4 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
09:01 5 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
6 | County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
7 | yvou may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
8 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

9 Detention Center.

09:01 10 Do you understand this admonition?
11 THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.
12 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou, sir. You're

13 excused.

14 THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.

09:02 15 MR. PESCI: 1I'll be right back with who's
16 | next.
17 THE FOREPERSON: If vyou would, sir, please

18 | raise your right hand.

19 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
09:03 20 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before

21 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

22 | nothing but the truth, so help vou God?

23 THE WITNESS: Yes.

24 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be

09:03 25 seated.

2 AA 015
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09:03 1 You are advised that you are here today to
2 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
3 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
4 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
09:04 5 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
6 | weapon, assault with a deadly weapon, involving Ralph

7 | Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

3 Do you understand this advisement?
9 THE WITNESS: From vyou?

09:04 10 THE FOREPERSON: Yes.
11 THE WITNESS: I understand via the

12 interpreter.

13 THE FOREPERSON: Yes. Thank vyou.

14 Please state your first and last name and
09:04 15 | spell both for the record.

16 THE WITNESS: My name is, my last name

17 Tran, I spell, T-R-A-N. First name C-A-N-G, Cang.

18 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

19 CANG TRAN,

09:05 20 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
21 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
22 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

23 EXAMINATION

24 | BY MS. KILLER:

09:05 25 Q. Good morning, Mr. Tran.

2 AA 016
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09:05 1 A. Good morning.
2 Q. Because we're taking a record of this, the
3 | interpreter has to give all of your responses and ask

4 | all of my questions even if you might be able to

09:05 5 | understand part of it.
0 A. Okay. Yes.
7 Q. Directing your attention to June 26th of

3 | 2015 at around 6:45 p.m. Were you at work at the LV
9 | Nail Spa at 4430 East Charleston here in Las Vegas,
09:06 10 | Clark County, Nevada?
11 A, Yes.
12 Q. What is your position with the nail spa,
153 | how are you employed there?
14 A. IT'm a nail technician.
09:06 15 Q. On the evening of June 26th did something
16 | occur which causes you to be here today to testify?
17 A. Yes. That day I was working, 1t was on a
18 | Friday, and we had a lot of customers at that location.
19 | At that time suddenly I saw two men walk in. I saw one
09:07 20 | of the men had a gun in his hand and they approcached the
21 | women who were the nail technicians and they were asking
22 | something. They said, they asked about the cell phone,
23 | the laptop or the wallets, they have to hand them over.
24 Q. Let me take you back a little bit. When

09:08 25 | they walked in, were you able to see their faces or did

2 AA 017
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09:08 1 | they have something covering their faces?
2 A. The one that had the gun did not cover his
3 face. The other one who stood near the front door had a

4 face mask. And then both of them collected the items.
09:08 5 Q. The one who had the mask on, what did it

o look 1like?

7 A. It was a small leather piece. It covers
3 from —-
9 THE INTERPRETER: Gesturing from the nose

09:09 10 down to the mouth.
11 THE WITNESS: It was a black leather and it

12 | has opening for the mouth where you could see his mouth.

13 THE INTERPRETER: Not see his mouth.
14 Sorry.
09:09 15 THE WITNESS: The face mask had a picture

16 | of @ mouth on it with a smiling, a smiling open mouth.
17 BY MS. KILLER:
18 0. Okay. Was it like dark and then it had a
19 | 1ight face on it?

09:10 20 A. That face mask had a mouth painted on it
21 | with a smiling mouth on it.
272 Q. Okay. And did you see —— how many guns did
23 | you see with them?
24 A. Because when I was sitting which is toward

09:10 25 | the back of the store I saw the man had one gun. The

2 AA 018



19

09:10 1 | man near the front door who was collecting the items,
2 | I'm thinking that he had also a gun on his side but I'm
3 | not sure because he didn't display his gun. His hands
4 | were busy collecting the items.

09:11 5 Q. And vyou had said at some point during the
6 | incident both people took items from the people in the

7 store?

3 A. Yes.

9 Q. Did they take any money from your business?
09:12 10 A. I saw that they collected money from the

11 owner on the table. It was on a nail table where they

12 | collected the money and it was in a pile on the table.
13 Q. Did they take anything from you?
14 A. They demanded from me but I told them I
09:12 15 | didn't have anything, I was working.
16 Q. Did they have vyou, did you have to move
17 | from where vyvou were sitting at all or did vyvou stay in
18 | the same place during the whole incident?
19 A. No. I was so scared.
09:13 20 MS. KILLER: At this time the State has no
21 | further gquestions for Mr. Tran. Do the ladies and
22 | gentlemen of the Grand Jury have any?
23 A JUROR: Just a date. Did you say
24 | June 15th?

09:13 25 MR. PESCI: I believe I said June 26th of

2 AA 019
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09:13 1 2015.
2 0. Is that the date this occurred, Mr. Tran-?
3 A JUROR: It is the date. I heard the

4 15th. Forgive me.

09:13 5 MS. KILLER: Any other questions?
6 THE FOREPERSON: No questions.
7 By law, these proceedings are secret and

8 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything

9 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and
09:153 10 | statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event

11 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand

12 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

13 Failure to comply with this admonition is a

14 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
09:13 15 | County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,

16 | you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an

17 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

18 Detention Center.

19 Do you understand this admonition?
09:14 20 THE WITNESS: Yes.
21 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou, sir. You're

22 excused.

23 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
24 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.
09:14 25 MS. KILLER: The State's next witness will

2 AA 020
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09:14 1 | be, the first name is LIEN, last name Nguyen,

2 | N-G-U-Y-E-N.

3 THE FOREPERSON: Please raise your right
4 | hand.
09:14 5 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are

6 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
7 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

8 | nothing but the truth, so help you God?

9 THE WITNESS: Yes.
09:15 10 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be
11 | seated.
12 You are advised that you are here today to

13 | give testimony 1in the investigation pertaining to the

14 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
09:15 15 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to

16 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly

17 | weapon, assault with a deadly weapon, involving Ralph

18 | Alexander, James Parker, Tonya Martin.

19 Do you understand this advisement?
09:15 2.0 THE WITNESS: I don't understand.
21 THE FOREPERSON: You're here to testify

22 | about these offenses involving these people.
23 THE WITNESS: Yes.
24 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

09:15 25 | and last name and spell both for the record.

2 AA 021
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THE WITNESS: My name Lien, L-I-E-N, last
name N-G-U-Y-E-N.
THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.

LIEN NGUYEN,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION
BY MR. PESCI:
Q. Ma'am, I want to direct your attention to
June 26th of 2015.
A. Yes.
Q. At about 6:45 p.m. were you working at the

LV Nail Spa located at 4430 East Charleston here in Las

Vegas?

A, Yes.

Q. So we have a Vietnamese translator here for
you.

A. Yes.

Q. So we ask yvou to wait until she translates

before yvou answer and then if you could answer in
Vietnamese.

A. Yes.
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Q. Is that okay with vyou?

A. Yes.

Q. Is Vietnamese your first language?

A, Yeah.

Q. Okay. What 1is your job at the nail spa?
A, Nail tech.

Q. Were you working there with Cang Tran?
A. Yes.

Q. Is that the gentleman that just left the

Grand Jury?

A. Correct.

Q. Were you the supervisor or what was your
job?

A. Yes, supervisor.

Q. What happened?

A. I speak in Vietnamese?

Q. Please.

A. I was waxing on a customer and there were

two people who enter the store with a gun.

Q. Can you describe those two people?

A. They are black and they wore face mask.
Q. Were they men or women?

A, Men.

Q. And then can you describe the masks?

A. It's a face mask, 1it's like a Halloween
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09:18 1 | mask that has a skull on 1it.
2 Q. So one mask had a skull?
3 A. And the other one it was only covering the
4 | mouth.

09:18 5 Q. So the second person, the person without

6 | the skull mask, had something else on his face?

7 A. Yes, 1t was a mouth covering.
8 Q. What did these two men do?
9 A. They told evervybody to stand up and give

09:19 10 | them money.

11 Q. Did they take any money from you?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. When they did this, did they have a gun?
14 A. Yes, they had gun and they put it on my

09:19 15 | body.
16 Q. How many guns did you see?
17 A. I was so scared so I don't know if one of
18 them had a gun or not, but the one that was holding the
19 | gun to me had the gun.

09:20 20 Q. Okay. Did he actually touch you with the

21 | gun or did he just point the gun at you?

22 A. He pointed a gun at my heart, my body.

23 Q. Can you describe the gun?

24 A. It's about this big. It's not too big.
09:20 25 Q. Is 1t a handgun?
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09:20 1 A, Yes.
2 Q. Where did you get the money to give him

3 from?

4 A. It was money that I collected from the
09:20 5 | customers. It was 1in the drawer.

6 Q. In the drawer?

7 A. Yes.

3 Q. So your business drawer where you kept the

9 | money from the business?

09:20 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. How much money did you give him?
12 A. I don't remember exactly but it's about six

13 | or $700.
14 Q. Did you also give him your cell phone?
09:21 15 A. They demanded a cell phone but when they

16 | opened the drawer they didn't see it.

17 Q. Okay. So you did not give your cell phone?

18 A, No.

19 Q. Did you see other customers also handing
09:21 20 | over money or personal items?

21 A. They hand over their small wallets or cell

22 | phones.

23 Q. The man that had the gun on you, while he

24 | was doing that, what was the other man doing?

09:22 25 A. While he was pointing a gun at me the other
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09:22 1 | one was collecting the money or the items from the

2 customers.

3 Q. Did they threaten you?

4 A. He said you have to sit down, otherwise if
09:22 5 | you don't sit down I will shoot you.

6 Q. Did you sit down?

7 A. Yes.

3 Q. After they grabbed stuff from everyone did

9 | they leave?

09:22 10 A. Yes.
11 0. Did you see where they went?
12 A. No. I was so scared.
13 MR. PESCI: No further questions from the

14 State. Are there any questions from the Grand Jury?
09:23 15 | BY A JUROR:
16 Q. SO no personal property was taken from vyou
17 | during the robbery?
18 A, No, Jjust the cash.
19 Q. Thank vyou.
09:23 20 | BY A JUROR:
21 Q. Did he actually put the gun on your heart
22 or did he, was he away from you when he pointed the gun
23 | at your heart?
24 A. He held onto my shirt and pointed the gun

09:23 25 | but did not touch my body, no.
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09:23 1 Q. Thank vyou.
2 BY MR. PESCI:
3 Q. Following up on that first question. Your
4 own personal money wasn't taken from you, but you were
09:23 5 | the person who got the money from the store and gave it
0 to him; 1s that correct?
7 A. So that day I had a hundred dollar cash for
3 | the change of the money, plus the money that I collected

9 from the customers.

09:24 10 Q. Okay. Thank vyou.
11 THE FOREPERSON: No further questions.
12 By law, these proceedings are secret and

13 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything

14 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and
09:24 15 | statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event

16 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand

17 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

18 Failure to comply with this admonition is a

19 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
09:24 20 | County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,

21 | you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an

22 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

23 | Detention Center.

24 Do you understand this admonition?

09:24 25 THE WITNESS: Yes.
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09:24 1 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, ma'am. You're

2 excused.

3 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
4 THE FOREPERSON: If you could, ma'am,
09:25 5 | please raise your right hand.
6 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are

7 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
8 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

9 | nothing but the truth, so help yvou God?

09:26 10 THE WITNESS: Yes.
11 THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.
12 You are advised that you are here today to

13 | give testimony 1in the investigation pertaining to the

14 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
09:26 15 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to

16 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly

17 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

18 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

19 Do you understand this advisement?
09:26 20 THE WITNESS: Yes.
21 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

22 and last name and spell both for the record.
23 THE WITNESS: Evangelina Espinoza.
24 E-V-A-N-G-E-L-I-N-A, Espinoza, E-S-P-I-N-0-7Z-A.

09:26 25 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.
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09:26 1 EVANGELINA ESPINOZA,

2 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the

3 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

4 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:
09:26 5

6 EXAMINATION

3 BY MR. PESCI:
9 Q. Ma'am, I want to direct your attention to
09:26 10 | about 6:45 p.m. on June 26th of this year. Were vyou at

11 | the Las Vegas Nail Spa on East Charleston?

12 A. Yes.
13 Q. Were you a customer there?
14 A. Yes.
09:27 15 Q. Were you having your nails down?
16 A. My feet.
17 Q. I apologize. So it was a pedicure?
18 A. Yes, 1t was a pedicure.
19 Q. What happened in the mist of your pedicure

09:27 20 | that you had probably not planned for?
21 A. Well, she was about to paint my nails and
22 all of a sudden you hear the door open, they have some
23 little bells there, and the two guys, there was two men
24 or boys, whatever, and he said to give him the cell

09:27 25 | phone and your money and he just pointed the gun at all
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09:27 1 | of us.

2 Q. Let's describe those two men. Could you

3 | describe them please?

4 A. Maybe a little bit taller than me. They
09:27 5 | were thin built. One of them had like a mask and then

6 | the other one had like covered. The one that had the

7 | gun, I don't remember 1f he was the one with the mask,

8 | and the one that was like behind him just had his face,

9 | 1ike half of his face, and one of them was like light
09:28 10 color and the other one was dark, darker.

11 Q. Were they white, were they Hispanic, were

12 | they black?

13 A. No, to me I think they were black.

14 Q. But you're saying that one was a lighter
09:28 15 | complexion than the other?

16 A, Yes. Uh-huh.

17 Q. That woman right there is taking everything

18 | down. We just can't talk at the same time.

19 A. Okay.
09:28 2.0 Q. Thank you.
21 Now let's go through these masks. You said

22 one of them just covered up part of the face?

23 A. Yes.,
24 Q. Can yvou describe that?
09:28 25 A. It was maybe like a bandanna.
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09:28 1 Q. Do you remember the color?
2 A. NoO.
3 Q. That's okay. The other individual,

4 describe what was on his face.
09:28 5 A. He had like a skull mask.
o Q. So there was a mask and on the mask there

7 | was a depiction of a skull?

3 A. Yeah.
9 0. And you remember at least one gun?
09:28 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. Can you describe it?
12 A. I don't know the gun. I just know it was a
15 | gun.
14 0. That's okay. Was 1t a handgun?
09:29 15 A. Yeah.
16 Q. Did you see a second gun or just one?
17 A. No, just one.
18 Q. What was being said by these two

19 | individuals?

09:29 20 A. He just, when he walked in he was just like
21 | to give us your cell phone and give me your money.
22 Q. When you say he, the person that said that,
23 could you remember 1if that was the one with the bandanna
24 | or the one with the skull mask?

09:29 25 A. He was, I think he was the one with the
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09:29 1 | skull mask.
2 Q. Whichever one of them saild 1t, what was the
3 | other one doing when the one person said give us your
4 cell phones and money?

09:29 5 A. He was just standing like, like in the

6 | back. Like he was just standing there. He wouldn't do

7 | nothing.
3 Q. What happened next?
9 A. And then he just like took my cell phone.

09:29 10 | And he went to the next girl, he went to the next girl,
11 | he got her stuff, he went to the other one, he got her
12 | stuff and he walked right back. And then he came back
13 | to the front and he just like put the gun to, I guess
14 | she was the owner. I mean I still picture that gun like
09:30 15 | on the side of me.
16 Q. Was the gun pointed at you?
17 A. I wasn't pointed at me but it was pointed
18 at her, in her chest, and he told her to open the cash

19 | register.

09:30 20 Q. Did you see her open it?
21 A. Uh-huh.
22 Q. Is that a vyes?
23 A, Yes.
24 Q. It's okay, ma'am. Do you need a break? Do

09:30 25 | you want to take a break?

2 AA 032



33

09:30 1 A, No, I'm okay.
2 Q. You said that a cell phone was taken. Was
3 | there anything else taken from you besides your cell
4 | phone?

09:30 5 A. My cell phone, my ATM card and two credit
6 | cards and $40.
7 0. So some cash, some credit cards. Did you

8 | have any of your IDs?

9 A. Yeah, it was my driver's license.
09:30 10 Q. And that was all taken from you?
11 A. Uh-huh.
12 Q. Is that a vyes?
13 A. Yes.
14 Q. You're doing great, ma'am.
09:30 15 And that was by the two people?
16 A. No, just the one that was doing evervything,

17 like the main one that had the gun, because the other
18 | one was Jjust standing there.
19 Q. Where was he standing?
09:31 20 A. Like as you walk in, there's like, where
21 | she has like her nail polishes there and then her
22 | register is like in back of it. And then there's like a
23 | chair there. So he was just standing like by the, like
24 | by the counter.

09:31 25 Q. Is that a counter or —-- 1s that near the
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09:31 1 door?
2 A. Yeah, that counter's nearby the door.
3 0. So that second individual who was not

4 | actually taking stuff, was he standing by the door?
09:31 5 A. Yeah, he was just standing like not by the
6 | door, like you could say like a piece like this by the

7 counter.

3 Q. By the counter?

9 A. Uh-huh. Like he was just like watching us
09:31 10 | to see what our movements was.

11 0. So he was watching over as it was all

12 | happening?

13 A. Uh-huh.
14 Q. Is that yes?
09:31 15 A. Yes. I'm sorry.
16 Q. It's okay. What happened next?
17 A. And then when he pointed the gun at her and

18 | he took the money, he walked again, and then he took the

19 | lady's phone that was, because like she still had it
09:32 20 | there and I guess he missed it the first time, so he

21 snatched it and he went all the way to the end and he

22 | told the man that was there doing the nails to go down

23 | to the floor and like he pushed him down. And then

24 | that's when he told the girl that was there, I got you

09:32 25 | baby girl, like not you. She had her purse.
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09:32 1 Q. One of the customers?
2 A. Yeah, one of the customers. She had her
3 | purse with her when she came out of the nail salon and

4 she had her phone.

09:32 5 Q. Did you know her?
6 A, No.
7 Q. You don't know her name?
3 A. No.
9 Q. So nothing was taken from her?
09:32 10 A. That I recall and I remember, no.
11 Q. Okay. And what happened after that?
12 A. Then he walked back and he was saying for

13 | nobody to move, like just nobody moved and they just ran
14 out.

09:32 15 Q. Now the individual that you'wve described
16 | that was going around taking stuff, was that the person

17 with the skull mask?

18 A. Uh-huh.
19 Q. Is that a vyes?
09:33 20 A. Yes, I think I do think that it was him.
21 0. Did you see them leave?
272 A. Yeah. When they just left, that's when

23 | everybody just got up. I mean I didn't see them leave
24 | but I know that they were saying that there was somebody

09:33 25 | outside waiting for them.
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Q. But you didn't see that?
A. No, I didn't see that.
Q. We ask the Grand Jury to strike that

information, to not consider that.

But did you see them actually go out the

store?
A. Yes.
Q. Did they go together?
A. Yeah, they ran both together. They went to

the, your left, I'm sorry.

Q. Do yvou know who the person was that they
got the cell phone the second time through?

A. The young lady that was next to me. I mean
she's outside.

Q. Okay.

A. Cause I remember like who was sitting in
the chairs and everything.

MR. PESCI: All right. No more guestions.

Any questions from the Grand Jury?
BY A JUROR:

Q. Miss Espinoza, how many employees were in

the store at the time?

A. It was the one that was doing mine and then
the next one ——- one, two, three four —— I believe 1t was
four or five. With the owner.
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09:34 1 Q. Thank vyou.
2 THE FOREPERSON: No more gquestions.
3 By law, these proceedings are secret and

4 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
09:34 5 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and

6 statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event

7 occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand

8 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

9 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
09:34 10 | gross misdemeancr punishable by a year in the Clark

11 County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,

12 | vou may be held in contempt of court punishable by an

13 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

14 Detention Center.

09:34 15 Do you understand this admonition?
16 THE WITNESS: Yes.
17 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou, ma'am. You're

18 | excused.
19 THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.
09:35 20 MS. KILLER: The State's next witness will
21 | be Angelica Miranda.
272 THE FOREPERSON: Please railse your right
23 hand, ma'am.
24 You do solemnly swear the testimony vou are

09:36 25 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
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09:36 1 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

2 | nothing but the truth, so help you God?

3 THE WITNESS: I do.

4 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be
09:36 5 | seated.

6 You are advised that vou are here today to

7 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
8 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
9 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
09:36 10 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
11 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

12 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

13 Do you understand this advisement?
14 THE WITNESS: Yes.
09:36 15 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

16 | and last name and spell both for the record.

17 THE WITNESS: Angelica, A-N-G-E-L-I-C-A,
18 Miranda, M-I-R-A-N-D-A.

19 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.

09:36 20 ANGELICA MIRANDA,

21 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
22 Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
23 and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

24

09:36 25 EXAMINATION
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09:36 1

2 | BY MS. KILLER:

3 Q. Good morning, Miss Miranda.
4 A. Good morning.
09:36 5 Q. On June Z6th of 2015, were you at the LV

6 | Nail Spa at 4430 East Charleston here in Las Vegas,
7 Clark County, Nevada?
8 A. Yes, I was.
9 Q. And did something occur around 6:45 p.m.
09:37 10 | which causes you to be here today?
11 A, Yes.
12 Q. What happened that you weren't expecting to
153 | happen?
14 A. T was sitting down getting a pedicure and
09:37 15 | two gentlemen walked in and started to rob the place at
16 | gunpoint.
17 Q. Those gentlemen who walked in, could you
18 tell if they were black, white, Hispanic or Asian?
19 A. They were black.
09:37 20 Q. And if you remember, can you describe for
21 us their build? Were they tall, short, fat, thin?
272 A. The first one —— well, they kind of both
23 came 1in simultaneous, but one stayed towards the front
24 of the store, one stayed towards the back of the store.

09:37 25 The one that came to the back of the store, he was
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09:37 1 | taller, little slimmer. He was wearing big clothing and
2 | he had multiple layers of clothing so it's kind of hard
3 to tell the exact build, but he was taller. The other
4 | one, he was a little shorter, a little lighter skin.
09:38 5 | The octher one was a little darker skin. They were both
6 | wearing jeans and like two layers of clothing. They
7 | both have a double layer of clothing. I can't give, 1if
3 I had to guess, one was probably arcund 6-foot, maybe
9 the other one is around 5'10", 5'11", somewhere around
09:38 10 | there 1if I had to guess.
11 Q. Did they have anything over their faces?
12 A. One of them that came to the far end, he
13 | had a full ski mask with a skull print on it. The one
14 | that stayed in the front, he had a blue or black
09:38 15 | bandanna across the lower part, from his nose down. One
16 | of them had a baseball cap on and I can't really
17 | remember if it was the one that was in the far end or
18 | the front end, but one of them did have a baseball cap
19 as well. The one that had the full mask, he had little
09:39 20 | twisties or curls in his hair. The one that was in the
21 | very front of the store, he had like I guess
22 | unmanageable hair and it was in a ponytail. It was not
23 | as neat as the other guy's hair.
24 Q. Did vou see, you had said robbed at

09:39 25 | gunpoint. Did you see one or both of the gentlemen who
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09:39 1 | came in with a gun?
2 A. They both had guns. The gentleman that was
3 | at the, that came and walked all the way to the far end,
4 | he had a revolver. The gentleman that stayed up front
09:39 5 | and actually was more the aggressor, he had, i1t was an
0 automatic, semi-automatic. Maybe a nine millimeter.
7 Probably it was, 1t was —-—
3 Q. Was 1t a handgun though?
9 A. Yeah. Yeah, it was definitely a handgun.
09:40 10 | I was just trying to think. To me it looked like an
11 older style. It wasn't like a new one, you know. I'm a
12 | 1little bit familiar with guns so.
13 Q. If you happen to remember, do you recall
14 | what color either of the guns were?
09:40 15 A. The revolver was like a gun metal, like a
16 | silver, but not a shiny silver but kind of like a gray,
17 | almost like this color kind of. And brown. I think it

18 had a brown handle.

19 The other one that was in the front with
09:40 20 | the semi-automatic to me looked like a 9-millimeter,
21 | probably a five inch, six inch barrel. That one was

22 | black, all black.
23 Q. Correct me if I am remembering what vou

24 just said wrong.

09:40 25 A. Sure.
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09:40 1 Q. So the person that stayed in the front of

2 | the store had the black semi-automatic gun?

3 A. Correct.
4 Q. And the person that came and walked back
09:40 5 | near you had the brown revolver or the gray or silver

6 | revolver with the brown grip?

7 A. Correct.
8 Q. Did they demand any items?
9 A. Yes. When they first walked in, the one in

09:41 10 | the front, he said this is what's going to happen, he's
11 | 1like everybody 1is going to give us all your money, all
12 | vour purses, everything. Evervbody stayed still. And
15 | then the gentleman that had walked to the back, he was
14 | pointing the gun and then the one in the front ended up
09:41 15 | grabbing the owner and pulled her and made her go,
16 | because she wasn't in the front where the register was,
17 | and he took her over there and then he was asking her
18 | for the money and she wasn't giving it, she didn't want
19 to, didn't want to, and then he told her, you know like
09:41 20 | he threw her, he pretty much like threw her over there
21 | and told her to open it and for her not to make him
22 shoot her over no dumb shit. And then, so then she
23 | opened the register and then she, you know, gave him the
24 | money. And then the other gentleman pulled out a bag

09:42 25 | from his pocket. He pulled out like one of those
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reusable grocery bags, it was a blue, 1t was like a blue
Walmart bag, he pulled it out of his pocket and then
started going by everybody and grabbing everybody's
purses and wallets and everything and putting them in
the bag.

Q. The one that was walking around grabbing
items, putting them in the blue bag, which face covering

did he have?

A, The full face.

Q. The one —--

A, The one with the revolver.

Q. Sorry, we Jjust can't talk at the same time.

It was which one?

A. The one with the revolver, the taller one.
Q. And the mask he had on —--

A, The full mask.

0. With the skull on it?

A. Yes, the skull mask.

Q. And then the one that grabbed the owner was

the one with the, vyou said the half —-

A. The bandanna, the half face bandanna.

Q. What items did they take from you
personally?

A. My phone, my phone charger, my purse. It
was a wallet, 1t wasn't actually a purse. It was a
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09:42 1 | wallet and it had everything in there. My IDs, driver's
2 | license, military ID, credit cards. It had, I had my
3 | paycheck, I had just cashed my paycheck so they took all
4 | my money. They took everything.
09:43 5 Q. You said you had just cashed vyour paycheck.
0 So was there actual US currency or cash in your wallet?
7 A. Cash, uh-huh.
3 Q. After the man with the skull mask came
9 | around and collected the items from the customers
09:43 10 | including yourself, what happened next?
11 A. After that the other one in the front with
12 | the semi—-automatic, he asked the owner to get on her
13 | knees, he told her to get on her knees and to get down.
14 Then he walked all the way to the end where T was and
09:43 15 | where the other gunman was and there was another
16 | employee that was in front of me that was doing a lady's
17 | nails, he told him to get on the ground. He wouldn't do
18 it and he was afraid and he was like no, no, no, and
19 | then he's like, you know, get on the ground, and he
09:44 20 | wouldn't do it and he wouldn't do it. The worker kind
21 | of like got in a semi-fetal position and then he still
22 | wouldn't get on the ground so the gentleman shoved him
23 | and he went on the floor. And while he was on the floor
24 | he just stayed like in a fetal position. Then after

09:44 25 | that they got up and they went out.
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09:44 1 Q. Did you see where they went after they went

2 | out the front door?

3 A. No, because, I just saw them run, I saw

4 | them run out the door and then they took a left out the
09:44 5 | door, but then after that I couldn't because everybody

6 | else that was in there kind of ran up to the, and she

7 | had the shade down too much to where we couldn't see.

8 | That's why we couldn't see them come in.

9 Q. I wanted to clarify one thing with you so I
09:44 10 | make sure I'm getting it right. You said when they

11 | walked in, it was the person who stayed in the front

12 | with the bandanna who gave the initial commands about

13 | what was going to happen?

14 A. Right. Correct. He seemed to be the one
09:45 15 | in command the whole time. The other one was just

16 | pretty much there doing what the other said. But he

17 | did, is the one that demanded, when he was coming he was

18 | like grabbing everybody's belongings and stuff.

19 MS. KILLER: At this time the State has no
09:45 20 | further questions. Do the ladies and gentlemen of the

21 | Grand Jury have any?

22 THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

23 | BY A JUROR:

24 Q. How did he know which one was the owner?

09:45 25 Did he ask who was the owner there?
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09:45 1 A, No, ma'am, he just —-
2 Q. So he knew who i1t was?
3 A. Correct. He knew —-—- they had to have known

4 | because he just walked in and went straight to her. And
09:45 5 | normally —— I mean I've been going here for eight years
6 I've been going to this nail shop. So she normally sits
7 | in the wvery front, but at this time she wasn't there
8 | because she was doing a pedicure and she had just
9 | stopped doing a pedicure so that she can go do eyebrows
09:46 10 | and the girl that was sitting in that chair was in the
11 one almost next to the register. But he couldn't have
12 | known because there was like three other workers and he
13 just went to her and specifically picked her up and took
14 her over there. Didn't ask who's the owner, didn't ask
09:46 15 | any of that questions. He specifically went to her.
IS Q. Thank vyou.
17 A JUROR: She asked the question I was
18 | going to ask. Thank vyou.
19 BY A JUROR:
09:46 20 Q. Did either of these gunmen appear to be
21 familiar with anyone else, talk to anybody by name or ——
22 A. They didn't seem to be familiar. The only
23 | thing I can tell you 1is there was a young lady getting
24 | her nails done that was sitting right directly across

09:46 25 | from me, she had her belongings, and none of her
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belongings got taken from her. There was nothing taken
from her and he only talked to her like when he was
telling the gentleman that was doing her nails to get on
the floor, get on the floor, he told her, not you baby
girl, vyou're okay. But that's the only person he seemed
to have talked to. And she's the only one that nothing
got taken from.

BY MS. KILLER:

Q. Could vyou describe that lady you were just
speaking of?

A, She is, she is a lighter skin black female,
she has curly hair. It was, she kind of looks mixed
actually. She could pass like 1f she was mixed, maybe
African American and white kind of mix. Her hair was a
lighter brown, curly. She had it up in a ponytail at
the time I believe. She's probably 5'4", 5'5",
somewhere around there. She's thin. That's all I can
remember.

MS. KILLER: Thank vyou.
One more question over here.

BY A JUROR:

Q. Did yvou get your ID back?
A, I didn't get anything back, no, ma'am. I
had to get them but I didn't —-- they kept everything.

Yes, sir.
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09:47 1 | BY A JUROR:
2 Q. What do you do for a living?
3 A. Service adviser for an auto part, for a

4 | dealership.
09:48 5 Q. How much money did they take from you?

0 A. That check, it was 14, 1t was either 1435

7 | or 1485 that they took. My check was more but I had

8 | stopped and paid my phone bill because Sprint was across

9 | the street. So I had stopped and paid my phone bill so
09:48 10 I did make a couple payments before I got there, because

11 | my appointment was at 5:30 wasn't ready, so I ended up

12 coming back. So out of my 1600, they took about 1435,

13 | 1485.

14 0. And how do you know so much about guns?
09:48 15 A. I have four actually now. So I do.

IS Q. Good for vyou.

17 A. I grew up in Texas. I grew up around guns.

18 0. Thank vyou.

19 A. You're welcome.
09:48 20 A JUROR: Angelica, I just wanted to tell

21 | you that yvou make a very good witness and you're very

22 | attentive. That's very admirable.

23 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

24 A JUROR: Great memory.
09:48 25 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
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09:48 1 A JUROR: Thank vyou.
2 THE FOREPERSON: No further questions.
3 By law, these proceedings are secret and

4 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
09:48 5 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and

6 statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event

7 occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand

8 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

9 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
09:48 10 | gross misdemeancr punishable by a year in the Clark

11 County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,

12 | vou may be held in contempt of court punishable by an

13 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

14 Detention Center.

09:48 15 Do you understand this admonition?
16 THE WITNESS: Yes.
17 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou, ma'am. You're

18 excused.

19 MR. PESCI: State calls Briauna Williams.
09:49 2.0 Does anybody need a break?
21 THE FOREPERSON: Yes, let's take a break.

22 Let's take a ten.

273 (Recess.)
24 MR. PESCT: State calls Rafael Ramirez.
10:04 25 THE FOREPERSON: If you would, sir, please
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10:04 1 | raise your right hand.
2 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
3 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before

4 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

10:04 5 | nothing but the truth, so help you God?

6 THE WITNESS: I do sir.

7 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be

3 | seated.

9 You are advised that you are here today to
10:04 10 | give testimony 1n the investigation pertaining to the

11 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
12 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to

13 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
14 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involwving

10:04 15 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

16 Do you understand this advisement?
17 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
18 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

19 and last name and spell both for the record.
10:04 20 THE WITNESS: Rafael, R-A-F-A-E-L, Ramiregz,

21 R-A-M-1-R-E-4.

22 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, sir.
23 /17
24 /17

10:04 25 /17
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10:04 1 RAFAREL RAMIREZ,

2 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the

3 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

4 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:
10:04 5

6 EXAMINATION

3 BY MR. PESCI:
9 Q. Sir, I want to direct your attention to
10:05 10 | July 9, 2015 at about 8:30 in the morning. Were you at

11 | the Family Dollar located at 4365 East Lake Mead?

12 A. No, I wasn't at the store.
13 Q. Were you in that area?
14 A. Yes.
10:05 15 Q. I apologize.
16 A, Yeah.
17 Q. What were vou doing in the area®?
18 A, I live right behind the store. I used to
19 live, I'm sorry. I moved yesterday. So I used to live

10:05 20 | there. I'm sorry.

21 0. But you have not come here and testified

22 | before. This 1is vyour first time.

23 A. Yes, sir, it's my first time.

24 Q. So this Grand Jury has heard evidence about
10:05 25 | that incident, but you were not one of the witnesses
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10:05 1 | that came at that time?

2 A. No, sir.

3 Q. What did you see happen on that day?

4 A. I was going out in my truck with my son and
10:05 5 | my wife. So I saw a black gentleman run from like the

6 | other side of the housing where I live with people

7 | following him. It was a tall black male with black

8 | sweatshirt I believe or black pants. I don't remember
9 about the pants. I stopped because I saw, you could see
10:06 10 | right away, someone's running and someone's behind him.

11 So I stopped right before the entrance of the housing or

12 | the community.

13 Q. Okay.

14 A. Car came 1in, didn't pay attention to the
10:06 15 | car. But when he came back, because I parked right

16 | before the entrance. The car parked almost right in

17 front, beside me.

18 0. Describe the car.

19 A. It was like a brown or gold color Ford
10:06 20 | Taurus, four door. There was a white heavyset lady on

21 | the wheel. I do remember a car seat in the back because

22 | the car seat was right beside me.
23 0. Did you see her hair color?
24 A. I'm sorry. Like yours. I don't know how

10:07 25 to describe that.
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10:07 1 Q. Blondish?
2 A. Between blond and dark.
3 Q. Why was your attention drawn to that?
4 A. Because she was honking the horn to the guy
10:07 5 | while he was running this way.
0 Q. And what happened when she honked the horn?
7 A. She honked the horn, she was trying to wave
8 | at the guy running. There's a little, where you go in

9 | there's a little park where, you know, take the dogs to
10:07 10 | the park, just a little recreation area. So the guy

11 kind of stopped, locked at her, and then she was waving,

12 | but like I said there was people behind him already, you

13 | know, running behind him. So I saw him taking his

14 | sweatshirt off, throwing it to the ground, and he kept
10:07 15 | running. So when he did that the lady, you can see

16 | right away she was trying to get his attention, so she

17 | left. So, vou know, I took the license plates and I

18 | went out and, vyou know, told the officers outside. I

19 | actually told the officers that the guy jumped the wall,

10:08 2.0 I described the gentleman and I told them about the car.

21 MR. PESCI: Any questions from the Grand
22 Jury?

23 THE FOREPERSON: No questions.

24 By law, these proceedings are secret and

10:08 25 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
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10:08 1 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and
2 statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
3 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
4 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

10:08 5 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
6 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a vear in the Clark
7 County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. 1In addition,
8 | you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
9 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

10:08 10 Detention Center.

11 Do you understand this admonition?
12 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
13 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, sir. You are

14 | excused.

10:08 15 THE WITNESS: Thank you. Have a good day.
16 MS. KILLER: The State's next witness 1is
17 | Briauna Williams, spelled B-R-I-A-U-N-A.
18 THE FOREPERSON: If you would, ma'am,
19 | please raise your right hand.

10:09 2.0 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
21 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
22 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
23 | nothing but the truth, so help you God?
24 THE WITNESS: Yes.

10:09 25 THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.
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10:09 1 You are advised that vou are here today to
2 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
3 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
4 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
10:09 5 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
6 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

7 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

3 Do you understand this advisement?
9 THE WITNESS: I didn't hear the last part.
10:10 10 THE FOREPERSON: The first part is you are

11 | advised that you are here today to give testimony in the

12 | investigation pertaining to the offenses.

13 THE WITNESS: Yes.

14 THE FOREPERSON: Spell your first, state
10:10 15 | your first and last name and spell both for the record.

16 THE WITNESS: Briauna Williams.

17 B-R-I-A-U-N-A, W-I-L-L-I-A-M-S.

18 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

19 BRIAUNA WILLIAMS,

10:10 20 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
21 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
22 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

23 EXAMINATION

24 | BY MR. PESCI:

10:10 25 Q. Ma'am, I want to direct your attention to
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10:10 1 | June 26th of 2015. On that day were you getting your

2 | nails done at the Las Vegas Nail Spa on East Charleston?

3 A. No, I was getting my eyebrows done.

4 Q. Okay. I keep messing that up. I asked
10:10 5 | somecne that too and they were getting their feet done.

0 SO you were at that spa?

7 A. Yes.

3 Q. And vyou were getting your eyebrows done?

9 A. Yes.
10:10 10 Q. And it was at about 6:45 at night?

11 A. I don't know exactly what 1t was.

12 Q. Was 1t in the evening?

13 A. Yeah, it was close to closing so around

14 | that time.
10:11 15 Q. What happens that brings vyou here?
16 A. T was laying down getting my eyebrows waxed
17 | and two guys came in, one had on a mask and the other
18 one, he had on a black bandanna around his face, and
19 | they robbed the place. They both had guns.
10:11 20 Q. Can you describe them?
21 A, The one that was at the far end, I can't
22 | describe him because he had on a white mask.
23 Q. Can you describe the mask?
24 A. It was a white mask. It wasn't like a —— I

10:11 25 think kind of like a Scream mask.
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Q. Scream?

A. Yeah, like a Scream mask.

0. So kind of like a white ghost almost?

A. Yeah. And it was like kind of long at the

bottom. And the other guy, he had a black bandanna,

nappy hair pulled to the back like in a ponytail.

Q. Were they tall? What was their —-

A. I think he was probably about like 5'9".

Q. And were these males, females?

A. They were males.

0. Were they white, black, Hispanic?

A. Black.

Q. And then you said how many guns did you
see’?

A. Two. One of them was a black gun and the

other one, 1t was like, I think it was black and it had

like a brown handle. I know it had a brown handle but I

can't remember 1f it was black or like silver.

0. And were these handguns?
A. Yes.
Q. Do you know the difference between a

semi—automatic handgun and a revolver?
A. Is a semi the one that got like the six?
Q. I can't really give you that. It's just

you know.

if
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10:12 1 A. Okay. The one gun that had the brown
2 | handle, I know that one is the one that had like the
3 little barrel with the, you know, that has, it usually
4 | has about six bullets.
10:12 5 Q. Kind of like an old cowboy gun, the
0 cylinder?
] A. Yeah, that one had that and a brown handle.

3 | And the other one was a regular black gun.

9 Q. What did these two people do?
10:13 10 A. They robbed the place. The one —-
11 Q. Did they demand anything? Did they say

12 | anything?
13 A. Yeah. They demanded for us to give them
14 | our stuff. The one that had the black bandanna on his
10:13 15 | face, he was standing right next to me, he told the lady
16 | to open up the drawer and, you know, give him the money
17 | and everything and he's like don't make me kill you over
18 | no stupid shit. Wait. Don't make me shoot you over no
19 stupid shit, that's what he said. And then she opened
10:13 20 | the drawer and she walked back like towards where I was
21 | but on the left side and he told her to get on the floor
22 and he grabbed my wallet. And the other guy was on the
23 | other end and he grabbed everyone's stuff. And then the
24 one that had the black bandanna, he walked back to the

10:14 25 end and he asked the, I'm not sure i1f he was the owner
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10:14 1 | but the short Asian guy, he asked him for the money or

2 | whatever and he didn't have no money to give him.

3 Q. Okay. You said that your wallet was taken?
4 A, Yeah.
10:14 5 Q. Did you have money in your wallet?
6 A, Yes.
7 Q. Did you have credit cards and ID in your

8 wallet?

9 A. Yes.
10:14 10 Q. Those were all taken from you?
11 A, Yeah.
12 Q. Was the gun pointed at you when it was
15 | taken?
14 A. No, the gun wasn't pointed at me.
10:14 15 Q. But did he have or one of them have a gun

16 | while it was taken from you?

17 A. Yes.
18 Q. Did you see them do anything else?
19 A. No. I just know that the one that had the

10:14 20 | black bandanna around his face, he did, he pointed the

21 | gun at the owner, the Chinese lady.

22 Q. Where the drawer was?
23 A. Yes.
24 Q. And did you see that money taken from the

10:15 25 drawer?
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A,
leave?

A,
from?

A,
that was getting her nails done on the end where the
short Asian guy was. She didn't get anything taken.
She went to try to hand her stuff and he was like no
baby girl,
then they left.

Q.

A.

vou all right, or something like that. And

Yes.

And then at some point did they eventually

Yes.

Was there one person that nothing was taken

Yes. It was a black lady, she was the one

Did you see them leave?

Yes.

Did they leave together?

Yes.

Did yvou see which way they went?
They went left towards the beauty salon.
Could you see outside?

Yes.

What did you see out there?

I saw them get in a white car.

A white car?

Yes.

Do you remember anything else about the
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10:16 1 | car?
2 A. It was, 1t looked like those old police
3 | cars.
4 Q. Could you see someone in the car?
10:16 5 A. No, I just saw the two guys get in the back
6 | seat.
7 Q. And after that did the police come out?
3 A. Yes.
9 Q. Did you tell them what happened?
10:16 10 A. Uh-huh.
11 Q. Did you see where in the car they got? Did

12 | they get in the front seat or the back seat?
13 A. They both got in the back seat.
14 MR. PESCI: Thank you. No further
10:16 15 | questions from the State.
16 | BY A JUROR:
17 Q. Briauna, when vyou say the far end of the
18 | store, is that the front part of the store or the rear

19 | part of the store?

10:16 2.0 A. The rear part.
21 Q. Okay.
22 THE FOREPERSON: ©No further questions.
23 By law, these proceedings are secret and

24 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything

10:16 25 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and

2 AA 061



62

10:16 1 | statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
2 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
3 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.
4 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
10:16 5 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
6 | County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
7 | yvou may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
8 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

9 Detention Center.

10:16 10 Do you understand this admonition?
11 THE WITNESS: Yes.
12 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou, ma'am. You're

153 | excused.

14 MR. PESCI: The next witness is Iracema
10:17 15 | Montes-Cervantes.

16 THE FOREPERSON: If you could, ma'am,

17 | please raise your right hand.

18 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are

19 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
10:17 20 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

21 | nothing but the truth, so help yvou God?

22 THE WITNESS: Yes.
23 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be
24 | seated.
10:18 25 You are advised that you are here today to
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10:18 1 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
2 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
3 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
4 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
10:18 5 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

6 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

7 Do you understand this advisement?
3 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry?
9 THE FOREPERSON: Do you understand this

10:18 10 | advisement?

11 THE WITNESS: Yes.

12 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

153 | and last name and spell both for the record.

14 THE WITNESS: My first name 1is Iracema,
10:18 15 I-R-A-C-E-M-A, last name Montes-Cervantes. M-O-N-T-E-S,

16 | hyphen, C-E-R-V-A-N-T-E-S.

17 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, ma'am.

18 ITRACEMA MONTES-CERVANTES,

19 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
10:18 20 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
21 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

272 EXAMINATION

23
24 | BY MS. KILLER:

10:18 25 Q. Miss Montes-Cervantes, directing your
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10:18 1 | attention to June 26th of 2015. Were you at the LV Nail
2 | Spa on 4430 East Charleston here in Las Vegas, Clark

3 | County, Nevada?

4 A, Yes.

10:19 5 Q. And was that around 6:45 in the evening?
6 A. Yeah, right when they're about to close.
7 Q. Do you know what time they close?
3 A. I just know that it was before 7 o'clock

9 | because I think they close at 7:00 so it was around
10:19 10 | 6:00.
11 0. So sometime shortly before 7:00 did

12 | something occur which causes you to be here today?

13 A. Yes.
14 Q. What happened?
10:19 15 A. Well, I went with my sister to the salon to

16 | get a pedicure and as we were just minding our own

17 | business, just sitting down, two men walked in with

18 | guns. They rushed in, started pointing guns at us. One

19 | was kind of like right in front of us and the other one
10:19 20 | was telling the owner to give up the stuff.

21 Q. Let me stop you there. The one that was

22 | right in front of vyou, can vou describe him for us?

23 A. They were black males. And he was covered

24 | up, his face was covered up. I just know that there was

10:20 25 one taller than the other one. And the one that was 1n
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10:20 1 | front of us was a bit taller than the other.

2 Q. And can you describe what was covering his

3 | face?

4 A. T think it was like a bandanna or something
10:20 5 | because you could see his eyes but just not the lower

6 | half of his face.

7 0. And the other one, did he have his face

8 | covered as well?

9 A. The other one, he probably had something
10:20 10 covered but I tried not to look at him, but his

11 bandanna, whatever he got on his face, actually went

12 | down and he was lighter than the other guy.

13 Q. And I think you had said —-- did you see one

14 | gun or two?
10:20 15 A. I saw the one that was in front of me, he

16 | had a gun, and I think the other one had a gun too,

17 | cause he was yelling at the owner, asking for the money.

18 | He took the money from her and then he walked towards

19 | the other, the other guys that, there was an older man
10:21 20 and I think one or two other ladies, I think just one,

21 | and he asked both of them to get on the floor. And I

22 | don't know i1f maybe because they don't speak English too

23 | well, I think he was kind of trying to get a little

24 | aggressive, but that's all I can really remember.

10:21 25 Q. Did they take any items from you?
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10:21 1 A, Yes, he took my purse, my wallet that was
2 | in there and my cell phone.
3 Q. Was there any ID cards or credit cards in
4 | your wallet?

10:21 5 A. Yeah. Well, I had my two debit cards and
6 | my insurance cards and my driver's license and all my,
7 | all my stuff in there.
8 Q. Did you have any cash or checks in your
9 | wallet?

10:22 10 A. I probably had like $13 in cash.
11 | Everything else was on my debit card.
12 Q. Do you remember if when the men came in
13 | they made any statements like demanding any certain
14 | items?

10:22 15 A. Well, when they walked in they just started
16 | pointing guns at us, asked the owner to give them the
17 | money, and the guy in front of us with the gun, pointing
18 | the gun at us, took all our belongings, everybody in
19 | there.

10:22 2.0 Q. After they took your belongings, you had
21 | said the man who had been towards the front came back
22 | near the other one?
23 A. Yeah. One was, one was right in front of
24 | us, the other one was closer to the door. He actually

10:23 25 | moved closer and told one of the older guys that works
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10:23 1 | there to get on the floor and was telling the owner also

2 | to get on the floor.

3 Q. After that, what happened or where did they
4 go’
10:23 5 A. They just took our stuff and they left,

6 | they ran out.

7 Q. Did yvou see where they went when they ran
g | out?
9 A. No.
10:23 10 MS. KILLER: At this time the State has no
11 | further guestions. Do the ladies and gentlemen of the

12 | Grand Jury have any?

13 Seelng none.
14 THE FOREPERSON: By law, these proceedings
10:23 15 | are secret and you are prohibited from disclosing to

16 | anyone anything that has transpired before us, including

17 | evidence and statements presented to the Grand Jury, any

18 | event occurring or statement made in the presence of the

19 | Grand Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.
10:23 20 Failure to comply with this admonition is a

21 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark

22 County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. 1In addition,

23 | you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an

24 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

10:23 25 Detention Center.
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10:23 1 Do you understand this admonition?
2 THE WITNESS: Yes.
3 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, ma'am. You're

4 | excused.
10:24 5 MS. KILLER: The State's next witness 1is

6 | Irais Montes-Cervantes.

7 THE FOREPERSON: If you would, ma'am,

8 | please raise your right hand.

9 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
10:24 10 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before

11 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

12 | nothing but the truth, so help vou God?

13 THE WITNESS: Yes.

14 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be
10:25 15 | seated.

16 You are advised that yvou are here today to

17 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the

18 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,

19 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
10:25 20 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly

21 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

22 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

23 Do you understand this advisement?
24 THE WITNESS: Yes.
10:25 25 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
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10:25 1 | and last name and spell both for the record.
2 THE WITNESS: Irais Montes. I-R-A-I-S,
3 M-O-N-T-E-S.
4 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.

10:25 5 IRATS MONTES,

6 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
7 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

8 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

10:25 10 EXAMINATION

11
12 BY MS. KILLER:
13 Q. Good morning, Miss Montes. On June 26th of
14 | 2015 were you at the LV Nail Spa on 4430 East Charleston
10:25 15 | here in Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada®?
16 A, Yes.
17 Q. And did something occur around 6:45 p.m.
18 | that evening that causes you to be here today?
19 A. We got robbed.
10:26 20 Q. What were you having done at the salon when
21 | that occurred?
272 A. I was getting my pedicure.
23 Q. And while yvou were getting your pedicure,
24 | can you tell us what you noticed first?

10:26 25 A. I noticed two black men coming to the store
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10:26 1 covered, their face covered, and they came towards us,
2 | told us not to move.
3 Q. When you say their faces were covered, can
4 | vou describe for us what was over their faces?
10:26 5 A. Beanies. Not beanies, I don't know what
6 | they're called. Bandannas. I'm not really sure, they
7 | were just covered.
8 Q. Something was covering. Okay. If vyou
9 | remember, do you remember what colors were those, if
10:26 10 | they were the same or different?
11 A, I don't remember very well. I just went
12 | into shock to be honest with you. They came in with
13 | guns, I noticed it right away, I froze.
14 0. That's all right. You said you noticed

10:27 15 | guns. How many?

16 A. T believe they both had a gun each.
17 Q. So two total, one with each person?
18 A, Yes.

19 Q. And when they came in, did they say

10:27 20 | anything to you or the other customers?
21 A, They told us not to move, not to say
22 | anything. They told the owner to go behind the register
23 | and give them the money.
24 Q. Did they ask for any property from you or

10:27 25 the other customers?
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10:27 1 A. First they got the money from the owner and
2 | then they walked down the aisle and they took our

3 | belongings.

4 Q. Were both individuals taking items from
10:27 5 | different people in the store?
0 A. I wasn't really tryving to see them. I was

7 | scared. But I know one of them did walk down the aisle

8 | individually and tock our belongings.

9 Q. Do you know if it was the same one that was
10:28 10 | getting the money from the owner or a different?

11 A. I believe so. He was the one doing most

12 | all the work that I noticed. I heard his voice like

13 | around the, across the whole roocm. I can't really say

14 per se if he was but I think he really was, he was the
10:28 15 | one.

16 Q. He sounded to you like one giving most of

17 | the instructions?

18 A. (No audible response.)

19 Q. Did they come into the store together, at

10:28 20 the same time?

21 A, Yes.

272 Q. Did they leave at the same time?

23 A, Yes.

24 Q. Did yvou see them talking to each other or

10:28 25 | signaling to each other during the robbery?
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A. I wasn't loocking straight at them so I
wouldn't be able to say yes or no.

Q. What items, if any, did they take from you?

A. Well, they took my purse, they took my car
keys, my wallet, my phone.

Q. Did you have any identification in your
wallet?

A. Yes, I had my ID, I believe I had my son's

social, social card. I have all my kids insurance.

Q. Did you have any cash in your wallet?

A. I had $110 cash.

Q. Do you remember anything about how the guns
looked?

A. I know one of them was like really old,

gray with brown handle, and that's the one that the guy
dropped. I saw when he picked it up, he dropped it as
he was receiving the money. And the other gentleman I
don't remember anything from him.

Q. Did you notice anything else during the
robbery that you can remember now?

A. It was scary. I was really trying not to

look at them. I just ——

Q. Did you see 1f they, vou said they ran out
of the store. Did you see which direction they went?
A. I just saw them going like towards south.
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10:30 1 | After that I didn't see if they got, what car they got
2 | into, what side of the street they went to, i1f they went
3 | west or —-
4 Q. So you just saw them run out on foot and
10:30 5 | then go towards -- would 1t have been, 1f you remember,
6 | the left or the right of the front door?
7 A. From the front door they left left. They
8 | went somewhere to the side of the corner of the little
9 shopping center and from there I didn't see where they
10:30 10 | went.
11 MS. KILLER: At this time the State has no
12 | further guestions for Miss Montes. Do the ladies and
153 | gentlemen of the Grand Jury have any?
14 | BY A JUROR:
10:30 15 Q. Miss Montes-Cervantes, did you happen to
IS see their faces at all, could you estimate their age?
17 A. I know they were probably in their
18 | twenties. They looked really skinny, like if they were
19 | on drugs. One of them had like a fro. They were
10:31 20 | covered. After that I really tried not to look at them,
21 I didn't want them to be like oh, vou saw me, I have to
22 shoot you now. I really didn't try to see them very
23 | well. They just locked tall, skinny and they were both
24 | black males.

10:31 25 Q. Did the bag that they had —- excuse me.
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10:31 1 MS. KILLER: I just have to instruct the
2 ladies and gentlemen of the Grand Jury to disregard and
3 | to strike the comment that they may have been on drugs.
4 | That's speculation and is not relevant in the

10:31 5 | consideration of these offenses.
o Go ahead, ma'am. I'm sorry.
7 BY A JUROR:
8 Q. How big was this bag that they had 1if they
9 | took your full purses?

10:31 10 A. Well, it looked like one of those grocery

11 | bags, the one you can reuse again.

12 Q. The little brown paper bags?
13 A. No.
14 Q. I mean plastic bags.
10:31 15 A. No. If you go to Walmart or 99 Cent Store,

16 | the ones you go buy and use again. They're like

17 clothing material. I'm not sure. They're really big,

18 | you can put a lot of stuff in there. And that's the one

19 | he reached out of his pocket and he definitely told the
10:32 20 | owner put the money in here. After that I didn't see

21 | anything anymore.

22 Q. Thank vyou.
23 MS. KILLER: Any other questions?
24 Seeing none.
10:32 25 THE FOREPERSON: By law, these proceedings
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are secret and you are prohibited from disclosing to
anyone anything that has transpired before us, including
evidence and statements presented to the Grand Jury, any
event occurring or statement made in the presence of the
Grand Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a yvear in the Clark
County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, ma'am. You're
excused.

THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.

MS. KILLER: Come on in, stand right there
and raise your right hand and then you'll have a chair
right there.

The State's next witness 1s Alma Gutierrez.

THE FOREPERSON: You do solemnly swear the
testimony yvou are about to give upon the investigation
now pending before this Grand Jury shall be the truth,
the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help vyou

God?
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10:33 1 THE WITNESS: Yes.
2 THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.
3 You are advised that you are here today to

4 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
10:33 5 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,

6 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to

7 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly

8 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

9 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

10:34 10 Do you understand this advisement?
11 THE WITNESS: Yes.
12 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

153 | and last name and spell both for the record.

14 THE WITNESS: Alma Gutierrez. A-L-M-A,
10:34 15 G-U-T-I-E-R-R-E-%.

16 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.

17 ALMA GUTIERREZ,

18 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the

19 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
10:34 20 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

21

272 EXAMINATION

23
24 | BY MS. KILLER:

10:34 25 Q. Miss Gutierrez, on June 30th of 2015 at
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10:34 1 | around 4:25 a.m., were you working at the Rainbow Market

2 | at 5075 East Washington?

3 A. Yes.

4 0. And is that here in Las Vegas, Clark
10:34 5 | County, Nevada?

6 A, Yes.

7 Q. What's your position there?

8 A. Graveyard cashier.

9 Q. What happened on that morning that causes

10:35 10 | vyou to be here today?
11 A. I was standing behind the counter when two
12 | men came into the store. The first one had a gun in his
13 | hand, pointed at me and told me to give him everything I
14 | had. He then went to the security guard. The next man
10:35 15 | stayed at the counter and he took all the money from the
16 | register. Then they asked me if I could access the
17 safe, I told them I couldn't, and then they left.
18 Q. Were you able to see the faces of these men
19 | or did they have their faces covered?
10:35 20 A. No. The first one with the gun had a
21 | bandanna covering the lower half of his face and the
22 second one had some sort of hoodie that's zipped up all
23 | the way.
24 Q. And were these gentlemen black, white,

10:35 25 | Asian, Hispanic, 1f you could tell?
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10:35 1 A, The second one was black. That was the one

2 | without the gun.

3 Q. The first one could you tell?
4 A. No.
10:36 5 Q. Did you speak with the police after this

6 | incident?
7 A. Yes.
8 Q. And did you fill out a handwritten
9 | statement?
10:36 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. Would it refresh your memory or
12 | recollection about the other man if I showed vyou that

13 statement?

14 A. sure. Yes,.
10:36 15 Okay.
16 Q. For the record I'm taking the statement

17 | back with me.
18 Do you remember how you described the other
19 | man?
10:37 20 A. Hispanic. The first one with the gun.
21 0. Do you have surveillance cameras 1in your
22 | store?
23 A, Yes.
24 Q. And do you know if they were working on

10:37 25 | that day?
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10:37 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. Would you recognize the still shots or
3 | still pauses from that surveillance if they were shown
4 to you?
10:37 5 A. Yes.
6 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit Number 74.
7 | Do you see vyourself in that still shot?
3 A. Yes.
9 0. For the record, can you describe where in

10:37 10 | the photo you are?

11 A, Coffee area.

12 Q. And it's kind of in the upper right corner?
13 A. Uh, the end of the store ——

14 Q. Nope, that's all right. I just needed it

10:37 15 | in the photograph.
16 I'm going to have vyvou, I'm going to hand
17 all of these to you and then I'll ask you one qgquestion
18 | at the end. Okay? So that's Exhibit 74.
19 Sshowing you Exhibit 73. Showing you

10:38 20 | Exhibit 72. Showing you Exhibit 71. Showing you
21 | Exhibit 70. Showing you Exhibit 69. Showing you
22 | Exhibit68. Showing you Exhibit 67. 66. 65. 64. 63.
23 | And Exhibit 6-0, 60. Do you recognize what's occurring
24 in the surveillance footage in those photos?

10:39 25 A. Yes.
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10:39 1 Q. Is that the robbery vou're here describing

2 | right now?

3 A. Yes.

4 Q. Do these fairly and accurately depict the
10:39 5 | events of that evening?

6 A, Yes.

7 Q. showing you Exhibit 74. You had identified

8 | yvourself over here by the coffee area. Who is this

9 | other person in the photograph? Do you know him?

10:39 10 A. Security guard.
11 Q. And do you know his name by chance?
12 A. I don't remember it.
13 Q. Was he in the store as well when the

14 | robbery occurred?

10:39 15 A. Yes.
16 0. And you had said the, was it the first man
17 | to enter that had the gun out?
18 A. That was the first one that I thought was
19 | Hispanic.

10:40 20 Q. And for the record that was Exhibit 73.
21 Showing you Exhibit 71. Are these the
22 individuals that entered your store?
23 A, Yes.
24 Q. And which one stayed with you at the cash

10:40 25 | register?
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10:40 1 A. The one with the skull hoodie.

2 Q. And do you know where the other man went?

3 A. Towards the security guard.

4 Q. Showing you Exhibit 68. TIs that you behind
10:40 5 | the register?

6 A, Yes.

7 Q. And ladies and gentlemen, you'll have all

8 | of these when you deliberate.

9 Are we looking down at the register in this
10:41 10 | photo?

11 A, Yes.

12 Q. So down here in the bottom right corner,

13 | would that be you?

14 A. That's my head.
10:41 15 Q. And that's the suspect that stayed with you

16 | at the register?

17 A, Yes.

18 Q. Did he in fact get money from your

19 | register?

10:41 20 A. Yes.

21 Q. Do you know how much?

272 A. Not the exact amount.

23 Q. Do you know an approximate amount?

24 A. I believe 1t was over a hundred dollars.
10:41 25 Q. Did you see one gun that morning or two?
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10:41 1 A. One.
2 Q. And I believe, but I just want to clarify,
3 | it was the man with the bandanna covering that was

4 | holding it?

10:41 5 A. Yes.
6 MS. KILLER: The State has no further
7 | questions at this time. Do the ladies and gentlemen of

3 | the Grand Jury?
9 BY A JUROR:
10:42 10 Q. The time stamp on those were like 4:26 1in

11 | the morning. Is that correct? Was it that time of the

12 | day?

13 A. Somewhere around that time, vyes.

14 0. And the security guard, was he a security
10:42 15 | at the store or was he just a random —--

16 A. Yes, he was security at the store.

17 Q. Did he have a gun?

18 A. No, he's unarmed.

19 THE FOREPERSON: No further questions.
10:42 2.0 By law, these proceedings are secret and

21 | you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything

22 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and

23 | statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event

24 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand

10:42 25 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.
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10:42 1 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
2 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a yvear in the Clark
3 | County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
4 | vou may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
10:42 5 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

o Detention Center.

7 Do you understand this admonition?
8 THE WITNESS: Yes.
9 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, ma'am. You're

10:43 10 excused.
11 THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.
12 MS. KILLER: The State's next witness 1is

13 | Ramon Vasquez, custodian of records for Rainbow Market.

14 THE FOREPERSON: If yvou would, sir, please
10:43 15 | raise your right hand. Go ahead and remain standing.

16 Go ahead and remain standing.

17 THE WITNESS: Oh, standing.

18 THE FOREPERSON: You do solemnly swear the

19 | testimony you are about to give upon the investigation
10:43 20 | now pending before this Grand Jury shall be the truth,

21 the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help vyou

22 | God?
23 THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.
24 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, sir. Please be

10:44 25 seated.
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10:44 1 You are advised that vou are here today to
2 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
3 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
4 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
10:44 5 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
6 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

7 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

3 Do you understand this advisement?
9 THE WITNESS: Yes.
10:44 10 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

11 | and last name and spell both for the record.

12 THE WITNESS: Ramon Vasquez. R-A-M-0O-N,
13 V-A-5-Q-U-E-%Z.

14 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.

10:44 15 RAMON VASQUEZ,

16 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
17 Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
18 and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

19

10:44 20 EXAMINATION

21
22 BY MR. PESCI:

23 0. Sir, do you work at the Rainbow Market at
24 | 5075 East Washington?

10:44 25 A. Yeah, I run that store.
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10:44 1 Q. Are you aware that there was a robbery that

2 occurred on June the 30th of 20157

3 A. Yes.

4 Q. Did that occur in the early morning hours?
10:44 5 A. Yeah.

0 Q. Does your establishment have wvideo

7 | surveillance?

3 A. I gave 1t to the detective that was there

9 | and then another detective came back and got i1t again
10:45 10 | because I guess 1t wouldn't play on their computer, but

11 | it only holds up to 30 days so we don't have it no more.

12 Q. But does your business have wvideo

13 | surveillance?

14 A. Yeah, we do.
10:45 15 Q. Is it the ordinary course of your business

16 to maintain and run that surveillance?

17 A, Yes.
18 Q. And vyou keep that wvideo you said for 30
19 | days?
10:45 2.0 A. Yes.
21 0. I want to show you Grand Jury Exhibits, it

22 | looks like 60 through 74. Do vyvou recognize what's
23 | depicted there?
24 A. Yes.

10:45 25 Q. Are these still frames of video
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10:45 1 | surveillance from your establishment?
2 A, Yes.
3 Q. Does 1t in fact have a date and time stamp

10:45 5 A. Yes.

6 Q. And do you recognize that location?

7 A. Yes.

3 Q. You said you're the manager?

9 A. Uh—-huh.
10:45 10 Q. Is that a yes?

11 A, Yes.

12 Q. I want to show you also Grand Jury Exhibits

13 | 62 and 61. Do you recognize those?

14 A. Yes.
10:45 15 Q. There seems to be some writing on the

16 survelllance still frame; 1s that correct?

17 A, Yes.

18 0. Is that what your machine —--

19 A. Yes, 1it's from the registers, when the
10:45 20 | receipt prints up it shows on the camera what came up or

21 | whatever, like how she hit no sale to open the thing,
22 | that's what that's seeing.

23 Q. So this writing here talks about which
24 register, the date, the time?

10:46 25 A. Yes.
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Q. And 1t's the Rainbow Market?
A. Yes.
Q. Are these fair and accurate depictions of

the surveillance that you personally provided to the
detectives?

A. Yes. The only thing that might be a little
off, because the timing on our camera 1s a little messed

up by like 10 or 20 minutes.

Q. You're sure of the date?
A. Yes.
Q. And you're sure of the general time, it

might be off a few minutes?

A. Uh-huh.
Q. Is that a vyes?
A. Yes.

MR. PESCI: Are there any gquestions from
the ladies and gentlemen of the Grand Jury?

THE FOREPERSON: By law, these proceedings
are secret and you are prohibited from disclosing to
anyone anything that has transpired before us, including
evidence and statements presented to the Grand Jury, any
event occurring or statement made in the presence of the
Grand Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a

gross misdemeanor punishable by a yvear in the Clark
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10:46 1 | County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
2 | yvou may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
3 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

4 Detention Center.

10:46 5 Do you understand this admonition?
o THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.
7 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou, sir. You are

8 | excused.
9 THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.
10:47 10 MS. KILLER: The State's next witness 1is
11 | Ronald Main.
12 THE FOREPERSON: Sir, if vou could please
13 | raise your right hand.
14 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
10:47 15 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
IS this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
17 | nothing but the truth, so help vou God?
18 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
19 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be
10:47 20 | seated.
21 You are advised that yvou are here today to
22 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
23 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
24 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to

10:47 25 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
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10:47 1 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

2 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

3 Do you understand this advisement?
4 THE WITNESS: Do I understand what?
10:48 5 THE FOREPERSON: The advisement of the

6 | reason you're here today.
7 You are advised that you are here today to
8 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
9 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
10:48 10 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
11 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
12 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

13 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

14 Do you understand this advisement?
10:48 15 THE WITNESS: Who's Tonya?
16 MR. PESCI: Sir, the guestion is whether

17 | vou understand that you're here to present evidence
18 | about this particular incident that occurred. You don't
19 | have to know the people. It's just that you're here to

10:49 20 | give testimony about the incident.

21 THE WITNESS: All right.

22 MR. PESCI: Do you understand that?

23 THE WITNESS: I'm not really sure.

24 MR. PESCI: Okay. Well, vyvou'wve been
10:49 25 | subpoenaed to come to the Grand Jury; 1s that correct?
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10:49 1 THE WITNESS: Yeah, because I witnessed a

2 incident.

3 MR. PESCI: Exactly. That's what —-

4 THE WITNESS: Involving two subjects and
10:49 5 | I'm curious where he's coming up with a third subject.

6 MR. PESCI: Because there is more than one

7 incident being presented. So the fact that you're

8 | hearing about a third doesn't bear on your testimony

9 | about vour particular incident. They're hearing about
10:49 10 | more than one incident, that's why you're hearing more
11 | than one name. So 1t makes sense that you're curious

12 | that way. But we're just asking vyou, do you understand
13 | that you're giving testimony about your particular

14 incident?

10:49 15 THE WITNESS: All right.
16 MR. PESCI: Okay.
17 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

18 | and last name and spell both for the record.

19 THE WITNESS: Ronald, R-O-N-A-L-D, Main,
10:49 20 | M—A-I-N.

21 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou.

272 RONALD MAIN,

23 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
24 Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

10:50 25 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:
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10:50 1 EXAMINATION

3 BY MR. PESCI:

4 0. Sir, I want to direct your attention to
10:50 5 | June the 30th of 2015 at about 4:25 in the morning.

6 | Were you working at the Rainbow Market located at 5075

7 | East Washington?

3 A. Yes.

9 Q. And what was your job there that morning?
10:50 10 A. Security officer.

11 Q. Did something happen, the incident that you

12 | referred to earlier, could vou tell the ladies and

13 | gentlemen of the Grand Jury about that incident?

14 A. At approximately the time that you state,
10:50 15 | two individuals entered the store. The first one that

16 | entered the store was brandishing a firearm and as soon

17 | as the first subject entered the store brandishing the

18 | firearm he immediately was observed as panning with the

19 | weapon the interior of the store. At first he did not
10:51 20 | see me because I was 1n a aisleway, but when he

21 | discovered, when he did see me and discovered who I was

22 | he made a beeline right for me and put that revolver

23 | right up in my face.

24 Q. Okay. You have surveillance at your store;

10:51 25 is that correct?
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10:51 1 A. I presume they do.
2 Q. Do you recognize what's depicted in Grand

3 | Jury Exhibit 717

4 You described about two individuals coming
10:51 5 | in the store with a gun; is that correct?

0 A. Yep.

7 Q. Do you recognize that as the individuals

8 | vyou just testified about?
9 A. Yep. The first one, he's the short one.
10:51 10 Q. Let me stop you for one second. What I'm
11 | going to do, so you can explain like you just were,
12 | we're going to put this over here, so over your shoulder
13 | now you can explain that and then the Grand Jury can
14 | know what you're talking about.
10:52 15 A. All right. Subject number 1 that has the
16 | weapon in his right hand, again upon entering the store
17 | he was conducting a panning a panning motion presumably
18 | for his, presumably for his partner who is entering the
19 | store behind him.
10:52 2.0 Q. Does the person behind him have a mask with
21 | 1ike a skull on 1it?
22 A. Yes, and a hoodie.
23 Q. And vyou testified earlier that originally
24 | they didn't see you, but when they did they pointed the

10:52 25 | gun at you?
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A. Subject number 1, he was the observer, just
quickly checking the interior and like I said panning
his weapon to see if there were probably any threats.

Q. And let me show you 73 and 74. Do you

recognize those?

A. Okay.
Q. Do you recognize what 1s depicted in those?
A. Okay. That's me in the upper and then me

and subject number 1.

Q. So you testified earlier that when they
first came in they didn't see you. So showing you 74,
they hadn't vyvet seen vyou; 1s that correct?

A. At first because —-- yeah.

Q. And then 73, you said that when they did
see you they made a beeline to you and pointed the gun
at you?

A. Just subject number 1 with the weapon as
depicted in this picture. And at that point, at that
point he got wvery close and made direct constant eye
contact and I just kept reassuring, not making, you
know, with the hands out in the open and reassuring
subject number 1 that I was unarmed, no weapon, no
weapon of any kind and that I was not, that I was not,
vou know, I was not a threat to him.

Q. Okay. Did they demand anything from you?
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10:54 1 A, No. As a matter of fact, as a matter of
2 | fact subject number 1 pretty much kept gquiet during the
3 | entire ordeal. Mainly he just wanted to, you know, keep

4 | me company.

10:55 5 Q. What did subject number 2 do?
6 A. Subject number 2 was a very busy
7 | individual. He, subject number 2 made a direct beeline

8 | for the counter immediately, hollering at the cashier

9 that, vyou know, to, you know, give me all the money, and
10:55 10 | then he kept going from like give me all the money to

11 | give me the cash. He just kept going back and forth.

12 Q. When he was saying that did the cashier

13 | give him the money?

14 A. Yeah, she complied fully. Quickly.
10:55 15 Q. After she did that did those two leave?
16 A, Subject —— yeah. Subject —- ockay.
17 Q. That's all right. Don't mind the phone.
18 A. Yeah, they quickly —- subject number 2, the

19 | tall one with the mask that was at the counter, he

10:56 20 | exited first, and then subject number 1 with the weapon,
21 | he exited, he exited making sure of course nobody
22 | followed them out the door.
23 Q. Did you see where they went when they left?
24 A. It appeared, the only one that I could see

10:56 25 | at the time is, 1t appeared that when they exited, I
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wish I had a picture, 1t appeared that when they exited
out the door they went through the, to the north. Is
that a —-

Q. Yes. Putting back 71 which shows the
doors.

A. Oh, okay. Well, okay. Like I said subject
number 2, the one with the skull mask, he exited first,
followed of course by subject number 1 who was making
sure that no one was going to follow him out. And then
when they, when they exited, the one, the one that I
could see was the skull mask as they made a left turn
going towards, back out through the north parking lot
presumably, presumably just running, they could have ran
north, they could have ran to the west.

Q. You don't know but you saw them run out in
that direction?

A. But the one thing is that in facing, you
know, that did see subject number 2, the skull mask,
that they went, that they went on the north side, north
side of the store so, and at that point it's unknown.

Q. You didn't see after that?

A. Yeah.

MR. PESCI: ©No further gquestions. Any

questions from the Grand Jury?
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10:57 1 | BY A JUROR:
2 Q. Mr. Main, can you describe these two
3 | individuals, whatever you could see, their ethnicity,
4 | anything that you could tell about them?
10:58 5 A. Subject number 1, dark skin, because he
6 | had, he was wearing a ball cap and he had a bandanna,
7 | bandanna up to about the bridge, the bridge of his nose,
8 | but other than that dark skinned. And probably, well,
9 | short. Probably just, probably just didn't even come up
10:58 10 | to maybe, you know, maybe my chin. But the other one,
11 | the other one was, he, at first he appeared very tall
12 when he entered but then he, but then he kind of
13 | maintained a, kind of a bent over like he was, you know,
14 | trying to lean over, maybe confuse individuals on, you
10:59 15 | know, his height. But other than the fact that subject
16 | number 2 was pretty well covered. But subject number 1,
17 | vou know, dark skinned, and that was basically just
18 | forehead, evyes and the upper bridge of the nose, but for
19 | the most part very well covered up. And subject
10:59 20 | number 1 hardly, hardly said a word at all except at
21 | first when they entered the store subject number 1
22 | yelled to, for evervyvbody to just stay out in the open,
23 | keep their hands, keep their hands up, that this is a,
24 | that, he clearly stated that this is a robbery.

11:00 25 Q. So you couldn't tell, by what you could see

2 AA 096



97

11:00 1 | you could not tell their ethnicity, they were dark

2 | skinned —--

3 A. Only one and that what was subject

4 | number 1, the short one, as in the photograph, that was
11:00 5 | the only one to show a weapon, that gave me his

6 | undivided attention. The only thing that I could make

7 for certain is that, you know, just, you know, just dark

8 | skin.

9 Q. Was 1t dark skin like mine or was it darker
11:00 10 | than mine?

11 A. He was pretty dark. It was hard to —— I

12 | mean it would be a flip of the coin if he was Hispanic

13 or black.

14 Q. Thank vyou.
11:00 15 THE FOREPERSON: No further questions.
16 By law, these proceedings are secret and

17 | vou are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
18 | that has transpired before us, including evidence and
19 statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
11:00 20 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
21 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.
272 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
23 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
24 County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. 1In addition,

11:00 25 | you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
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11:00 1 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

2 Detention Center.

3 Do you understand this admonition?
4 THE WITNESS: Yes.
11:01 5 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, sir. You are

o excused.

7 MR. PESCI: State your name, sir.
3 THE WITNESS: Douglas Wayne Salter.
9 THE FOREPERSON: If you would, sir, please

11:01 10 | raise your right hand.
11 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
12 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
13 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

14 | nothing but the truth, so help you God?

11:02 15 THE WITNESS: Yes.
16 THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.
17 You are advised that you are here today to

18 | give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the

19 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
11:02 20 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to

21 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly

22 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

23 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

24 Do you understand this advisement?

11:02 25 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
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11:02 1 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
2 and last name and spell both for the record.
3 THE WITNESS: Douglas Salter.
4 D-O0-U-G-L-A-S, last name S-A-L-T-E-R.

11:02 5 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

6 DOUGLAS WAYNE SALTER,

7 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the

8 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

9 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:
11:02 10

11 EXAMINATION

12

13 BY MR. PESCI:

14 0. Sir, I want to direct your attention to
11:02 15 | June the 19th of 2015 at about 2:45 in the morning.

16 | Were yvou at the Kwiky Market located at 6055 East Lake

17 | Mead?

18 A, Yes.

19 Q. Are you familiar with that location?
11:03 20 A. Inside and out.

21 0. Have vyou been there quite a bit?

272 A, Yes.

23 Q. And in fact are you aware that that

24 location has wvideo surveillance?

11:03 25 A. Yes.
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Q. Were you actually a part of installing that
video surveillance?

A. There i1is probably three or four different
phases over the last six years. I probably worked on
two of them. They update them every now and then.

Q. When you say you worked on them —-

A. I actually put them in, hooked them up,
plugged them in, put them behind the computer, every
phase of it.

Q. That woman in front of is you writing
everything down. We cannot speak at the same time or I
promise vyou she'll yell at us.

So showing you Grand Jury Exhibits 45 —-
no, I'm sorry —— 25 through 45. Do you recognize these
as being still frames from the surveillance from that
Kwiky Mart that you installed that surveillance? Do you
recognize that, sir?

A, Yeah, that's my mother's truck. I was
driving it that night.

Q. So Grand Jury Exhibit 45 depicts the
outside of the establishment; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you recognize the truck there as being
vour mother's truck?

A. License plate was FXYGRM. You can actually
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see ——
0. And 25 through 45 are all fair and accurate

depictions of that surveillance?

A, Yeah.

Q. Okay. Now who's working there that night?

A, Craig. I don't know his last name.

Q. But how do you know Craig?

A. He's been an employee there about 11
months. I've been there about six years.

Q. Does Craig Tunnell, does that ring a bell?

A, Tt rings a bell but I'm not positive.

Q. You know him mostly by Craig?

A. Yeah.

Q. Was he working that night when you were
there?

A, Yes.

Q. Were you a customer that night?

A. Yes, 1 was.

Q. And were you, what were you dolng as a

customer there? What particularly were you doing?

A. T was playing the furthest machine from
the, actually the first counter on the nickel slot
machine, poker machine.

Q. What happened while you were there on that

poker machine?
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11:05 1 A. Well, I was at the end of the room by the
2 | glass and the clerk's counter is right there. And I
3 | sort of angle myself this way anyway, vou know. And I
4 | caught the guy coming through the door basically

11:05 5 | hunching and going right behind the counter to the cash
6 | register which is only about six feet from the door.
7 Q. And you prior to your testimony hawve
8 | reviewed video surveillance from this particular

9 incident; 1s that correct?

11:06 10 A. No, I haven't.
11 Q. Did you, when we were out in the hall ——
12 A. Just what you showed me out there, ves. I

13 haven't seen 1t with the owner of the store.

14 Q. So just before you came in here did you and
11:06 15 I review surveillance from this incident?

16 A. Yes, we did.

17 Q. Did yvou recognize that as being

18 | surveillance from the incident that you were involved

19 | in?
11:06 2.0 A. Definitely.
21 Q. So we're going to play that now.
272 Do you recognize what we're looking at?
23 A, Yeah, we're looking from west to east

24 behind the counter.

11:06 25 Q. And i1s this surveillance from the incident?
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11:06 1 A. I just want to see where Craig was coming
2 from because he was behind me over by the sodas. I

3 would be back in that far corner.

4 Q. So did you see Craig in the wvideo a moment
11:06 5 | ago?

0 A. Yes, I did.

7 Q. And Craig was the Craig Tunnell, the one we

8 | talked about earlier?
9 A. Yes.
11:07 10 Q. Was he the cashier working the counter at
11 | that time?
12 A. Yes. At that time he was stocking. They
153 | do a lot of that on graveyard.
14 0. On the wvideo does he, Craig, run out of the
11:07 15 | video?
16 A. He runs into the video from the far east
17 | side of the store.
18 0. And that's Craig in the green shirt that we

19 see?

11:07 2.0 A. Right.
21 Q. Chased off by one of the individuals?
272 A, Yes.
23 Q. You can have a seat 1f 1t's more

24 comfortable for you.

11:07 25 A. Yeah, I can see 1it.
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11:07 1 Q. Do you see someone going out the store
2 | right now?
3 A. That's me and that's the girl I was trying
4 | to drag out of there with me. I had her behind me at an
11:08 5 | angle on the inside of that gaming room where they
6 | couldn't see because of the dividers and as soon as his
7 | gun hand went behind the chips and stuff, I knew he

8 | couldn't move that quick so I said let's go and we toock

9 | off.
11:08 10 Q. When you say we meaning you and —-
11 A, The girl that was on the machine next to me

12 | closer to the counter.

13 Q. She's going to start yelling at me. She's

14 | going to yell because we're talking at the same time.
11:08 15 So did you see you and that female on this

16 | video surveillance exit?

17 A. Well, I can't see our faces or anything,

18 but vyes, that is us.

19 Q. That's what I'm trving to understand, if
11:08 20 | you recognize yourself.

21 A. Yes, definitely.

272 Q. And as vyou watched this wvideo right now,

23 | this portion is after you've left?
24 A. Right.

11:08 25 Q. But you're able to see that the register —-
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vou're familiar with the register in this location?

A. Yes.

Q. That the register had been opened?

A. I see 1t open.

Q. And that there was money taken from the
register?

A. Yeah.

Q. And that Craig the clerk had actually been

moved away at gunpoint?
A. Yeah, almost as he got behind the counter

to grab the guy he seen.

Q. Did you get much of a look at these two
guys?

A. The only, I only seen one guy by the way
that —- you see the guy is going in and out of the

picture. When I was looking, I seen the first guy come

in, I grabbed her from the slot machine to hide her
behind me and looked back and that's the only guy I
seen. It could have been the same, the two guys
switched, I don't know at that point.

Q. When yvou ran outside what did you do?

A. As soon as I got outside the door, I waited

for her and grabbed her hand and then she threw away
some kind of knife or something that she had on her.

wasn't even illegal. I think she had warrants or

It
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something, I don't know. And I just tried to drag her
across the street while I was calling 911 at the same
time.

Q. Was there anybody else in the store that

yvou know of?

A. Nobody.
Q. That you know of?
A. That I know of. That's the only door to

get 1in there.

Q. All right. So I'm going to show you now
Grand Jury Exhibit 45. Earlier I think you testified
that this is your mom's truck?

A. Yes. And I was driving it.

Q. And then do you see an individual that was
inside the store earlier that had the mask on?

A. From that picture I can't tell what it is.

It's pretty obvious, yeah, it's the two

guys, one in the mask and —-

Q. So this i1s the person with the mask, Grand

Jury Exhibit 44, approaching the store at this point; 1is

that correct?

A. I don't know that. They could be walking
backwards out of there for all I know.

Q. You see them outside from the surveillance

camera.
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11:10 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit 43, do you

3 | recognize that?

4 A, Yeah.
11:10 5 Q. And who 1s that?

0 A. That looks like me. I was moving pretty

7 | good.

3 Q. So that's you running out, right?

9 A. I'm not getting shot again.
11:11 10 Q. Do you recognize yourself there?

11 A, Yeah. I gained a little bit of weight over

12 the vears.
13 MR. PESCI: Any questions from the ladies
14 | and gentlemen of the Grand Jury?

11:11 15 | BY A JUROR:

16 Q. Yeah. Doug.
17 A. Yes, ma'am.
18 Q. Can you in any way describe these

19 | individuals? What did they look like, what ethnicity
11:11 20 | wise, hair?

21 A. I could not look at them if they were

22 | standing right there and tell yvou if that was them for

23 | sure, no. Because of the masks. And I really didn't

24 | see the white mask. I seen the other one. Because he

11:11 25 | was out of my frame of view back towards the —--
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11:11 1 Q. Thank vyou.
2 THE FOREPERSON: No further questions.
3 MR. PESCI: No further questions from the
4 | State.

11:11 5 THE FOREPERSON: By law, these proceedings

6 | are secret and you are prohibited from disclosing to

7 | anyone anything that has transpired before us, including

8 | evidence and statements presented to the Grand Jury, any

9 | event occurring or statement made in the presence of the
11:11 10 | Grand Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

11 Failure to comply with this admonition is a

12 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a vear in the Clark

13 | County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,

14 | yvou may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
11:11 15 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

16 Detention Center.

17 Do you understand this admonition?
18 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
19 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, sir. You are

11:12 20 excused.

21 THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.
22 MR. PESCI: Ladies and gentlemen, I think
23 | we have one more witness, the detective. Do you want

24 | another break or what is it you'd like to do? Keep

11:12 25 | going?
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11:12 1 I just need to confer with the detective
2 for just one moment. Okay? Sorry for the delay.
3 THE FOREPERSON: If you would, sir, please
4 | raise your right hand.

11:13 5 You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
6 | about to give upon the investigation now pending before
7 this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

8 | nothing but the truth, so help you God?

9 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
11:13 10 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. Please be
11 | seated.
12 You are advised that you are here today to

13 | give testimony 1in the investigation pertaining to the

14 | offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
11:13 15 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to

16 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly

17 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, involving

18 | Ralph Alexander, James Parker and Tonya Martin.

19 Do you understand this advisement?
11:13 20 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.
21 THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first

22 and last name and spell both for the record.
23 THE WITNESS: My name is David Miller.
24 D-A-V-1-D, M-I-L-L-E-R.

11:13 25 THE FOREPERSON: Thank vyou, sir.
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11:13 1 DAVID MILLER,

2 | having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the

3 | Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

4 | and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:
11:13 5

6 EXAMINATION

3 BY MR. PESCI:
9 Q. Sir, are you a detective with the
11:13 10 | Metropolitan Police Department assigned to the robbery

11 section?

12 A. Yes, sir.
13 Q. How long have you been with Metro?
14 A, For 15 years, sir.
11:13 15 Q. And you have previously testified in front

16 | of this Grand Jury about different incidents involving

17 | this case?

18 A. Yes, sir.

19 Q. So we're going to pick up and talk about
11:14 20 | some of those that you already spoke of and then some

21 other ones. Is that all right, Detective?

22 A. Yes, sir.

23 Q. In particular in this investigation did a

24 | Ford Taurus become something of interest to you?

11:14 25 A. Yes, sir.
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11:14 1 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit 23. Do you
2 | recognize that as being a certified copy of DMV records
3 | for the Ford Taurus that was the subject of vyour

4 | investigation?

11:14 5 A. Yes, sir.
6 Q. Who was 1t registered to?
7 A. To Tonya Martin.
8 Q. Did you speak to a Tonya Martin?
9 A. T did.
11:14 10 Q. We're going to get into that in just a

11 | minute. But was that car of interest to you?

12 A. Yes.
13 Q. Why?
14 A. Because after the Family Dollar robbery on

11:14 15 | July 9th we had a witness in the neighborhood say they
16 | saw a white female in a Ford, a gold Ford Taurus bearing
17 | Nevada plate 005LNU trying to pick up suspects and so,
18 | but on that date we didn't stop the car or catch the
19 car, catch the female. She got away that day.

11:15 20 Q. But that information was related to you by

21 | the witness that was here earlier testifying?

272 A, Yes.
23 0. That became an issue of interest for you?
24 A. Yes.

11:15 25 Q. And then showing you Grand Jury Exhibits 55
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11:15 1 | through 59, do you recognize those?

2 A, Yes.

3 Q. What do you recognize these to be?

4 A. T took these pictures. These are pictures
11:15 5 | of Tonya Martin's 2002 gold Ford Taurus with the Nevada

6 | plate O05LNU.

7 Q. Does that match the DMV records?
3 A. Yes.
9 Q. Did you take these photographs when vyou
11:15 10 | were meeting with Tonya Martin?
11 A. T did.
12 Q. Did she agree to you taking these

153 | photographs?
14 A. I don't think I asked actually. It was

11:15 15 | sitting out in front of the house she's staying in right

16 NOwW .
17 Q. Did yvou tell her that you were going to?
18 A. Oh yeah, she was watching me take the

19 | pictures.
11:15 2.0 Q. That's what I meant. I apologize. Bad
21 | wording.
272 Are those fair and accurate pictures of her
23 | Ford Taurus?
24 A. Yes, sir.

11:15 25 Q. Was that Ford Taurus actually in wvideo
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11:15 1 | surveillance or what appears to be the Ford Taurus
2 | depicted in Grand Jury Exhibit 26 which is associated

3 | with the Kwiky Mart robbery on June the 19th?

4 A. That's correct.

11:16 5 Q. Do you see that in this surveillance?
6 A, Yes.
7 Q. Is that another reason why you were

8 | focusing on this because from that incident, the Kwiky
9 | Market, it appeared to be the same car?
11:16 10 A. Right.
11 Q. Was there another incident that happened on
12 | June the 26th that also you had surveillance that was

13 | associated with a robbery there?

14 A. Yes, the LV Nail Spa.
11:16 15 Q. LV Nail Spa. Is that on Charleston?
16 A. Yes, 4430 East Charleston.
17 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibits 46 through
18 | 54. Do you recognize those?
19 A. Yes. Yep.
11:16 2.0 Q. Okay. Are these fair and accurate

21 | depictions of that area on the June 26th date?

272 A, Yes.

23 Q. Did you or someone with you as a part of
24 | your investigation obtain the video surveillance from

11:17 25 that area?
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11:17 1 A, Yes.
2 0. If I understood correctly, the nail salon
3 | did not have internal surveillance?
4 A, That's correct, not at the time.

11:17 5 Q. There were other businesses in the area

o that had surveillance?

7 A. That's right.
3 Q. You obtained that surveillance?
9 A. Yes.
11:17 10 Q. And you reviewed that surveillance?
11 A, Yes.
12 Q. Do you see what appears to be the same Ford

13 | Taurus in the video surveillance from the June 26th
14 | incident outside of the LV Nail salon?

11:17 15 A, Correct.
16 Q. In fact did you obtain surveillance
17 | separate and distinct from the surveillance depicted in
18 | Exhibits 49 through 547 49 through 54 was from one
19 camera; 1s that correct?

11:17 20 A. Yeah. There were several different cameras
21 and some were obviously better pictures than others.
22 0. And in fact 48, Grand Jury Exhibit 48, is
23 survelllance from a different camera; 1s that correct?
24 A. Right.

11:18 25 Q. But 1s that showing the same June 2Z26th area
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11:18 1 | of the LV Nails?
2 A. Right. This is outside the LV Nails and
3 | you can see, 1in this picture you can see picture of the
4 | car waiting for the suspects to get back in after the
11:18 5 | robbery.
6 Q. And then did vyou actually get the source of
7 another video from a young man who was skateboarding
3 just outside the nail salon?
9 A. Yeah.
11:18 10 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibits 46 and 47,
11 | do you recognize those?
12 A. Yes. This 1is, these are the, this is kind
13 | of almost a different angle. That one picture we just
14 | discussed you can see the car waiting. And this i1s the
11:18 15 | same basic thing except up close and personal because
16 | Armando was actually filming as he was, filming his
17 | buddies as they were skateboarding by exactly when the
18 | suspects ran and got back into the car, the gold Ford

19 Taurus.

11:18 2.0 Q. Do you remember Armando's last name?

21 A. Ramirez.

272 Q. Did yvou meet with Armando?

23 A, Yes.

24 Q. Did he show you his video surveillance?
11:19 25 A. He did.
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11:19 1 Q. I shouldn't say surveillance. I'm sorry.

2 From his camera.

3 A. Home wvideo, vyes.
4 0. And did you obtain copies of that?
11:19 5 A. T did.
0 0. Are these fair and accurate depictions of

7 | those copies?

3 A. Yes.
9 Q. Do you recognize this area?
11:19 10 A. Yes.
11 0. Do you know it to be the nail salon?
12 A. Yes.
13 Q. So you said a moment ago that this happened

14 just as the individuals came out; is that correct?
11:19 15 A. Correct.
16 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit 46. Do you

17 | recognize that?

18 A, Yes.
19 Q. Is this from Armando's camera?
11:19 2.0 A. Yes, his cell phone camera.
21 Q. What do we have on the left hand side?
22 A. That 1s the gold Ford Taurus and the

23 | suspects, if you're watching the video, they just run by
24 | and they're getting into the car as we speak and then

11:19 25 | pulled off.
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Q. Showing you 47, 1is that a better view of
the car?

A. Yes.

Q. Does that look 1like the car that's depicted

in the other surveillance from the same location,

State's 547

A. Yes. I'm not —-- yeah. Right. Yes. Okay.
I couldn't see which car we were talking about. Yes.
Q. Let me put a different one up. State's 52,

do you recognize that?

A, Yes.

Q. Does that appear to be the same car that's
depicted outside the Kwiky Mart in Grand Jury
Exhibit 267

A, The —-

Q. Hold on one second.

Grand Jury Exhibit 53, the car we're

talking about, it's not the parked car?

A. No.

Q. It's the car driving?

A. The one driving through. That's why I was
confused the first two. I didn't know which car we were

talking about.

Q. That's my fault. But State's 53 we see the

car that we also see in State's 26 which we also see in
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11:21 1 | State's 55 which i1s the car you took pictures of, Tonva

2 Martin's car?

3 A. Yes, sir.
4 Q. So we've got her car at the Kwiky Mart and
11:21 5 | the LV Nails. You also had information originally from

6 | the Family Dollar.

7 A. Correct.

8 Q. And in your investigation, this jury's

9 | previously heard about the incident at the Boulder
11:21 10 | Highway, did you also have video and information of the

11 | same car outside that location?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. So with all that information did you then

14 | go and interview Tonya Martin?
11:21 15 A. T did.

16 Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit 24. Do you

17 | recognize that?

18 A. That's Tonya Martin, yes.

19 Q. When you spoke to her, was she in

11:21 20 | handcuffs, was she in custody?

21 A. No, not at all.

22 Q. Did yvou arrange to meet with her?

23 A, Yes.

24 Q. Did she agree to meet with you?
11:21 2.5 A. Yes.
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11:21 1 0. Where did you actually meet with her?
2 A. Where she's living now which I believe 1is

3 her sister's house.

4 Q. Did you explain to her that no matter what
11:22 5 | she said that you were not going to arrest her?
6 A, T told her I wasn't going to arrest her

7 | that day. She had her little kids with her and I told
8 | her all I wanted to do that particular day was get

9 information.

11:22 10 Q. Did she agree to meet with you?
11 A, Yes.
12 Q. Did vou actually provide her with her

13 | Miranda rights?
14 A. T did.
11:22 15 Q. She wasn't in custody and she was free to

16 leave; 1s that correct?

17 A. That 1s correct.
18 Q. But you still gave her those rights?
19 A, Yes.

11:22 20 Q. With those rights did she determine to

21 | speak with you?

272 A, Yes.
23 0. Did you ask her about all these incidents?
24 A. T did.

11:22 25 Q. Specifically did you ask what her
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11:22 1 | relationship was with any of these other two

2 individuals?

3 A. Yes.
4 0. What did she say?
11:22 5 A. She had been dating Ralph Alexander for

0 approximately a year and a half and she also had one
7 | child with him.
3 Q. Did you show her actually some photographs

9 | that you had from these various incidents?

11:22 10 A. Yes.
11 Q. Was she able to recognize herself?
12 A. No, I don't think she recognized herself.

13 | She recognized her car.
14 0. I apologize.
11:23 15 A. Yeah. And she alsoc recognized Ralph
16 | Alexander.
17 Q. And the photo that she recognized of Ralph
18 | Alexander, were you familiar with that photograph?
19 A, Yes.
11:23 20 Q. Did you know that Ralph Alexander was in
21 that photograph?
272 A. It was my belief he was, ves.
23 Q. Did you end up doing a line—-up or showing
24 | her a photo line-up?

11:23 25 A, Not until —— I interviewed her on

2 AA 120



121

11:23 1 | August 12th. I showed her a photo line-up on

2 | August 25th I think.

3 Q. Did she identify somebody?
4 A, Yes.
11:23 5 Q. Who did she identify?
6 A, James Parker.
7 Q. So not Ralph Alexander but the second

8 | individual?

9 A. Right. I didn't show her a picture, a
11:23 10 | photo line-up of James Parker (sic) because she had a

11 | child with him and had been dating him for a year and a

12 | half, she knew who Ralph Alexander was already.

13 Q. Did ask her about her involvement or

14 | whether or not she was present at any of these

11:23 15 incidents?

16 A, I did.
17 Q. What did she tell vyou?
18 A, She saild she was the driver in her 2002

19 gold Ford Taurus on all four, on four robberies.

11:24 20 Q. Did you have information about the Boulder
21 | Station robbery from Detective Lorson?
22 A. I did have some information on that but I
23 | specifically kind of stayed away from that and made it
24 | very clear to her that we were only going to talk about

11:24 25 a different four.
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11:24 1 0. However she acknowledged that she was

Z2 | involved in that incident?

3 A. To my recollection, but we didn't get into

4 | detail about it.
11:24 5 Q. Because you know that Detective Lorson

6 | already covered 1t?

7 A. Right.

8 Q. He was the gentleman that testified here

9 | today, the very first witness?
11:24 10 A. Yes.

11 0. So that 1s the first incident at Boulder

12 | Station. Going forward chronologically, the Kwiky Mart

13 | on East Lake Mead on June 19th, did you ask her about

14 | that?
11:24 15 A. T did.
16 0. What did she say about that?
17 A. She provided some accurate details. I

18 | provided her a very minimal amount of information just

19 | to kind of refresh her memory and she provided accurate
11:24 20 | details. For instance, she said that the robbery

21 | specifically occurred at a convenience store that did

22 | not have gas pumps, she said it happened during the

23 | night, she said it happened on Lake Mead and Sloan. And

24 all that, all those details were very accurate as to the

11:25 25 | time, the location and kind of a description of the
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11:25 1 | business in itself because that becomes pertinent a
2 | 1little bit later that she specifically said this 1s a
3 | convenience store that did not have gas pumps. She said
4 | during that robbery both, at the time during this first
11:25 5 | interview she knew that the second suspect was named J
6 | but she didn't know that his name was James Parker. She
7 | didn't identify him until August 25th like we just
8 | discussed. But she said that J, James Parker, and Ralph
9 | Alexander were the suspects that went inside the
11:25 10 | convenience store to do the robbery. She said that
11 | Ralph Alexander would wear a bandanna over his face and
12 she said, she wasn't exactly sure how much money they
13 | got out of it but she specifically remembered that they
14 | got a large amount of change, she said about $80 worth
11:25 15 | of change, which was really accurate because in fact T
16 | think like 5240 was stolen during that robbery or
17 | somewhere in there, but specifically $76 of that was
18 | change. So she was very accurate on those details.
19 Q. And she said her part was that she was the
11:26 20 | driver?
21 A. Correct.
22 Q. So that was the incident on June 19th at
23 | the Kwiky Mart. Did you ask her about June 26th, the
24 | Nail Spa on East Charleston?

11:26 25 A, Yes. She remembered that one much better.
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11:26 1 | She specifically said it did occur, this particular
2 | incident did occur at like a nail or a beauty type store
3 | she knew. She said she dropped J and Ralph off on the
4 | sidewalk and waited for them as they went in to do the
11:26 5 | robbery. She said again that Ralph would always wear
6 | that bandanna. She indicated that when they came out
7 she didn't know exactly everything they got because one
8 | of them had a backpack and the contents were in the
9 | backpack, but she also seemed to remember something
11:26 10 | about a tip jar.
11 Q. And did she explain what her role was?
12 A. Again she said she was the driver and it
13 | kind of completely matched up with the video
14 surveilllance we already had.
11:27 15 Q. Did you ask her about the June 30th
16 incident at Rainbow Market on East Washington?
17 A. Yes. Agailin she provided accurate details.
18 | She said it happened during the night. She said that,
19 | she specifically remembered that it happened at Nellis
11:27 20 | and Washington which was right on the money. She
21 | indicated again that she used her 2002 gold Ford Taurus,
22 | that she was the driver, that Ralph and J went inside
23 | the business, and this one she accurately said it was a
24 | convenience store, she said this one did have gas pumps

11:27 25 | and that is accurate. So everything she said matched
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11:27 1 | up.
2 Q. Okay. Did you ask her also about the

3 | July 9th Family Dollar?

4 A, T did.
11:27 5 Q. And what did she say her involvement was 1in
6 | that?
7 A. That was the one that Ralph and James
8 | Parker were already in custody for. She indicated that

9 | vyes she was using her 2002 Ford gold Taurus. She said
11:28 10 | she dropped Ralph off, and in that particular case James

11 | actually must have met up with him because he wasn't in

12 | the car initially. She said she waited for Ralph over

13 | in that neighborhood that was behind to the south of,

14 | which i1s accurate to where the witness actually saw her
11:28 15 | car and that's where the foot pursuit occurred as well.

16 Q. So in this particular incident she only

17 | dropped off one?

18 A. Correct.
19 Q. Which was?
11:28 2.0 A. Ralph Alexander.
21 0. And did she say that she was the driver

22 | again on this incident?

23 A. Yes.,
24 Q. In all of these incidents you had
11:28 25 | information about a weapon being used; i1s that correct?
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11:28 1 A, Yes.

2 Q. Did you ask her about her ever seeing a

3 | weapon?

4 A. She didn't say she saw a weapon. She said
11:28 5 | she never saw a gun. I showed her some surveillance

6 | pictures later regarding the Rainbow Market at which

7 | time she recognized Ralph wearing the bandanna, said he

3 | does have a gun.

9 0. But as far as her, she said she never saw a
11:29 10 | gun separate from you showing her that surveillance?

11 A. Right. Correct.

12 Q. Now ladies and gentlemen of the Grand Jury,

13 | you're hearing evidence about identification by the one
14 | defendant of the other. You are not to consider that as
11:29 15 | to Ralph Alexander. This 1s just to be considered as to
16 | Tonya Martin and her involvement. It ties into those
17 | events, that's how we give it context, but it's not
18 | substantive evidence against the other co-defendants.
19 | Will you follow that admonition?
11:29 20 There's nothing to the contrary from the
21 | Grand Jury. Okay.
272 Did she talk about how there was a
23 | particular mask that he would use?
24 A. Yes. She said that he, that she had seen

11:29 25 | this, I think she described it as a, I want to say a
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11:29 1 | Scream mask. I can't remember. I think she described
2 | it as a Scream mask. And I showed her a picture of the
3 | mask that we recovered on July 9th with the Punisher
4 | symbol and she said yes, that's the mask. She said she
11:30 5 | had seen both Ralph and James in possession of that in
0 the past, however she said during the robberies Ralph
7 | would be the one that would wear the bandanna.
8 Q. So it's wvery clear, you had some witnesses

9 describe this as a Scream mask; 1s that correct?

11:30 10 A. Some said skull, some said Scream.

11 Q. And vyou've just used the term Punisher?

12 A. Correct.

13 Q. Where does that come from?

14 A, I believe it's a comic book, I think that's
11:30 15 | where i1t derives from, but that's what, when we

16 | ultimately recovered it that's what it in fact is, 1it's
17 | the Punisher something.
18 MR. PESCI: ©No further questions from the
19 | State.
11:30 2.0 BY A JUROR:
21 Q. How old is Tonya Martin?
22 A. I don't remember. I think she's 30 —-
23 | she's in her thirties.
24 BY MR. PESCI:

11:31 25 Q. Detective, would it refresh your
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recollection if you reviewed your transcribed statement
with her?

A. Yes.

Let me do my math. She was born in '82.
Twenty, thirty —-—-

A JUROR: Thirty—-two.

THE WITNESS: Thirty-two. Thank you. I'm
SO SOorry.

A JUROR: Thank vyou, Officer.

THE WITNESS: Thank vyou.
BY A JUROR:

Q. Did yvou recover any purses, cell phones,
money from all, any of the victims of any of the
robberies?

A. No, sir. Once we arrested James and Ralph
on July 9th we weren't certain of addresses to even
search.

Q. Thank vyou.

BY A JUROR:

Q. What was Tonya's ethnicity? Was she white?
A. Yes, she 1is a white female.
Q. Okay.

THE FOREPERSON: No further questions.
By law, these proceedings are secret and

you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
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11:31 1 that has transpired before us, including evidence and
2 statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
3 | occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
4 | Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

11:31 5 Failure to comply with this admonition is a
6 | gross misdemeanor punishable by a vear in the Clark
7 County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. 1In addition,
8 | you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
9 | additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County

11:31 10 Detention Center.

11 Do you understand this admonition?
12 THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I do.
13 THE FOREPERSON: Thank you, sir. You're

14 excused.

11:32 15 THE WITNESS: Thank you. Have a good day.
16 MR. PESCI: Ladies and gentlemen, that
17 concludes the presentation of our evidence. We have

18 | already given you the instructions on the law. I have

19 | been admonished that earlier I said Exhibit 1, actually
11:32 20 | it's Exhibit 1A which is the superseding Indictment, so

21 I would ask you to reference that.

272 We would also like you, when you're looking

23 at 1A, I ask you to go to Count 10 and on line 11, ask

24 | you to write in the word attempt before the robbery.

11:33 25 | And then on line 14, after the word feloniously and
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11:33 1 | before the word take, add in the word attempt. The
2 | testimony we heard from Mr. Cang Tran 1s that there was
3 | a demand but that he did not give any.
4 Additionally I would ask you to strike
11:33 5 | Count 11 as there was no testimony from Asia McGehee.
6 | Does anyone have any questions about that?
7 I would also point out that in Count 9,
8 | still on page 5, this was the Vietnamese women, Lien
9 | Nguyen, on line 1, she said it was only US currency that
11:33 10 | was taken.
11 MS. KILLER: And then when you turn to page
12 6 on Count 13 on line 26, after the word purse, where it
13 | says purse and, we would ask that you amend to mark
14 | slash or wallet, adding the word wallet there. So it
11:34 15 | would read: And/or a purse and/or a wallet and its
16 | contents.
17 On the next page, on page 7, Count 15, line
18 25, after Montes, we would ask that you add dash
19 Cervantes, C-E-R-V-A-N-T-E-S, as Iracema testified that
11:34 20 | her last name was hyphenated, Montes-Cervantes.
21 Above that on line 24, the to-wit for Count
22 15 should read US currency and/or a purse and/or a
23 | wallet with identification and/or credit cards.
24 A JUROR: How about a cell phone, Count 157

11:35 25 | She testified he tock her cell phone too. Would you
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11:35 1 | like to add that?

2 MS. KILLER: Yes, that's correct. Thank

3 | you. After credit cards you can add and/or cell phone.

4 On Count 16, regarding Irais Montes, after
11:35 5 | purse, please add and/or car keys before and/or

6 | identification.

7 I believe that's all the changes to the

8 | superseding Indictment.

9 A JUROR: Excuse me. I think Irais Montes,
11:36 10 | the second name is mentioned on the Indictment that I

11 have, page 8, line 2.

12 MS. KILLER: Oh.

13 A JUROR: Her name is mentioned twice 1in

14 | the Indictment.
11:36 15 MS. KILLER: Oh page 7, line 27 it is there

16 | again.

17 A JUROR: I have line 28 but.

18 MS. KILLER: Maybe they printed on

19 | different pages. 1 apologize.
11:36 20 Yes, the second instance in Count 15 1if we

21 | could correct that as well.

22 MR. PESCI: Thank you very much. That

23 | concludes. We're submitting the case.

24 A JUROR: One more question.

11:37 25 A JUROR: Are we not doing A, B and C? You
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11:37 1 didn't change the Indictment number, case number to
Z2 | include C.
3 MS. KILLER: We'll move to amend on page 11
4 | the Grand Jury case number to read 14BGJ113ABC.
11:37 5 (At this time, all persons, other than
6 | members of the Grand Jury, exit the room at 11:37 a.m.
7 | and return at 11:47 a.m.)
3 THE FOREPERSON: Mr. and Madame District
9 | Attorney, by a vote of 12 or more grand jurors a true
11:47 10 | bill has been returned against defendants Ralph
11 | Alexander, James Parker, Tonya Martin, charging the
12 | crimes of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
13 | robbery with use of a deadly weapon, conspiracy to
14 | commit robbery, attempt robbery with use of a deadly
11:47 15 | weapon, and assault with a deadly weapon, in Grand Jury
16 case number 14BGJ113ABR-C. We instruct you to prepare an
17 Indictment in conformance with the proposed Indictment
18 | previously submitted to us.
19 MR. PESCI: Thank you wvery much.
11:48 20 In addition I'll make a record, there were
21 | some of you that were not here at the first
22 | presentation. You had transcripts to review before your
23 | deliberations in this second presentation. Is that
24 | correct?

11:48 25 A JUROR: Yes.
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A JUROR:
A JUROR:
MR. PESCI:

for your patience.

Yes.,
Yes.

Thank vyou wvery much.

(Proceedings concluded.)

——oo0o0o—-—

Thank you
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11:48 1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

3 | STATE OF NEVADA )

: Ss
4 COUNTY OF CLARK )
11:48 5
0 I, Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. 222, do

7 | hereby certify that I took down in Shorthand (Stenotype)
8 | all of the proceedings had in the before-entitled matter
9 | at the time and place indicated and thereafter said
11:48 10 | shorthand notes were transcribed at and under my
11 | direction and supervision and that the foregoing
12 transcript constitutes a full, true, and accurate record
13 | of the proceedings had.
14 Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada,
11:48 15 | October 20, 2015.
16
17 /s/ Danette L. Antonacci

18

Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. 222
19

11:48 20
21
22
23
24

25
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11:48 1 AFFIRMATION
2 Pursuant to NRS Z239B.030
3
4 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the

preceding TRANSCRIPT filed in GRAND JURY CASE NUMBER
11:48 5 14BGJ113ABC:

6
7
3 X Does not contain the social security number of any
person,
9
11:48 10 —OR~-
11 Contains the social security number of a person as
required by:
12
A. A specific state or federal law, to-
13 wit: NRS 656.250.
14 —OR—
11:48 15 B. For the administration of a public program
or for an application for a federal or
16 state grant.
17

18 | /s/ Danette L. Antonacci
10-20-15
19 | Signature Date

11:48 20

21 Danette L. Antonacci
Print Name

22

23 | Official Court Reporter
Title

24

25
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4365 [1]
44 [1] 106/20
4430 [6] 17/9
22/16 39/6 64/2
69/14 113/16

45 [5] 100/13
100/14 100/20
101/2 106/11

46 [3] 113/17
115/10 116/16

47 [2] 115/10
117/1

48 [2] 114/22
114/22

49 [2] 114/18

6—foot [1]

60 [2]
85/22
6055 [1]

61 [1]
62 [1]
63 [1]
64 [1]
65 [1]
656.250
135/13
66 [1]
67 [1]
68 [1]
69 [1]
6:00 [1]
6:45 [2]

40/8
79/23

99/16
86/13
86/13
79/22
79/22
79/22

[1]

79/22
79/22
81/4
79/21
64/10
56/10
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6
6:45... [1] 64/5
6:45 p.m [5] 17/8

22/15 29/10 39/9

69/17

7

7 o'clock [1]
64/8

70 [1] 79/21

71 [4] 79/20
80/21 92/3 95/4

72 [1] 79/20

73 [4] 7T79/19
80/20 93/4 93/14

74 [6] 79/6 79/18

80/7 85/22 93/4
93/11
7:00 [1] 64/9
7:00 did [1]
64/11

8

8:30 [1]
8:52 [1]

9

9-millimeter [1]
41/20
911 [1]
99 [1] 74/15
Oth [4] 111/15
125/3 127/3
128/16

A

A-L-M-A [1] 76/14

A-N-G-E-L-I-C-A
[1] 38/17

a.m [4] 1/15 77/1
132/6 132/7

ability [1]

51/10
1/15

106/2

5/7

able [7] 11/19
17/4 17/25 72/2
77/18 104/25

120/11
about [93]
Above [1] 130/21
access [1] 77/16

accurate [15]
10/12 87/3 101/2
112/22 113/20
116/6 122/17
122/19 122/24
123/15 123/18
124/17 124/25
125/14 134/12

accurately [3]
5/6 80/4 124/23

acknowledged [1]
122/1

across [5] 40/15
46/24 48/8 71/13
106/2

actual [1] 44/6

actually [26]
24/20 26/21 34/4
36/5 41/5 43/25
47/13 48/15 53/19
65/11 66/24 100/1
100/7 100/25
101/22 105/8
112/14 112/25
115/6 115/16
119/1 119/12
120/8 125/11
125/14 129/19

add [5] 130/1
130/18 131/1
131/3 131/5

adding [1] 130/14

addition [15]

15/6 20/15 27/20

37/11 49/11 54/7
62/6 67/22 75/8
83/3 88/1 97/24
108/13 129/7
132/20
additional [14]
15/8 20/17 27/22
37/13 49/13 54/9
62/8 67/24 75/10
83/5 88/3 98/1
108/15 129/9
Additionally [Z2]
6/6 130/4
addresses [1]
128/16
administration [1]
135/15
admirable [1]
48/22
admonished [1]
129/19
admonition [30]
13/13 15/4 15/10
20/13 20/19 27/18
27/24 37/9 37/15
49/9 49/15 54/5
54/11 62/4 62/10
67/20 68/1 75/6
75/12 83/1 83/7
87/24 88/5 97/22
98/3 108/11
108/17 126/19
129/5 129/11
advised [16] 7/1
16/1 21/12 28/12
38/6 50/9 55/1
55/11 62/25 68/16
76/3 84/1 88/21
89/7 98/17 109/12
advisement [17]
7/8 16/8 21/19
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A

advisement. ..
28/19 38/13
50/16 55/8 63/7
63/10 68/23 76/10
84/8 89/3 89/5
89/14 98/24
109/19

adviser [1] 48/3

affirm [1] 135/4

AFFIRMATION [1]
135/1

afraid [1]

African [1]

after [27]
13/4 14/13
35/11 44/8
44/24 45/1
61/7 66/20
73/1 73/20 74/20
78/5 94/15 95/21
104/23 111/14
115/4 129/25
130/12 130/18
131/3 131/4

again [12] 34/18
74/11 74/16 85/9
92/16 107/9 124/5
124/12 124/17
124/21 125/22
131/16

against [4]
13/12 126/18

[14]

44/18
47/14
12/25
26/8
44/11
45/5
67/3

13/10

132/10
age [1] 73/16
aggressive [1]
65/24
aggressor [1]
41/5
ago [2] 103/5
116/13

agree [3] 112/12
118/24 119/10

ahead [3] 74/6
83/15 83/16

aisle [2] 71/2
71/7

aisleway [1]
91/20

aka [1] 1/8

ALEXANDER [39]
1/8 1/8 5/12 5/17
7/7 10/20 12/3
12/9 12/20 12/25
13/10 13/12 14/8
14/14 16/7 21/18
28/18 38/12 50/15
55/7 63/6 68/22
76/9 84/7 89/2
89/13 98/23

109/18
120/16
120/20
121/12
123/11
126/15

120/5
120/18
121/7
123/9
125/20
132/11

all [54]

Alma [3] 75/20
76/14 T76/17

almost [7] 8/2
41/17 46/11 52/16
57/3 105/10
115/13

already [11l] 6/3
6/4 6/8 6/9 53/12
110/20 121/12
122/6 124/14
125/8 129/18

also [18] 2/20
6/10 19/2 25/14
25/19 67/1 86/12
113/12 117/25

117/25 118/5
118/10 120/6
120/15 124/9
125/2 129/22

130/7
always [1] 124/5
am [2] 7/25 41/23
amend [2] 130/13
132/3
American [1]
47/14
amount [4] 81/22

81/23 122/18
123/14

and/or [8] 130/15
130/15 130/22
130/22 130/23
131/3 131/5 131/5

Angelica [4]
37/21 38/17 38/20
48/20

angle [3] 102/3
104/5 115/13

another [7] 8/18
44/15 85/9 108/24
113/7 113/11
115/7

answer [2] 22/23
22/23

answers [1] 6/14

Antonacci [7]
1/25 5/4 134/6
134/17 134/18
135/18 135/21

any [58]

anybody [3] 46/21
49/20 106/4

anymore [1] 74/21

anyone [18] 6/4

6/11 14/24 20/8
27/13 37/4 46/21
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A

anyone... [11]
49/4 53/25 61/24
67/16 75/2 82/21
87/20 97/17 108/7
128/25 130/6

anything [34]
14/17 14/24 19/13
19/15 20/8 27/13
33/3 37/4 40/11
47/23 49/4 53/25
58/11 58/12 59/18
60/9 60/25 61/24
67/16 70/20 70/22
72/12 72/18 72/19
74/21 75/2 82/21
87/20 93/25 96/4
97/17 104/17
108/7 128/25

anyway [1] 102/3

apartment [1]
14/15

apologize [5]
29/17 51/15
112/20 120/14
131/19

appear [2]
117/12

appeared [5]
94/24 94/25 95/1
96/11 113/9

46/20

appears [2] 113/1
114/12

application [1]
135/15

appointment [1]
48/11

approached [1]
17/20

approaching [1]
106/20

approximate [1]
81/23
approximately [2]
91/14 120/6
are [107]
area [10] 51/13
51/17 53/10 79/11
80/8 113/21
113/25 114/5
114/25 116/9
Armando [2]
115/16 115/22
Armando's [2]
115/20 116/19
around [19] 17/8
35/16 39/9 40/8
40/9 40/9 43/6
44/9 47/17 48/17
56/13 56/18 59/20
64/5 64/9 69/17
71/13 77/1 82/13
arrange [1]
118/22
arrest [2]
119/6
arrested [4] 9/10
9/11 9/12 128/15
as [67]
Asia [1] 130/5
Asian [4] 39/18
59/1 60/9 77/25
ask [27] 9/13
10/4 10/15 11/22
17/3 22/22 36/3
45/25 46/14 46/14
46/18 70/24 79/17
119/23 119/25
121/13 122/13
123/23 124/15
125/2 126/2
129/21 129/23

119/5

129/23 130/4
130/13 130/18

asked [11] 13/25
17/22 44/12 46/17
56/4 58/25 59/1
65/21 66/16 77/16
112/14

asking [5] 5/23
17/21 42/17 65/17
90/12

assault [16] 7/6
16/6 21/17 28/17
38/11 50/14 55/6
63/5 68/21 76/8
84/6 89/1 89/12
98/22 109/17

132/15

assigned [2] 5/12
110/10

Assistant [1] 2/6

associated [2]
113/2 113/13

ATM [1] 33/5

attempt [18] 7/5
16/5 21/16 28/16
38/10 50/13 55/5
63/4 68/20 T76/7
84/5 88/25 89/11
98/21 109/16
129/24 130/1
132/14

attention [13]
8/6 17/7 22/12
29/9 51/9 52/14
53/3 53/16 55/25
64/1 91/4 97/6
99/14

attentive [1]
48/22

Attorney [3]
2/22 132/9

2/21
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A

attorneys [1]
5/11
audible [1] 71/18
August [4] 5/18
121/1 121/2 123/7
August 12th [1]
121/1
August
5/18
August

13 [1]

25th [2]
121/2 123/7

auto [1] 48/3

automatic [6]
41/6 41/6 41/20
42/2 44/12 57/22

aware [2] 85/1
99/23
away [8] 26/22

52/10 53/16 70/13
105/9 105/23
111/19 121/23

B

B-R-I-A-U-N-A [2]
54/17 55/17

baby [3] 34/25
47/4 60/11

back [42] 5/18
5/18 8/6 8/17
10/21 13/1 13/5
14/14 15/15 17/24
18/25 32/6 32/12
32/12 33/22 35/12
39/24 39/25 42/4
42/13 47/22 47/23
48/12 52/15 52/21
57/6 58/20 58/24
61/5 61/12 61/13
66/21 78/17 85/9
94/11 95/4 95/12

103/3 105/18
107/25 115/4
115/18
backdrop [1]
backpack [2]
124/8 124/9
backwards [1]
106/23
Bad [1] 112/20
bag [6] 42/24
43/2 43/5 43/7
73/25 74/8
bags [4] 43/1
74/11 74/12 74/14
ball [1] 96/6
bandanna [21]
30/25 31/23 40/15
43/21 43/21 45/12
56/18 57/5 58/14
58/24 59/20 65/4
65/11 77/21 82/3
96/6 96/7 123/11
124/6 126/7 127/7
Bandannas [1]
70/6
BARBARA [2]
2/14
barrel [2]
58/3
baseball [2]
40/16 40/18
Based [1] 13/25
basic [1] 115/15
basically [2]
96/17 102/4
be [75]
beanies [2]
70/5
bear [1] 90/8
bearing [1]
111/16

10/4

2/6

41/21

70/5

beauty [2] 60/18
124/2

became [1] 111/23

because [42] 17/2

18/24 19/3 33/17
34/19 42/16 45/3
45/5 46/4 46/8
46/12 48/8 48/10
52/9 52/15 52/21
53/4 56/22 64/9
65/5 65/22 85/10
87/7 90/1 90/6
91/20 93/13 96/5
103/2 104/6
104/14 107/23
107/24 111/14
113/8 115/15
121/10 122/5
123/1 123/15
124/7 125/11
become [2] 9/7
110/24
becomes [1]
beeline [3]
93/15 94/7
been [36] 5/5 6/8
6/9 6/10 7/16 8/1
16/20 22/5 29/2
38/21 46/5 46/6
51/2 55/20 63/19
66/21 69/6 73/5
74/3 T76/18 84/16
89/24 90/23 99/7
99/21 101/8 101/9
105/3 105/8
105/19 110/2
110/13 120/5
121/11 129/19
132/10
before [42] ©6/12
6/20 14/25 15/20

123/1
91/22
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B

before... [38]
20/9 21/6 22/23
27/14 28/7 37/5
37/25 48/10 49/5
50/3 51/22 52/11
52/16 54/1 54/21
61/25 62/19 64/8
64/11 67/16 68/10
75/2 75/23 82/22
83/20 87/20 88/15
97/18 98/12
102/14 108/7
109/6 129/1
129/24 130/1
131/5 132/22
134/8

before—-entitled
[1] 134/8

behind [19] 30/8
51/18 52/10 53/12
53/13 70/22 77/11
81/4 92/19 92/20
100/8 102/5
102/24 103/2
104/4 104/7
105/10 105/18
125/13

being [10] 8/19
9/1 10/6 31/18
90/7 100/15
100/23 102/17
111/2 125/25

belief [1] 120/22

believe [16] 5/20
12/7 12/22 14/16
19/25 36/24 47/16
52/8 70/16 71/11
72/8 81/24 82/2
119/2 127/14
131/7

bell [2] 101/10
101/11
bells [1] 29/23

belongings [7]
45/18 46/25 47/1
66/18 66/20 71/3
71/8

bent [1]

beside [2]
52/22

besides [1]

best [1] 5/7

better [3] 114/21
117/1 123/25

96/13
52/17

33/3

between [2] 53/2
57/21
big [5] 24/24

24/24 40/1 74/8
74/17

bill [6] 5/17
5/21 6/4 48/8
48/9 132/10

bit [7] 17/24
30/4 41/12 65/1
99/21 107/11
123/2

black [33] 18/11
23/21 30/12 30/13
39/18 39/19 40/14
41/22 41/22 42/2
47/11 52/5 52/7
52/7 52/8 56/18
57/5 57/11 57/12
57/15 57/16 57/18
58/8 58/14 58/24
59/20 60/7 64/23
69/25 73/24 T77/24
78/1 97/13

blond [1] 53/2

Blondish [1] 53/1

blue [4] 40/14

43/1 43/1 43/7
body [3] 24/15
24/22 26/25
book [1] 127/14
born [1] 128/4
both [30] 7/11
16/15 18/4 19/6
21/25 28/22 36/9
38/16 39/22 40/5
40/7 40/25 41/2
50/19 55/15 56/19
61/13 63/13 65/21
69/1 70/16 71/4
73/23 76/13 84/11
90/18 99/2 109/22
123/4 127/5

bottom [2] 57/5
81/12
Boulder [10] 8/8

8/9 10/5 10/23
10/25 11/25 12/8
118/9 121/20
122/11

Boulevard [1]
12/7

boyfriend [2]
12/23 12/24

boys [1] 29/24

brandishing [2]
91/16 91/17

break [5] 32/24
32/25 49/20 49/21
108/24

Briauna [5] 49/19
54/17 55/16 55/19
61/17

bridge [3] 96/7
96/7 96/18

BRIGITTE [1] 2/12

bringing [2] 6/6

8/17
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B
brings [1] 56/15
brown [13] 2/6

41/17 41/18 42/5
42/6 47/15 52/19
57/17 57/17 58/1
58/7 72/15 74/12
buddies [1]

115/17
build [2] 39/21
40/ 3
built [1] 30/5
bullets [1] 58/4
BURGER [1] 2/7

burglary [16] 7/3
16/3 21/14 28/14
38/8 50/11 55/3
63/2 68/18 76/5
84/3 88/23 89/9
98/19 109/14
132/12

business [8] 19/9
25/8 25/9 64/17
85/12 85/15 123/1
124/23

businesses [1]

114/5

busy [2] 19/4
94/6

buy [1] 74/16

C

C-A-N-G [1] 16/17

C-E-R-V-A-N-T-E-S
[2] 63/16 130/19
C.C.R [3] 1/25
134/6 134/18
Cc308719 [1] 1/7
call [1] 6/15
called [1] 70/6
calling [1] 106/2

calls [2] 49/19
49/24

came [27] ©9/18
12/9 32/12 35/3
39/23 39/25 40/12
41/1 41/3 42/4
44/8 52/1 52/14
52/15 56/17 66/12
66/21 70/1 70/12
70/19 77/12 85/9
86/20 93/11
102/14 116/14
124/6

camera [8]
87/7 106/25
114/19 114/23
116/2 116/19
116/20

cameras [2]
114/20

can [35] 13/13
14/19 23/20 23/24
24/23 30/24 31/11
39/20 46/9 46/23
47/17 53/15 56/20
56/23 64/22 65/2
65/24 69/24 70/3
72/20 74/11 74/18
79/9 92/11 92/13
92/13 96/2 100/25
103/23 103/25
107/18 115/3

86/20

78/21

115/3 115/14
131/3
can't [11] 30/18

40/7 40/16 43/12
56/21 57/18 57/24
71/13 104/17
106/16 127/1

Cang [4] 16/17
16/19 23/7 130/2

cannot [2] 13/10
100/11

cap [3] 40/1¢6
40/18 96/6

car [47]

card [3] 33/5
66/11 72/9

cards [10] 33/6
33/7 44/2 59/7
66/3 66/3 66/5
66/6 130/23 131/3

CARPENTER [1] 2/8

cars [1] 61/3

case [9] 5/13
12/13 110/17
125/10 131/23
132/1 132/4
132/16 135/4

cash [13] 26/18
27/7 32/18 33/7
44/6 44/7 66/8
66/10 72/10 72/11
80/24 94/11 102/5

cashed [2] 44/3
44/5
cashier [4] 77/8

94/8 94/12 103/10
casino [4] 8/20
10/19 13/1 13/2

catch [2] 111/18
111/19

caught [1] 102/4

cause [2] 36/1¢6
65/17

causes [5] 17/16

39/10 64/12 69/18
77/9
CELIA [1] 2/5
cell [19] 17/22
25/14 25/15 25/17
25/21 29/24 31/21
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C

cell... [12] 32/4
32/9 33/2 33/3
33/5 36/12 66/2
116/20 128/12
130/24 130/25
131/3

Cent [1] 74/15

center [29] 15/6
15/9 20/15 20/18
27/20 27/23 37/11
37/14 49/11 49/14
54/7 54/10 62/6
62/9 67/22 67/25
73/9 75/8 7T75/11
83/3 83/6 88/1
88/4 97/24 98/2
108/13 108/16
129/7 129/10

certain [3]
97/7 128/16

CERTIFICATE [1]
134/1

certified [1]
111/2

certify [1]

Cervantes [8]
62/15 63/15 63/18
63/25 68/6 73/15
130/19 130/20

chair [3] 33/23
46/10 75/18

66/13

134/7

chairs [1l] 36/17
chance [1] 80/11
change [6] 12/16

27/8 123/14
123/15 123/18
132/1

changed [3] 10/20
12/5 13/1
changes [1] 131/7

charger [1] 43/24
charges [6] 5/20
5/22 5/23 5/23
6/7 6/9
charging [1]
132/11
Charleston [10]
17/9 22/16 29/11
39/6 56/2 64/2
69/14 113/15
113/16 123/24
Chased [1] 103/21
check [2] 48/6
48/ 7
checking [1]
checks [1]
CHEEVER [1]
chest [1]
Chief [1]
child [2]
121/11
chin [1]
Chinese [1] 59/21
chips [1] 104/7
chronologically
[1] 122/12
clarify [2]
82/2
clarity [1] ©5/22
CLARK [36] 1/2
8/8 15/5 15/8
17/10 20/14 20/17
27/19 27/22 37/10
37/13 39/7 49/10
49/13 54/6 54/9
62/5 62/8 64/2
67/21 67/24 69/15
75/7 75/10 77/4
83/2 83/5 87/25
88/3 97/23 98/1
108/12 108/15

93/2
66/8
2/9
32/18
2/21
120/7

96/10

45/9

129/6 129/9 134/4

clear [2] 121/24
127/8

clearly [1l] 96/24

clerk [1] 105/8

clerk's [1] 102/2

close [6] 56/13

64/6 64/7 64/9

93/19 115/15
closer [3] 66/24

66/25 104/12

closing [1] 56/13

clothes [3] 10/21
12/5 12/16

clothing [5] 40/1

40/2 40/6 40/7
74/17
co [1] 126/18
co—defendants [1]
126/18
coffee [2]
80/8
coin [1] 97/12
collected [6]
18/4 19/10 19/12
25/4 27/8 44/9
collecting [3]
19/1 19/4 26/1
color [9] 11/14
11/16 11/17 30/10
31/1 41/14 41/17
52/19 52/23
colors [1l] 70/9
come [11] 9/4
9/13 45/8 51/21
61/7 71/19 75/17
89/25 96/9 105/16
127/13
comfortable [1]
103/24
comic [1]

79/11

127/14
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C

coming [7] 45/17
48/12 69/25 90/5
92/4 102/4 103/1

command [1] 45/15
commands [1]

45/12
comment [1l] 74/3
commit [17] 5/24

7/5 16/5 21/16
28/16 38/10 50/13
55/5 63/4 68/20
76/7 84/5 88/25
89/11 98/21
109/16 132/14
community [1]
52/12
company [1l] 94/4
completely [1]
124/13
complexion [1]
30/15
complied [1]
94/14
comply [14] 15/4
20/13 27/18 37/9
49/9 54/5 62/4
67/20 75/6 83/1
87/24 97/22
108/11 129/5
computer [2]
85/10 100/8
concluded [1]
133/5
concludes [2]
129/17 131/23
conducting [1]
92/17
confer [1]
confirm [1]
confirmed [1]

109/1
11/19

12/18

conformance [1]
132/17

confuse [1]

confused [1]
117/22

consider [2]
126/14

consideration [1]
74/5

considered [1]
126/15

consistent [1]
12/12

conspiracy [17]
5/24 7/4 16/4
21/15 28/15 38/9
50/12 55/4 63/3
68/19 76/6 84/4
88/24 89/10 98/20
109/15 132/13

constant [1]

96/14

36/4

93/19
constitutes [1]
134/12
contact [1l] 93/20
contain [1] 135/8
Contains [1]
135/11

contempt [14]
15/7 20/16 27/21
37/12 49/12 54/8
62/7 67/23 75/9
83/4 88/2 97/25
108/14 129/8

contents [2]
124/8 130/16

context [1]
126/17

contrary [1]
126/20

convenience [4]
122/21 123/3
123/10 124/24

copies [2] 116/4
116/7

copy [1] 111/2

corner [4] 73/8

79/12 81/12 103/3

correct [45] 8/9
8/21 9/2 9/3
12/19 13/17 13/23
13/24 14/2 14/5
23/11 27/6 41/23
42/3 42/7 45/14
46/3 82/11 86/16
89/25 91/25 92/5
93/12 100/21
102/9 106/21
113/4 114/4
114/15 114/19
114/23 116/14
116/15 118/7
119/16 119/17
123/21 125/18
125/25 126/11
127/9 127/12
131/2 131/21
132/24

correctly [2]
14/3 114/2

corroborate [1]
12/11

could [34] 5/22
18/12 22/23 28/4
30/2 31/23 34/6
39/17 47/9 47/13
52/9 60/19 61/4
62/16 65/5 73/16
77/16 77/25 78/3
88/12 91/12 94/24
95/11 95/13 95/14
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could... [9] 96/3
9¢/4 96/25 97/1
97/6 105/19
106/22 107/21
131/21

couldn't [9] 45/5
45/7 45/8 46/11
77/17 96/25 104/6
104/8 117/8

Count [10] 5/24
129/23 130/5
130/7 130/12
130/17 130/21
130/24 131/4
131/20

Count 1 [1] 5/24
Count 10 [1]
129/23
Count 11 [1]
130/5
Count 9 [1] 130/7

counter [15]
33/24 33/25 34/7
34/8 77/11 77/15
94/8 94/19 101/22
102/2 102/5
102/24 103/10
104/12 105/10
counter's [1]

34/2

counts [6] 5/25
6/2 6/3 6/6 6/7
6/9

COUNTY [36] 1/2
8/8 15/6 15/8
17/10 20/15 20/17
27/20 27/22 37/11
37/13 39/7 49/11
49/13 54/7 54/9
62/6 62/8 64/3

67/22 67/24 69/15
75/8 75/10 77/5
83/3 83/5 88/1
88/3 97/24 98/1
108/13 108/15
129/7 129/9 134/4

couple [1] 48/10

course [3] 85/15
94/21 95/8

court [1l6] 1/1

15/7 20/16 27/21
37/12 49/12 54/8
62/7 67/23 T75/9
83/4 88/2 97/25
108/14 129/8
135/23

cover [1] 18/2

covered [15] 30/6
30/22 64/23 64/24
65/8 65/10 70/1
70/1 70/3 T70/7
73/20 77/19 96/16
96/19 122/6

covering [8] 18/1
24/3 24/7 43/7
65/2 70/8 77/21
82/3

covers [1] 18/7
cowboy [1l] 58/5
Craig [11] 101/6

101/7 101/10
101/12 103/1
103/4 103/7 103/7
103/14 103/18
105/8

credit [7] 33/5
33/7 44/2 59/7
66/3 130/23 131/3

crimes [2] 8/12
132/12
curious [2] 920/5

90/11
curls [1] 40/20
curly [2] 47/12
47/15

currency [3] 44/6
130/9 130/22

custodian [1]
83/13

custody [3]
118/20 119/15
125/8

customer [4]
23/18 29/13
101/17 101/20

customers [10]
17/18 25/5 25/19
26/2 27/9 35/1
35/2 44/9 70/20
70/25

cylinder [1] 58/6

D

D-A-V-I-D [1]
109/24

D-O0-U-G-L-A-S [1]
99/4

Danette [7] 1/25

5/4 134/6 134/17
134/18 135/18
135/21

dark [10] 18/18
30/10 53/2 96/5
96/8 96/17 97/1
°97/7 97/9 97/11

darker [3] 30/10
40/5 97/9

dash [1] 130/18

date [9] 19/23
20/2 20/3 86/3
86/24 87/9 111/18
113/21 135/19
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Dated [1] 134/14

dating [2] 120/5
121/11

David [2] 109/23
110/1

day [12] 10/5

17/17 27/7 52/3
54/15 56/1 78/25
82/12 111/19
119/7 119/8
129/15

days [16] 15/8
20/17 27/22 37/13
49/13 54/9 62/8
67/24 75/10 83/5
85/11 85/19 88/3
98/1 108/15 129/9

DC [1] 1/7

deadly [48]

dealership [1]
48/4

debit [2] 66/5
66/11

defendant [1]
126/14

defendants [3]
1/10 126/18
132/10

definitely [4]
41/9 74/19 102/20
104/21

delay [1] 109/2

deliberate [1]
81/8

deliberations [1]
132/23

demand [4] 42/8
58/11 93/25 130/3

demanded [4]

19/14 25/15 45/17

58/13

demanding [1]
66/13

denied [2]
14/12

Department [2]
7/24 110/10

depict [1]

depicted [9]
11/18 85/23 92/2
93/7 93/18 113/2
114/17 117/4
117/13

depiction [2]
10/12 31/7

depictions [4]
87/3 101/3 113/21
116/6

depicts [1]
100/20

deputy [4] 2/4
2/21 2/22 5/11

derives [1]
127/15

describe [22]
23/20 23/24 24/23
30/2 30/3 30/24
31/4 31/11 39/20
47/9 52/18 52/25
56/20 56/22 56/23
64/22 65/2 70/4
79/9 96/2 107/18
127/9

described [6]
35/15 53/20 78/18
92/4 126/25 127/1

describing [1]

14/4

80/4

80/1

description [1]
122/25

detail [1] 122/4

details
122/17
122/24
124/17

detective [1l1]
6/16 7/23 85/8
85/9 108/23 109/1
110/9 110/21
121/21 122/5
127/25

detectives [1]
87/5

Detention [28]
15/6 15/9 20/15
20/18 27/20 27/23
37/11 37/14 49/11
49/14 54/7 54/10
62/6 62/9 67/22
67/25 75/8 75/11
83/3 83/6 88/1
88/4 97/24 98/2
108/13 108/16
129/7 129/10

determine [1]

[5]
122/20
123/18

119/20
DIANA [1] 2/18
did [220]
didn't [36] 19/3

19/15 25/16 35/23
36/1 36/2 42/18
42/19 46/14 46/14
46/22 47/23 47/24
52/14 55/9 59/2
60/9 73/1 73/9
73/21 73/22 T74/20
92/24 93/11 95/21
96/9 107/23
111/18 117/22
121/9 122/3 123/6
123/7 124/7 126/4
132/1
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difference [1]
57/21

different [11]
70/10 71/5 71/10
100/3 110/16
114/20 114/23
115/13 117/9
121/25 131/19

direct [9] 8/6
22/12 29/9 51/9
55/25 91/4 93/19
94/7 99/14

directing [2]
17/7 63/25

direction [3]
72/24 95/16
134/11

directly [1]
46/24

disclosing [14]
14/24 20/8 27/13
37/4 49/4 53/25
61/24 67/15 75/1
82/21 87/19 97/17
108/6 128/25

discovered [2]
91/21 91/21

discussed [2]
115/14 123/8

display [1]

disregard [1]
74/ 2

distinct [1]
114/17

district [5] 1/1
2/21 2/22 5/11
132/8

dividers [1]
104/6

DMV [3]

19/3

11/9

111/2 112/7
do [143]
does [18] ©6/4
6/11 49/20 85/6
85/12 86/3 92/20
101/10 101/10
103/14 112/7
11774 117/12
126/8 127/13
130/6 135/4 135/8
doesn't [1] 920/8
dogs [1] 53/9
doing [18] 25/24
25/24 32/3 33/14
33/16 34/22 36/23
44/16 45/16 46/8
46/9 47/3 51/17
71/11 101/19
101/20 120/23
131/25
dollar [5] 27/7
51/11 111/14
118/6 125/3
dollars [1l] 81/24
don't [31] 11/17
12/22 21/20 24/17
25/12 26/5 30/7
31/12 35/7 52/8
52/24 56/11 58/17
58/18 65/22 65/22
70/5 70/11 72/18
80/12 85/11 89/18
94/17 95/15 101/6
105/20 106/1
106/22 112/14
120/12 127/22
done [7] 46/24
56/2 56/3 56/5
56/8 60/8 69/20
door [20] 18/3
19/1 29/22 34/1

34/2 34/4 34/6
45/2 45/4 45/5
52/20 66/24 73/6
73/7 94/22 95/2
102/4 102/6
105/22 106/8

doors [1l] 95/5

double [1] 40/7

Doug [1] 107/16

Douglas [3] 98/8
99/3 99/6

down [21] 18/10
26/4 26/5 26/6
29/15 30/18 34/22
34/23 39/14 40/15
44/13 45/7 56/16
64/17 65/12 71/2
71/7 81/9 81/12
100/11 134/7

drag [2] 104/4
106/1

drawer [8] 25/5
25/6 25/8 25/16
58/16 58/20 59/22
59/25

drawn [1] 53/3

driver [5] 121/18
123/20 124/12
124/22 125/21

driver's [3]
44/1 66/6

driving [4]
100/19 106/13
117/20 117/21

dropped [5] 72/16
72/16 124/3
125/10 125/17

33/9

drove [1] 14/15

drugs [2] 73/19
74/3

duly [15] 5/5
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duly. ..
16/20
38/21
63/19
84/16
110/2

dumb [1] 42/22

during [12] 19/5
19/18 26/17 71/25
72/19 94/2 122/22
123/4 123/4
123/16 124/18
127/6

E

E—-S—-P-I-N-O—-Z-A
[1] 28/24

E-V-A-N-G—-E-L—-I-N-

A [1] 28/24

each [4] 70/16
70/17 71/24 T71/25

EARL [2] 1/8 5/13

earlier [8] 91/12
92/23 93/10 103/8
106/11 106/15
111/21 129/19

[14] 7/16
22/5 29/2
51/2 55/20
69/6 76/18
90/23 99/7

early [2] 11/4
85/4
east [18] 17/9

22/16 29/11 39/6
51/11 56/2 64/2
69/14 77/2 84/24
91/7 99/16 102/23
103/16 113/16
122/13 123/24
124/16

EDMOND [1] 2/3
EDWARD [1] 2/4
eight [1] 46/5
EIGHTH [1] 1/1

either [4] 12/22
41/14 46/20 48/6

ELLIOTT [1] 2/10
ELLIS [1] 2/5
else [10] 14/17

24/6 33/3 45/6
46/21 59/18 60/25
66/11 72/19 106/4
employed [1]
17/13
employee [2]
44/16 101/8
employees [1]
36/21
end [16] 10/1
34/21 40/12 40/17
40/18 41/3 44/14
56/21 58/23 58/25
60/8 61/17 79/13
79/18 102/1

120/23

ended [2] 42/14
48/11

English [1] 65/22

enter [2] 23/19
80/17

entered [6] 80/22

91/15 91/16 91/17
96/12 96/21
entering [2]
92/16 92/18
entire [1]
entitled [1]
134/8
entrance [2]
52/11 52/16
Espinoza [4]
28/23 28/24 29/1
36/21
establishment [3]
85/6 86/1 100/21

94/ 3

estimate [1]
73/16

ethnicity [4]
96/3 97/1 107/19
128/20

Evangelina [2]
28/23 29/1

even [4] 17/4
96/9 105/25
128/16

evening [5] 17/15
56/12 64/5 69/18
80/5

event [14] 15/1
20/10 27/15 37/6
49/6 54/2 62/1
67/18 75/4 82/23
87/22 97/19 108/9
129/2

events [2] 80/5
126/17

eventually [1]
60/2

ever [2] 13/18
126/2

every [2] 100/5
100/8

everybody [8]
24/9 35/23 42/11
42/12 43/3 45/5
66/18 96/22

everybody's [2]
43/3 45/18

everyone [2]
13/13 26/8

everyone's [1]
58/23

everything [14]
30/17 33/16 36/17
42/12 43/4 44/1
44/4 47/24 58/17
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everything... [5]
66/11 77/13
100/11 124/7
124/25

evidence [21]
6/4 14/25 20/9
27/14 37/5 49/5
51/24 54/1 61/25
67/17 75/3 82/22
87/21 89/17 97/18
108/8 126/13
126/18 129/1
129/17

exact [2]
81/22

exactly [6] 25/12
56/11 90/3 115/17
123/12 124/7

EXAMINATION [14]
7/20 16/23 22/9
29/6 38/25 51/6
55/23 63/22 69/10
76/22 84/20 91/1
99/11 110/6

6/2

40/3

Examined [1] 3/2

except [2] 96/20
115/15

excuse [2] 73/25
131/9

excused [14]
15/13 20/22 28/2
37/18 49/18 54/14
62/13 68/4 75/15
83/10 88/8 98/6
108/20 129/14

Exhibit [31] 5/19
10/8 10/10 11/6
79/6 79/18 79/19
79/20 79/20 79/21
79/21 79/22 79/23

80/7 80/20 80/21
81/4 92/3 100/20
106/11 106/20
107/2 111/1 113/2
114/22 116/16
117/14 117/17
118/16 129/19
129/20
Exhibit
129/19
Exhibit
129/20
Exhibit 23 [2]
11/6 111/1
Exhibit 24 [2]
10/10 118/16
Exhibit 26 [2]
113/2 117/14
Exhibit 43 [1]
107/2
Exhibit 44 [1]
106/20
Exhibit
100/20
Exhibit
116/16
Exhibit
114/22
Exhibit
117/17
Exhibit
79/23
Exhibit
79/22
Exhibit
81/4
Exhibit
79/21
Exhibit
79/21
Exhibit

1 [1]

1A [1]

45 [1]

46 [1]
48 [1]
53 [1]
6—-0 [1]
67 [1]
68 [1]
69 [1]
70 [1]

71 [3]

79/20 80/21 92/3
Exhibit 72 [1]
79/20
Exhibit 73 [2]
79/19 80/20
Exhibit 74 [2]
79/18 80/7
Exhibité68 [1]
79/22
EXHIBITS [9] 4/1
4/3 85/21 86/12
100/13 111/25
113/17 114/18
115/10
exit [2]
132/6
exited [10] 12/5
12/6 12/6 94/20
94/21 94/21 94/25
95/1 95/7 95/10
expecting [1]
39/12
explain [4]
92/13 119/4
124/11
eye [1] 93/19
eyebrows [4] 46/9
56/3 56/8 56/16

104/16

92/11

eyes [2] 65/5
96/18

F

face [27] 18/3

18/4 18/15 18/19
18/20 23/21 23/25
24/6 30/8 30/9
30/22 31/4 43/7
43/9 43/21 56/18
58/15 59/20 64/24
65/3 65/6 65/7
65/11 70/1 77/21

2 AA 150



151

F

face... [2] 91/23
123/11

faces [9] 17/25

18/1 40/11 70/3
70/4 73/16 77/18
77/19 104/17
facet [1] 8/18
facing [1] 95/17
fact [13] 8/25
13/20 81/18 86/3
90/7 94/1 94/2
96/15 99/23
114/16 114/22
123/15 127/16
Failure [14] 15/4
20/13 27/18 37/9
49/9 54/5 62/4
67/20 75/6 83/1
87/24 97/22
108/11 129/5
fair [6] 10/12
87/3 101/2 112/22
113/20 116/6

fairly [1] 80/4
faithfully [1]
5/5

familiar [6]
41/12 46/21 46/22
99/19 105/1
120/18

Family [4] 51/11
111/14 118/6
125/3

far [9] 13/16
40/12 40/17 41/3
56/21 61/17 103/3
103/16 126/9

fat [1] 39/21

fault [1] 117/24

federal [2]

135/12 135/15
feet [3] 29/16
56/5 102/6
FELICIA [1] 2/16
feloniously [1]
129/25
female [6] 9/1
47/11 104/15
111/16 111/19
128/21
females [1]
fetal [2]
44/24
few [1]
filed [1] 135/4
£ill [1] 78/8
filming [2]
115/16 115/1¢6
fine [28] 15/6
15/8 20/15 20/17
27/20 27/22 37/11
37/13 49/11 49/13
54/7 54/9 62/6
62/8 67/22 67/24
75/8 75/10 83/3
83/5 88/1 88/3
97/24 98/1 108/13
108/15 129/7
129/9
firearm [19] 7/3
13/21 16/3 21/14
28/14 38/8 50/11
55/3 63/2 68/18
76/5 84/3 88/23
89/9 91/16 91/18
98/19 109/14

57/9
44/21

87/12

132/12

first [68]

five [2] 36/25
41/21

flip [1] 97/12

floor [9] 34/23
44/23 44/23 47/4
47/4 58/21 65/21
67/1 67/2

focus [1] 5/24

focusing [1]
113/8

follow [3]
95/9 126/19

followed [2]
94/22 95/8

following [3]
27/3 52/7

follows [14] 7/18
16/22 22/7 29/4
38/23 51/4 55/22
63/21 69/8 76/20
84/18 90/25 99/9
110/4

foot [3] 40/8
73/4 125/15

footage [1l] 79/24

Ford [16] 11/13
52/19 110/24
111/3 111/16
111/16 112/5
112/23 112/25
113/1 114/12
115/18 116/22
121/19 124/21

13/13

5/6

125/9
foregoing [1]
134/11
forehead [1]
96/18

Foreperson [16]
2/3 2/4 7/16
16/20 22/5 29/2
38/21 51/2 55/20
63/19 69/6 76/18
84/16 90/23 99/7

2 AA 151



152

F

Foreperson... [1]
110/2
Forgive [1]
forth [1]
forward [1]
122/12
four [8] 36/24
36/25 48/15 52/20
100/3 121/19

121/19 121/25

20/4
94/11

frame [2] 86/16
107/25

frames [2] 85/25
100/15

free [2] 9/21
119/15

Friday [1] 17/18

fro [1] 73/19

front [34] 8/14

18/3 19/1 32/13
39/23 40/14 40/18
40/21 41/4 41/19
42/1 42/10 42/14
42/16 44/11 44/16
45/2 45/11 46/7
52/17 61/12 61/18
64/19 64/22 65/1
65/15 66/17 66/21
66/23 T73/6 T73/7
100/10 110/15
112/15
froze [1] 70/13
full [6] 40/13
40/19 43/9 43/16
74/9 134/12
fully [1] 94/14
further [17]
19/21 26/13 27/11
45/20 49/2 61/14
61/22 67/11 73/12

82/6 82/19 95/23
97/15 108/2 108/3
127/18 128/23

furthest [1]
101/21

FXYGRM [1] 100/25

G

G-U-T-I-E-R-R-E-Z
[1] 76/15
gained [1]
game [1l] 8/20
gaming [1] 104/5
gas [3] 122/22
123/3 124/24
gave [6] 27/5
42/23 45/12 85/8
97/5 119/18
general [1] 87/11
gentleman [11]
23/9 41/2 41/4
42/13 42/24 44/22
47/3 52/5 53/20
72/17 122/8
gentlemen [21]
5/9 5/16 13/8
14/21 19/22 39/15
39/17 40/25 45/20
67/11 73/13 74/2
77/24 81/7 82/7
87/17 91/13
107/14 108/22
126/12 129/16
Gesturing [1]
18/9
get [31] 25/2
44/12 44/13 44/13
44/17 44/19 44/22
47/3 47/4 47/22
47/23 47/24 53/16
58/21 60/9 60/22

107/11

61/5 61/12 64/16
65/21 65/23 67/1
67/2 81/18 105/12
106/9 111/10
115/4 115/6 119/8
122/3

getting [15]
14/12 39/14 45/10
46/23 56/1 56/3
56/5 56/8 56/16
60/8 69/22 69/23
71/10 107/9
116/24

ghost [1] 57/3

Giancarlo [2]
2/21 5/10

girl [9] 32/10
32/10 34/24 34/25
46/10 47/5 60/11
104/3 104/11

give [57]

given [2]
129/18

giving [3]
71/16 90/13

GJ [1] 1/7

glass [1] 102/2

go [20] 10/2 12/4
30/21 34/22 36/5
36/8 42/15 46/9
53/8 67/4 70/22
73/5 T74/6 T74/15
74/16 83/15 83/16
104/8 118/14
129/23

God [14] ©6/22
15/22 21/8 28/9
38/2 50/5 54/23
62/21 68/12 75/25
83/22 88/17 98/14
109/8

6/10

42/18
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going [37] 6/2
13/11 13/11 13/16
35/16 42/10 42/11
43/3 45/13 46/5
46/6 46/18 52/4
72/25 79/16 79/16
92/11 92/12 94/10
94/11 95/9 95/12
102/5 102/21
104/1 104/13
104/14 105/15
106/10 108/25
110/19 111/10
112/17 119/5
119/6 121/24
122/12

gold [10] 11/5
11/17 52/19
111/16 112/5
115/18 116/22
121/19 124/21
125/9

good [10] 16/25
17/1 39/3 39/4
48/16 48/21 54/15
69/13 107/7
129/15

got [32] 13/5
14/10 14/14 27/5
32/11 32/11 34/24
35/23 36/12 44/21
44/25 47/1 47/7
48/10 57/23 61/11
61/13 65/11 69/19
71/1 73/1 73/1
85/9 93/19 105/10
105/22 111/19
115/18 118/4
123/13 123/14
124/7

gotten [1] 14/8
grab [1] 105/11
grabbed [6] 26/8
43/19 58/22 58/23
105/17 105/23
grabbing [4]
42/15 43/3 43/6
45/18
grand [126]
grant [1] 135/16
graveyard [2]
77/8 103/13
gray [3] 41/16
42/5 72/15
great [2]
48/24
green [1]
grew [2]
48/17
grip [1]
grocery [2]
74/10
gross [14] 15/5
20/14 27/19 37/10
49/10 54/6 62/5
67/21 75/7 83/2
87/25 97/23
108/12 129/6
ground [4] 44/17
44/19 44/22 53/14
guard [4] 77/14
80/10 81/3 82/14
guess [6] 32/13
34/20 40/8 40/10
40/21 85/10
gun [66]
gunman [1]
gunmen [1]
gunpoint [3]
39/16 40/25 105/9
guns [15] 18/22

33/14

103/18
48/17

42/6
43/1

44/15
46/20

24/16
41/14
56/19

41/2 41/12

48/14 48/17

57/13 64/18
64/18 66/16 70/13
70/15 72/12

Gutierrez [4]
75/20 76/14 T76/17
76/25

guy [17] 53/4
53/8 53/10 53/19
57/5 58/22 59/1
60/9 65/12 66/17
72/15 102/4
105/11 105/14
105/15 105/16

105/18
guy's [1] 40/23
guys [8] 29/23

56/17 61/5 65/19
66/25 105/13
105/19 106/18

H

HAAS [1]

had [138]

hadn't [1] 93/12

hair [8] 40/20
40/22 40/23 47/12
47/14 52/23 57/6
107/20

half [7] 30/9
43/20 43/21 65/6
77/21 120/6
121/12

hall [1] 102/11

Halloween [1]
23/25

hand [24] ©6/18
15/18 17/20 17/23
21/4 25/21 28/5
37/23 50/1 54/19

2/11
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H

hand. ..
60/10
75/18

[14]

62/17 68/8

77/13 79/16
83/15 88/13 92/16
98/10 104/7
105/23 109/4
116/21

handcuffs [2]

9/19 118/20
handgun [5] 24/25
31/14 41/8 41/9

57/22
handguns [1]

57/19

handing [1] 25/19

handle [6] 41/18
57/17 57/17 58/2
58/7 72/15

hands [4] 19/3
93/21 96/23 96/23

handwritten [1]
78/8

happen [7] 39/13

41/13 42/10 45/13
52/3 73/15 91/11
happened [21]
12/2 13/3 23/15
29/19 32/8 34/16
35/11 39/12 44/10
53/6 61/9 64/14
67/3 T77/9 101/24
113/11 116/13
122/22 122/23
124/18 124/19
happening [1]
34/12
happens [1] 56/15
hard [2] 40/2
97/11

hardly [2] 96/20

96/20

has [30] 14/25
17/3 18/12 19/20
20/9 24/1 27/14
33/21 37/5 45/19
47/12 49/5 51/24
54/1 58/3 58/4
61/25 67/10 67/16
73/11 75/2 82/6
82/22 87/20 92/15
97/18 99/24 108/7
129/1 132/10

have [84]

haven't [2]
102/10 102/13

having [17] 5/5
7/16 16/20 22/5
29/2 29/15 38/21
51/2 55/20 63/19
69/6 69/20 76/18
84/16 90/23 99/7
110/2

he [218]

he's [7] 42/10
44/19 58/17 82/18
90/5 92/9 101/8

head [1] 81/14

hear [2] 29/22
55/9

heard [7] 5/16

6/3 20/3 51/24
71/12 118/9 130/2
hearing [4] 90/8
90/9 90/10 126/13
heart [3] 24/22
26/21 26/23
heavyset [1]

52/20
height [1] 96/15
held [15] 15/7

20/16 26/24 27/21

37/12 49/12 54/8
62/7 67/23 T75/9
83/4 88/2 97/25
108/14 129/8

help [14] ©6/22
15/22 21/8 28/9
38/2 50/5 54/23
62/21 68/12 75/24
83/21 88/17 98/14
109/8

her [124]

here [51]

hereby [2]
135/4

herself [2]
120/11 120/12

134/7

hide [1] 105/17

Highway [2] 8/9
118/10

him [38] 13/21

25/2 25/11 25/14
27/6 29/24 30/8
34/23 35/20 42/21
42/23 44/17 44/22
52/7 52/10 53/12
53/13 53/13 56/22
58/16 59/1 59/2
64/22 65/10 72/18
77/13 80/9 92/19
92/20 93/24 94/13
95/9 101/12 120/7
121/11 121/11
123/7 125/11

his [48]

Hispanic [7]
30/11 39/18 57/11
77/25 78/20 80/19
97/12

hit [1]

Hold [1]

holding [2]

86/21
117/16
24/18
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H

holding... [1]
82/4

holds [1] 85/11

hollering [1]
94/8

Home [1] 116/3

honest [1] 70/12

honked [2] 53/6
53/7

honking [1] 53/4

hoodie [3] 77/22
81/1 92/22

hooked [1] 100/7

horn [3] 53/4
53/6 53/7

hours [1] 85/4

house [2] 112/15
119/3

housekeeping [1]
5/15

housing [2] 52/6
52/11

how [25] 8/1
12/16 17/13 18/22
24/16 25/11 36/21
45/24 48/5 48/14
52/24 57/13 70/15
72/12 74/8 78/18
81/21 86/21 101/7

110/13 123/12
126/17 126/22
127/21 130/24

however [2] 122/1
127/6
huh [10] 30/16

32/21 33/11 34/9

34/13 35/18 44/7

61/10 86/9 87/13
HULL [1] 2/12
hunching [1]

102/5
hundred [2]
81/24
husband [1] 12/23
hyphen [1] 63/16
hyphenated [1]
130/20

27/ 7

I

I'1l [3] 15/15
79/17 132/20

I'm [32] 5/10
12/23 17/14 19/2
19/2 33/1 34/15
36/10 41/11 45/10
51/19 51/20 52/24
58/25 63/8 70/6
74/6 74/17 78/16
79/16 79/16 89/23
90/5 92/10 100/14
101/11 104/19
106/10 107/9
116/1 117/7 128/7

I've [3] 46/5
46/6 101/9

I-R-A-C-E-M-A [1]
63/15

I-R-A-I-S [1]
69/2

ID [B5]1 44/2 47/22
59/7 66/3 72/8

identification [4]
72/6 126/13
130/23 131/6

identified [2]
4/3 80/7

identify [3]
121/3 121/5 123/7

IDs [2] 33/8 44/1
illegal [1]
105/25

immediately [2]

91/18 94/8
inch [2] 41/21
41/21

incident [34] 8/7
8/15 8/19 10/5
10/15 14/9 19/6
19/18 51/25 78/6
89/18 89/20 90/2
90/7 90/9 90/10
90/14 91/11 91/13
102/9 102/15
102/18 102/25
113/8 113/11
114/14 118/9
122/2 122/11
123/22 124/2
124/16 125/16
125/22

incidents [5]
110/16 119/23
120/9 121/15
125/24

include [1] 132/2

including [15]
14/25 20/9 27/14
37/5 44/10 49/5
54/1 61/25 67/16
75/2 82/22 87/20
97/18 108/7 129/1

INDEX [2] 3/1 4/1

indicate [3] 9/21
12/20 13/18

indicated [4]
124/6 124/21
125/8 134/9

INDICTMENT [11]
1/21 4/4 5/19
5/20 129/20 131/8
131/10 131/14
132/1 132/17
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I

INDICTMENT. ..
132/17
individual [8]
9/5 10/9 31/3
34/3 35/15 94/7
106/14 121/8
individually [1]
71/8
individuals
31/19 71/4
91/15 92/4 92/7
96/3 96/14 103/21
107/19 1lo/14
120/2
information [27]
8/25 12/13 13/22
15/3 20/12 27/17
36/4 37/8 49/8
54/4 62/3 67/19
75/5 82/25 87/23
97/21 108/10
111/20 118/5
118/10 118/13
119/9 121/20
121/22 122/18
125/25 129/4
initial [1]
initially [1]
125/12
inside [8] 8/20
10/21 13/16 99/20
104/5 106/15
123/9 124/22
installed [1]
100/16
installing [1]
100/1
instance [2]
122/20 131/20
instruct [2]

[1]

[12]
80/22

45/12

74/1

132/16
instructed [2]
6/8 6/10
instructions [4]
6/10 6/12 71/17
129/18
insurance [2]
66/6 72/9
interest [5]
11/2 110/24
111/11 111/23
interior [2]
91/19 93/2
internal [1]
114/3
interpreter [2]
16/12 17/3
interview [5] 9/5
10/1 14/17 118/14
123/5
interviewed [2]
10/13 120/25
investigation [37]
6/20 7/2 8/11
9/8 10/24 15/20
l6/2 21/6 21/13
28/7 28/13 37/25
38/7 50/3 50/10
54/21 55/2 55/12
62/19 63/1 68/10
68/17 75/22 76/4
83/19 84/2 88/15
88/22 89/8 98/12
98/18 109/6
109/13 110/23
111/4 113/24
118/8
involve [1] ©6/7
involved [4] 8/11
9/2 102/18 122/2
involvement [3]

9/7

121/13 125/5
126/16

involving [18]

7/6 16/6 21/17
21/22 28/17 38/11
50/14 55/6 63/5
68/21 76/8 84/6
89/1 89/12 90/4
98/22 109/17
110/16

Iracema [4]
63/14 63/18
130/19

Irais [5] 68/6
69/2 69/5 131/4
131/9

62/14

is [155]

issue [1] 111/23
it [192]

it's [27] ©6/9

7/13 23/25 23/25
24/24 24/24 25/12
32/24 34/16 40/2
51/23 57/24 79/12
86/19 87/1 89/19
95/20 103/23
106/17 106/17
117/18 117/20
126/17 127/8
127/14 127/16
129/20

items [14] 18/4
19/1 19/4 19/6
25/20 26/1 42/8
43/7 43/22 44/9
65/25 66/14 71/4
72/3

its [1] 130/15
itself [1] 123/1
IVY [1] 2/13
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J

JAMIESON [1] 2/8
jar [1] 124/10
jeans [1] 40/6
job [3] 23/5
23/13 91/9
JOYCE [1]
JUDICIAL [1]
July [6] 92/15
51/10 111/15
125/3 127/3
128/16
July 9 [1]
July 9th [4]
111/15 125/3
127/3 128/16
jump [1] 5/25
jumped [1] 53/19
June [25] 8/7
10/6 17/7 17/15
19/24 19/25 22/13
29/10 39/5 56/1
64/1 ©69/13 76/25
85/2 91/5 99/15
113/3 113/12
113/21 114/13
114/25 122/13
123/22 123/23
124/15
June 15 [1]
June 15th [2]
19/24
June 19th [2]
122/13 123/22
June 26th [13]
17/7 17/15 19/25
22/13 29/10 39/5
56/1 64/1 69/13
113/21 114/13
114/25 123/23
June 30th [2]

2/11
1/1

51/10

10/6
8/7

76/25 124/15
jurors [2] 2/1
132/9
Jury [124]
jury's [1] 118/8
just [95]
K
KAREN [1] 2/77
Karl [2] 7/12
7/15
keep [6] ©56/4

85/18 94/3 96/23
96/23 108/24

kept [7] 25/8
47/24 53/14 93/20
94/2 94/10 94/11

keys [2] 72/5
131/5

kids [2] 72/9
119/7

kill [1] 58/17

Killer [2] 2/22
5/11

KIM [1] 2/9

kind [25] 39/22

40/2 41/16 41/17
44/20 45/6 47/12
47/14 53/11 56/25
57/3 57/4 58/5
64/19 65/23 79/12
93/23 96/12 96/13
105/24 115/12
121/23 122/19
122/25 124/13

knees [2] 44/13
44/13
knew [7] 13/11

46/2 46/3 104/7
121/12 123/5
124/3

knife [1] 105/24

know [73]

known [2] 46/3
46/12

Kwiky [8] 99/16

100/16 113/3
113/8 117/13
118/4 122/12

123/23
L
L-I-E-N [1] 22/1
L-O0-R-S-0-N [1]
7/13
ladies [18] 5/9

5/15 13/8 14/21
19/21 45/20 65/20
67/11 73/12 74/2
81/7 82/7 87/17
91/12 107/13
108/22 126/12
129/16

lady [9] 13/7
36/13 46/23 47/9
52/20 53/15 58/15

59/21 60/7

lady's [2] 34/19
44/16

Lake [4] 51/11
99/16 122/13
122/23

Lamb [2] 12/7
14/16

language [1] 23/3

laptop [1] 17/23

large [1] 123/14

Las [12] 1/13 5/1

8/8 17/9 22/16
29/11 39/6 56/2
64/2 69/15 T77/4
134/14
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L

last [25] 7/11
7/13 16/14 16/16
21/1 21/25 22/1
28/22 38/16 50/19
55/9 55/15 63/13
63/15 69/1 76/13
84/11 90/18 99/2
99/4 100/4 101/6
109/22 115/20
130/20

later [3] 12/9
123/2 126/6

law [18] 6/11
6/12 14/23 20/7
27/12 37/3 49/3
53/24 61/23 67/14
74/25 82/20 87/18
97/16 108/5
128/24 129/18

135/12
layer [1] 40/7
layers [2] 40/2
40/6
laying [1] 56/16
lean [1] 96/14
least [1] 31/9
leather [2] 18/7
18/11
leave [10] 9/22

26/9 35/21 35/23
60/3 60/13 60/15
71/22 94/15
119/16

left [21] 10/19
10/21 10/22 12/4
23/9 35/22 36/10
45/4 53/17 58/21
60/12 60/18 67/5
73/6 73/7 T3/7
77/17 94/23 95/11

104/23 116/21

Leone [1] 1/8

let [7] 10/1
17/24 64/21 92/10
93/4 117/9 128/4

let's [5] 30/2
30/21 49/21 49/22
104/8

LEWIS [1] 2/14

license [5] 33/9
44/2 53/17 66/6
100/25

LIEN [4] 21/1
22/1 22/4 130/8

light [2] 18/19
30/9

lighter [5] 30/14
40/4 47/11 47/15
65/12

like [115]

line [13] 120/23
120/24 121/1
121/10 129/23
129/25 130/9
130/12 130/17
130/21 131/11
131/15 131/17

line—-up [4]
120/23 120/24
121/1 121/10

little [21] 17/24
29/23 30/4 40/1
40/4 40/4 40/5
40/19 41/12 53/8
53/9 53/10 58/3
65/23 73/8 T74/12
87/6 87/7 107/11
119/7 123/2

live [4] 51/18
51/19 51/19 52/6

living [2] 48/2

119/2
located [4] 22/16
51/11 91/6 99/16
location [8]
17/18 86/6 99/19
99/24 105/1 117/5
118/11 122/25

long [3] 8/1 57/4
110/13
look [8] 18/6

65/10 72/22 73/20
105/12 107/19
107/21 117/4

looked [9] 41/10
41/20 53/11 61/2
72/13 73/18 73/23
74/10 105/18

looking [6]
81/9 102/22
102/23 105/16
129/22

looks [4] 11/15
47/12 85/22 107/6

Lorson [5] 6/16
7/13 7/15 121/21
122/5

lot [9] 8/22
10/22 10/23 12/6
12/7 17/18 74/18
95/12 103/13

lower [3] 40/15
65/5 77/21

LV [11] 17/8
22/16 39/5 64/1
69/14 113/14
113/15 114/14
115/1 115/2 118/5

M

M-A-I-N [1] 90/20
M-I-L-L-E-R [1]

72/1
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M

M-I-L-L-E-R...
109/24

M—-I-R-A-N-D-A [1]
38/18

M—-O-N-T-E-S [2]
63/15 69/3

ma'am [23] 22/12
28/1 28/4 29/9
32/24 33/14 37/17
37/23 45/22 46/1
47/23 49/17 54/18
55/25 62/12 62/16
63/17 68/3 68/7
74/6 75/14 83/9
107/17

machine
101/21
101/23
104/11

[1]

[7] 86/18
101/23
101/25
105/17
Madame [1] 132/8
made [22] 15/2
20/11 27/16 37/7
42/15 49/7 54/3
62/2 66/13 67/18
75/4 82/24 87/22
91/22 93/15 93/19
94/7 95/11 97/20
108/9 121/23
129/3
main [5] 33/17
88/11 90/19 90/22
96/ 2
Mainly [1]
maintain [1]
85/16
maintained [1]
96/13
make [8] 42/21
45/10 48/10 48/21
58/17 58/18 97/6

94/ 3

132/20
makes [1]
making [3]

94/21 95/8
male [1] 52/7
males [4] 57/9

57/10 64/23 73/24
man [15] 18/25

19/1 25/23 25/24

34/22 44/8 65/19

66/21 77/14 78/12

78/19 80/16 81/2

90/11
93/20

82/3 115/7
manager [l1l] 86/8
many [5] 18/22

24/16 36/21 57/13
70/15

mark [1] 130/13

Market [9] 77/1
83/13 84/23 87/1
91/6 99/16 113/9
124/16 126/6

Mart [6] 100/16
113/3 117/13
118/4 122/12
123/23

MARTIN [31]
5/13 7/7 9/5
10/11 10/13 11/19
13/11 13/15 16/7
21/18 28/18 38/12
50/15 55/7 63/6
68/22 T76/9 84/7
89/2 89/13 98/23
109/18 111/7
111/8 112/10
118/14 118/18
126/16 127/21
132/11

Martin's [2]
112/5 118/2

1/9

mask [44] 18/4
18/5 18/15 18/20
23/21 23/25 24/1
24/2 24/6 30/5
30/7 31/5 31/6
31/6 31/24 32/1
35/17 40/13 40/19
43/15 43/16 43/18
44/8 56/17 56/22
56/23 56/24 56/25
57/2 92/20 94/19
95/7 95/11 95/18
106/15 106/18
106/19 107/24
126/23 127/1
127/2 127/3 127/4
127/9

masks [3] 23/24
30/21 107/23
match [1] 112/7

matched [2]
124/13 124/25

material [1]

74/17
math [1] 128/4
matter [6] 5/15

13/20 94/1 94/1
119/4 134/8
may [15] 15/7
20/16 27/21 37/12
49/12 54/8 62/7
67/23 74/3 75/9
83/4 88/2 97/25
108/14 129/8
maybe [10] 30/4
30/25 40/8 41/6
47/13 65/22 96/10
96/10 96/14
131/18
McGehee [1]
me [55]

130/5

2 AA 159



1e0

M

Mead [4] 51/11
99/17 122/13
122/23

mean [6] 32/14

35/23 36/13 46/5
74/14 97/12
meaning [1]

104/10
meant [1] 112/20
meet [7] 9/13

9/18 115/22
118/22 118/24
119/1 119/10
meeting [1]
112/10
members [1] 132/6
memory [3] 48/24
78/11 122/19
men [12] 17/19
17/20 23/22 23/23
24/8 29/23 30/2
64/17 66/12 69/25
77/12 77/18
mentioned [2]
131/10 131/13
messed [1] 87/7
messing [1] 56/4
met [1] 125/11
metal [1] 41/15
Metro [2] 8/1
110/13
Metropolitan [2]
7/23 110/10

MICHAEL [1] 2/13

might [3] 17/4
87/6 87/12

military [1] 44/2

Miller [2] 109/23
110/1

millimeter [2]

41/6 41/20
mind [1] 94/17
minding [1l] 64/16
mine [3] 36/23

97/9 97/10
minimal [1]

122/18

minute [1] 111/11

minutes [2] 87/8
87/12
Miranda [5] 37/21

38/18 38/20 39/3
119/13

misdemeanor [14]
15/5 20/14 27/19
37/10 49/10 54/6
62/5 67/21 75/7
83/2 87/25 97/23
108/12 129/6

Miss [11] 10/13
11/19 13/11 13/15
36/21 39/3 63/25
69/13 73/12 73/15
76/25

Miss Espinoza [1]
36/21

Miss Gutierrez [1]
76/25

Miss Martin [4]
10/13 11/19 13/11
13/15

Miss Miranda [1]
39/3

Miss Montes [2]
69/13 73/12

Miss
Montes—Cervantes
[2] 63/25 73/15

missed [1] 34/20

mist [1] 29/19

MITCHELL [1] 2/15

47/14
47/12

mix [1]
mixed [2]
47/13
mom's [1] 106/12
moment [3] 103/4

109/2 116/13

money [49]

Montes [14] 62/15
63/15 63/18 63/25
68/6 69/2 69/5
69/13 73/12 73/15
130/18 130/20
131/4 131/9

Montes—Cervantes
[6] ©62/15 63/15
63/18 68/6 130/20

months [1] 101/9

more [14] 6/8
36/18 37/2 41/5
47/20 48/7 85/11
90/6 90/10 90/10
103/23 108/23
131/24 132/9

morning [13]

16/25 17/1 39/3
39/4 51/10 69/13
77/9 81/25 82/11
85/4 91/5 91/9
99/15

most [3] 71/11
71/16 96/19

mostly [1]

mother's [2]
100/18 100/24

motion [1] 92/17

mouth [10] 18/10
18/12 18/12 18/13
18/16 18/16 18/20
18/21 24/4 24/7

move [6] 19/16
35/13 70/2 70/21

101/12
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M

move... [2] 104/8
132/3

moved [4] 35/13

51/19 66/25 105/9
movements [1]

34/10
moving [1] 107/6
Mr. [14] 10/20

12/3 12/9 12/25
13/10 13/12 14/8
14/14 16/25 19/21
20/2 96/2 130/2
132/8

Mr. Alexander [8]
10/20 12/3 12/9
12/25 13/10 13/12

14/8 14/14
Mr. and [1] 132/8
Mr. Cang [1]

130/2
Mr. Main [1] 96/2
Mr. Tran [3]

16/25 19/21 20/2
much [14] 25/11

42/20 45/7 45/16
48/5 48/14 81/21
94/2 105/12
123/12 123/25
131/22 132/19

133/3
multiple [1] 40/2
must [1] 125/11
my [65]
myself [1] 102/3
N
N-G-U-Y-E-N [2]
21/2 22/2
nail [24] 17/9

17/12 17/14 17/21

19/11 22/16 23/5
23/6 29/11 33/21
35/3 39/6 46/6
56/2 64/1 69/14
113/14 113/15
114/2 114/14
115/8 11l6/11
123/24 124/2
nails [11] 29/15
29/21 34/22 44/17
46/24 47/3 56/2
60/8 115/1 115/2
118/5
name [41] 5/10
7/11 7/12 7/13
9/5 16/14 16/16
l6/16 16/17 21/1
21/1 21/25 22/1
22/2 28/22 35/7
38/16 46/21 50/19
55/15 63/13 63/14
63/15 69/1 76/13
80/11 84/11 90/11
90/18 98/7 99/2
99/4 101/6 109/22
109/23 115/20
123/6 130/20
131/10 131/13
135/21
named [1]
nappy [1] 57/6
near [5] 18/3
19/1 33/25 42/5
66/22
nearby [1]
neat [1] 40/23
need [3] 32/24
49/20 109/1
needed [1] 79/14
neighborhood [2]
111/15 125/13

123/5

34/2

Nellis [1] 124/19

NEVADA [15] 1/2
1/5 1/13 5/1 5/12
8/9 17/10 39/7
64/3 69/15 77/5
111/17 112/5
134/3 134/14

never [3] 13/21
126/5 126/9

new [4] 5/22 5/23
6/7 41/11

NEWMAN [1] 2/16

next [22] 12/8
15/16 20/25 32/8
32/10 32/10 34/16
36/13 36/24 37/20
44/10 46/11 54/16
58/15 62/14 68/5
75/20 77/14 83/12
88/10 104/11
130/17

Nguyen [3]
22/4 130/9

nickel [1] 101/22

night [7] 56/10
100/19 101/5
101/14 101/17
122/23 124/18

21/1

nine [1] 41/6

no [85]

nobody [4] 35/13
35/13 94/21 106/6

none [3] 46/25
67/13 74/24

Nope [1] 79/14

normally [2] 46/5
46/6

north [6] 14/16

95/2 95/12 95/14
95/19 95/19
nose [4] 18/9
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nose... [3] 40/15
96/7 96/18

not [63]

notes [1] 134/10

nothing [34] 6/22

7/18 15/22 16/22
21/8 22/7 28/9
29/4 32/7 35/9
38/2 38/23 47/1
47/6 50/5 51/4
54/23 55/22 60/5
62/21 63/21 68/12
69/8 75/24 76/20
83/21 84/18 88/17
90/25 98/14 99/9
109/8 110/4
126/20

notice [1] 72/19

noticed [5] 69/24
69/25 70/13 70/14
71/12

now [34] 5/18 6/7
6/20 11/24 12/11
15/20 21/6 28/7
30/21 35/15 37/25
48/15 50/3 54/21
62/19 68/10 72/20
73/22 75/23 80/2
83/20 88/15 92/13
98/12 100/5 101/5
102/21 104/2
104/22 106/10
109/6 112/16
119/2 126/12

NRS [2] 135/2
135/13

number [31] 5/14
5/19 10/8 79/6
92/15 93/1 93/9
93/17 93/22 94/2

94/5 94/6 94/7
94/18 94/20 95/7
95/8 95/18 96/5
96/16 96/16 96/20
96/21 97/4 132/1
132/1 132/4
132/16 135/4
135/8 135/11
number 1 [12]
5/19 92/15 93/9
93/17 93/22 94/2
94/20 95/8 96/16
96/20 96/21 97/4
number 2 [6] 94/5
94/7 94/18 95/7
95/18 96/16
Number 24 [1]
10/8
Number 74 [1]
79/6

O

o'clock [1] 64/8
observed [2]

13/21 91/18
observer [1l] 93/1
obtain [3] 113/24

114/16 11l6/4
obtained [15]

15/3 20/12 27/17

37/8 49/8 54/4

62/3 67/19 75/5

82/25 87/23 97/21

108/10 114/8

129/4
obvious [1]

106/17
obviously [1]

114/21
occur [7] 17/16

39/9 64/12 69/17

85/4 124/1 124/2
occurred [10] 8/7
8/12 10/5 20/2
69/21 80/14 85/2
89/18 122/21
125/15
occurring [15]
15/2 20/11 27/16
37/7 49/7 54/3
62/2 67/18 75/4
79/23 82/24 87/22
97/20 108/9 129/3
October [4] 1/14
2/1 5/1 134/15
off [10] 12/7
53/14 87/7 87/12
103/21 104/9
116/25 124/3
125/10 125/17
offenses [18] 7/3
16/3 21/14 21/22
28/14 38/8 50/11
55/3 55/12 63/2
68/18 74/5 76/5
84/3 88/23 89/9
98/19 109/14
officer [2]
128/9
officers [2]
53/18 53/19
Official [1]
135/23
oh [6] 73/21
83/17 95/6 112/18
131/12 131/15
okay [41l] 17/6
18/18 18/22 23/1
23/5 24/20 25/17
27/10 30/19 31/3
31/14 32/24 33/1
34/16 35/11 36/15

91/10
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okay... [25] 47/5
52/13 56/4 58/1
59/3 61/21 70/8
78/15 79/18 89/24
90/16 91/24 93/6
93/8 93/25 94/16
95/6 95/6 101/5
109/2 113/20
117/7 125/2
126/21 128/22

old [4] 58/5 61/2
72/14 127/21

older [3] 41/11
65/19 66/25

once [2] 13/5
128/15

one [181]

ones [2]
110/21

only [19] 24/3
46/22 47/2 47/5
47/6 85/11 87/6
94/24 97/3 97/5
97/6 102/6 105/14
105/14 105/18
106/8 121/24
125/16 130/9

oo0oo [1] 133/6

open [10] 18/16
29/22 32/18 32/20
42/21 58/16 86/21
93/21 96/22 105/4

opened [4] 25/16
42/23 58/19 105/3

74/16

opening [1] 18/12
ordeal [1] 924/3
ordinary [1]

85/15

originally [3]
12/4 92/23 118/5

other [67]

others [1] 114/21

otherwise [1]
26/4

our [12] ©6/12
6/15 34/10 58/14
64/16 66/18 67/5
71/2 71/8 87/7
104/17 129/17

out [44] 35/3
35/14 36/5 42/24
42/25 43/2 44/25
45/2 45/4 45/4
48/12 52/4 53/18
60/21 61/7 67/6
67/8 72/23 73/4
74/19 78/8 80/17
93/21 94/22 95/2
95/9 95/12 95/15
96/22 99/20
102/11 102/12
103/14 104/1
104/4 105/15
106/23 107/8
107/25 112/15
116/14 123/13
124/6 130/7

outside [15]
10/23 11/25 35/25
36/14 53/18 60/19
100/21 105/21
105/22 106/24
114/14 115/2
115/8 117/13
118/11

over [24] 17/23
25/20 25/21 34/11
40/11 42/17 42/20
42/22 46/14 47/20
58/17 58/18 70/4
80/8 81/24 92/12

own [2]

owner [20]

92/12 96/13 96/14
100/4 103/2
107/11 123/11
125/12

27/4
64/16

19/11
36/25 42/15
44/12 45/24
46/14 58/25
59/21 64/20 65/17
66/16 67/1 70/22
71/1 71/10 74/20
102/13

32/14
43/19
45/25

P

P

page [8]

132/3
pages [1] 131/19
paid [2] 48/8
48/9
paint [1] 29/21
painted [1] 18/20
panning [4] 91/18
92/17 92/17 93/2
pants [2] 52/8
52/9
paper [1] 74/12
park [2] 53/9
53/10
parked [3] 52/15

PARKER [24]

.m [5] 17/8
22/15 29/10 39/9
69/17

5/25
130/8 130/11
130/17 130/17
131/11 131/15

52/16 117/18

1/8
5/13 5/17 7/7
16/7 21/18 28/18
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PARKER... [17]
38/12 50/15 55/7
63/6 68/22 76/9
84/7 89/2 89/13
98/23 109/18
121/6 121/10
123/6 123/8 125/8
132/11

parking [5] 10/22
10/23 12/6 12/7
95/12

part [13] 17/5
30/22 40/15 48/3
55/9 55/10 61/18
61/19 61/20 96/19
100/1 113/23
123/19

particular [12]
11/10 12/15 89/18
90/9 90/13 102/8
110/23 119/8
124/1 125/10
125/16 126/23

particularly [1]
101/20

partner [1] 92/18

pass [1l] 47/13

past [1l] 127/6

patience [1]

133/4

pauses [1l] 79/3

pay [1] 52/14

paycheck [3]
44/3 44/5

payments [1]
48/10

pedicure [9]
29/17 29/18 29/19
39/14 46/8 46/9
64/16 69/22 69/23

44/3

pending [14] 6/20
15/20 21/6 28/7
37/25 50/3 54/21
62/19 68/10 75/23
83/20 88/15 98/12
109/6

people [11] 19/6
19/6 21/22 23/19
23/20 33/15 52/6
53/12 58/9 71/5
89/19

per [1l] 71/14

person [19] 9/7
24/5 24/5 27/5
31/22 32/3 35/16
36/11 42/1 42/4
45/11 47/5 60/5
70/17 80/9 92/20
106/19 135/8
135/11

personal [4]

25/20 26/16 27/4
115/15

personally [2]
43/23 87/4

persons [1] 132/5

pertaining [16]
7/2 16/2 21/13
28/13 38/7 50/10
55/2 55/12 63/1
68/17 76/4 84/2
88/22 89/8 98/18
109/13

pertinent [2]
14/18 123/1

Pesci [2] 2/21
5/10

phase [1]

phases [1] 100/4

phone [24] 17/22
25/14 25/15 25/17

100/9

29/25 31/21 32/9
33/2 33/4 33/5
34/19 35/4 36/12
43/24 43/24 48/8
48/9 66/2 T72/5
94/17 116/20
130/24 130/25
131/3
phones [3]
32/4 128/12
photo [6] 79/10
81/10 120/17
120/24 121/1
121/10
photograph [8]
4/6 4/10 4/13
79/15 80/9 97/4
120/18 120/21
photographs [8]
4/7 4/8 4/9 4/11
4/12 112/9 112/13
120/8

25/22

photos [1] 79/24

pick [2] 110/19
111/17

picked [2] 46/13
72/16

picture [11]
18/15 32/14 93/18
95/1 105/16
106/16 115/3
115/3 115/13
121/9 127/2
pictures [7]
112/4 112/4
112/19 112/22
114/21 118/1

126/6

piece [2] 18/7
34/6

pile [1] 19/12
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P

place [5] 19/18
39/15 56/19 58/10
134/9

placed [1]

Plaintiff [1]

planned [1]

plastic [1] 74/14

plate [3] 100/25
111/17 112/6

plates [1] 53/17

play [2] 85/10
102/21

playing [1]

101/21

please [43] 6/17
6/24 7/10 15/17
15/24 16/14 21/3
21/10 21/24 23/17
28/5 28/11 28/21
30/3 37/22 38/4
38/15 49/25 50/7
50/18 54/19 54/25
62/17 62/23 63/12
68/8 68/14 68/25
76/2 T76/12 83/14
83/24 84/10 88/12
88/19 90/17 98/9
98/16 99/1 109/3
109/10 109/21
131/5

plugged [1] 100/8

plus [1] 27/8

pocket [3] 42/25
43/2 T74/19

point [12] 9/24
10/19 10/20 19/5
24/21 60/2 93/18
93/19 95/20
105/20 106/20
130/7

9/19
1/6
29/20

pointed [14]
24/22 26/22
29/25 32/16
32/17 34/17
59/14 59/20
92/24 93/15

pointing [5]
25/25 42/14
66/16 66/17

26/24
32/17
59/12
77/13

64/18

poker [2] 101/23
101/25
police [5] 7/24

61/2 61/7 78/5
110/10

polishes [1]
33/21

ponytail [3]
40/22 47/15 57/6

portion [1]
104/23

position [4]
17/12 44/21 44/24
77/77

positive [1]
101/11

possession [17]
7/3 16/3 21/14
28/14 38/8 50/11
55/3 63/2 68/18
76/5 84/3 88/23
89/9 98/19 109/14
127/5 132/12

potentially [1]
9/2

preceding [1]
135/4

prepare [1]
132/16

presence [14]
15/2 20/11 27/16
37/7 49/7 54/3

62/2 67/18 75/4
82/24 87/22 97/20
108/9 129/3
present [4] 2/1
2/20 89/17 121/14
presentation [4]
14/18 129/17
132/22 132/23
presented [15]
15/1 20/10 27/15
37/6 49/6 54/2
62/1 67/17 75/3
82/23 87/21 90/7
97/19 108/8 129/2
presenting [1]
6/2
presumably [4]
92/17 92/18 95/13
95/13
presume [1] 92/1
pretty [8] 12/23
42/20 45/16 94/2
96/16 97/11
106/17 107/6
previously [8]
5/16 5/21 8/14
8/18 12/15 110/15
118/9 132/18

print [2] 40/13
135/21

printed [1]
131/18

prints [1l] 86/20

prior [1] 102/7

probably [15]
29/20 40/8 41/7
41/21 47/16 57/8
65/9 66/10 73/17
93/3 96/8 96/9
96/9 100/3 100/4

proceedings [19]

2 AA 165



le6

P

proceedings. ..
[19] 1/19 5/7
14/23 20/7 27/12
37/3 49/3 53/24
61/23 67/14 T74/25
82/20 87/18 97/16
108/5 128/24
133/5 134/8
134/13
proceeds [1]
program [1]
135/15
prohibited [14]
14/24 20/8 27/13
37/4 49/4 53/25
61/24 67/15 75/1
82/21 87/19 97/17
108/6 128/25
promise [1]
100/12
property [2]
26/16 70/24
proposed [2]
132/17
provide [1]
119/12
provided [5]
122/17 122/18
122/19 124/17
public [1] 135/15
pulled [6] 42/15
42/24 42/25 43/2
57/6 116/25
pumps [3] 122/22
123/3 124/24
punishable [28]
15/5 15/7 20/14
20/16 27/19 27/21
37/10 37/12 49/10
49/12 54/6 54/8

14/6

4/4

87/4

62/5 62/7 67/21
67/23 75/7 75/9
83/2 83/4 87/25
88/2 97/23 97/25
108/12 108/14
129/6 129/8
Punisher [3]

127/3 127/11

127/17
purposes [1l] 5/22
purse [11l] 34/25

35/3 43/24 43/25
66/1 72/4 130/12
130/13 130/15
130/22 131/5
purses [4] 42/12
43/4 74/9 128/12
Pursuant [1]

135/2
pursuit [1]
125/15
pushed [1] 34/23
put [10] 24/14
26/21 32/13 74/18
74/20 91/22 92/12

100/7 100/8 117/9
putting [3] 43/4
43/7 95/4
Q

question [6] 27/3
46/17 47/20 T79/17
89/16 131/24

questions [36]

6/5 6/11 14/20
14/22 17/4 19/21
20/5 20/6 26/13
26/14 27/11 36/18
36/19 37/2 45/20
46/15 49/2 53/21
53/23 61/15 61/22

67/11 73/12 74/23
82/7 82/19 87/16
95/23 95/24 97/15
107/13 108/2
108/3 127/18
128/23 130/6
quick [1] 104/8
quickly [3] 93/2
94/14 94/18
quiet [1l] 94/2
quite [1] 99/21

R

R-A-F-A-E-L [1]
50/20

R-A-M—-I-R-E-Z [1]
50/21

R-A-M—-O-N [1]
84/12

R-0O-N-A-L-D [1]
90/19

Rafael [3]
50/20 51/1

Rainbow [7] 77/1
83/13 84/23 87/1
91/6 124/16 126/6

raise [14] 6/17
15/18 21/3 28/5
37/22 50/1 54/19
62/17 68/8 75/18
83/15 88/13 98/10
109/4

RALPH [42] 1/8
1/8 5/12 5/17 7/7
10/18 12/20 16/6
21/17 28/18 38/12
50/15 55/7 63/6
68/22 76/9 84/7
89/2 89/13 98/23
109/18 120/5
120/15 120/17

49/24
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RALPH... [18]
120/20 121/7
121/12 123/8
123/11 124/3
124/5 124/22
125/7 125/10
125/12 125/20
126/7 126/15
127/5 127/6
128/15 132/10

Ramirez [4] 49/24
50/20 51/1 115/21

Ramon [3] 83/13
84/12 84/15

ran [10] 35/13
36/9 45/6 67/6
67/7 72/23 95/13
95/14 105/21
115/18

RAND [1]

random [1]

RAYMOND [1] 2/17

reached [1] 74/19

read [3] 130/15
130/22 132/4

ready [1] 48/11

really [17] 13/10
40/16 57/24 65/24
70/6 71/6 T71/13
71/14 72/14 72/21
73/18 73/20 73/22
74/17 89/23
107/23 123/15

2/17
82/15

rear [2] ©61/18
61/20

reason [2] 89/6
113/7

reassuring [2]
93/20 93/21

recall [3] 12/22

35/10 41/13
receipt [1]
receiving [1]

72/177
Recess [1l] 49/23
recognize [29]

10/9 11/7 79/2

79/23 85/22 86/6

86/13 92/2 92/7

93/5 93/7 100/14

100/17 100/23

102/17 102/22

104/20 107/3

107/10 111/2

112/1 112/3

113/18 115/11

116/9 116/17

117/10 118/17

120/11
recognized [5]

120/12 120/13

120/15 120/17

126/ 7
recollection [3]

78/12 122/3 128/1
record [20] 7/11

16/15 17/2 21/25

28/22 38/16 50/19

55/15 63/13 69/1

76/13 78/16 79/9

80/20 84/11 90/18

99/2 109/22

132/20 134/12
records [4] 11/9

83/13 111/2 112/7
recover [1]

128/12
recovered [2]

127/3 127/16
recreation [1]

53/10

86/20

reenter [1] 13/2

reentered [1]
12/9

reference [1]
129/21

referred [1]
91/12

refresh [3] 78/11
122/19 127/25
regard [1] 6/5
regarding [2]
126/6 131/4
register [18]
32/19 33/22 42/16
42/23 46/11 70/22
77/16 80/25 81/5
81/9 81/16 81/19
86/24 102/6
104/25 105/1
105/3 105/6
registered [1]
111/6
registers [1]
86/19
registration [2]
4/5 11/8
regular [1]
related [1]
111/20
relationship [1]
120/1
relevant [1]
remain [2]
83/16
remainder [1]
remember [31]
11/16 25/12 30/7
31/1 31/9 31/23
35/10 36/16 39/20
40/17 41/13 47/18
52/8 52/21 57/18

58/8

74/4
83/15

6/3
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remember... [16]
60/25 65/24 66/12
70/9 70/9 70/11
72/12 72/18 72/20
73/5 78/18 80/12
115/20 124/9
127/1 127/22

remembered [3]
123/13 123/25
124/19

remembering [1]
41/23

Reported [1]

Reporter [1]
135/23

REPORTER'S [2]
1/19 134/1

request [1]

required [1]
135/11

response [1]
71/18

responses [1]
17/3

restrained [1]
9/24

return [1] 132/7

returned [4] 5/17
5/21 6/4 132/10

reusable [1] 43/1

reuse [1] 74/11

review [2] 102/15
132/22

reviewed [4]

10/24 102/8
114/10 128/1

revolver [8] 41/4
41/15 42/5 42/6
43/11 43/14 57/22
91/22

1/25

2/20

right [71]

rights [3] 119/13
119/18 119/20

ring [1] 101/10

rings [1] 101/11

RITCHIE [1] 2/4

rob [1] 39/15

robbed [7] 8/19
13/6 13/7 40/24
56/19 58/10 69/19

robberies [3]
121/19 127/6
128/14

robbery [70]

role [1] 124/11

Ronald [3] 88/11
90/19 90/22

room [4] 71/13
102/1 104/5 132/6

run [9] 45/3 45/4
52/5 73/4 84/25
85/16 95/15
103/14 116/23

running [8] 12/9
52/10 53/5 53/8
53/13 53/15 95/13
107/8

runs [2] 12/8
103/16

rushed [1] 64/18

S

S-A-L-T-E-R [1]
99/4

safe [1] 77/17

said [72]

sale [1l] 86/21

salon [8] 35/3

60/18 64/15 69/20
114/2 114/14
115/8 116/11

Salter [3] 98/8
99/3 99/6

same [19] ©6/9
19/18 30/18 43/12
70/10 71/9 71/20
71/22 100/11
104/14 105/19
106/2 113/9
114/12 114/25
115/15 117/5

117/12 118/11

Sarah [2] 2/22
5/11
saw [24] 12/12

13/19 17/19 17/19
18/25 19/10 45/3
45/3 52/5 52/9
53/13 60/22 61/5
65/15 72/16 72/25
73/4 73/21 95/15
111/16 125/14
126/4 126/5 126/9
say [24] 12/25
14/7 14/10 14/13
19/23 31/22 34/6
58/11 61/17 70/3
70/19 70/21 71/13
72/2 100/6 104/10
111/15 116/1
120/4 122/16
125/5 125/21
126/4 126/25
saying [4] 30/14
35/12 35/24 94/12
says [2] 13/9
130/13
scared [4] 19/19
24/17 26/12 T1/7
scary [1l] 72/21
Scream [7] 56/25
57/1 57/2 127/1
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Scream... [3]
127/2 127/9
127/10

se [1]

search [1] 128/17

seat [7] 52/21
52/22 61/6 61/12
61/12 61/13
103/23

seated [15] 6/25
8/19 15/25 21/11
28/11 38/5 50/8
54/25 62/24 68/15
76/2 83/25 88/20
98/16 109/11

second [14] 14/14
24/5 31/16 34/3
36/12 77/22 78/1
92/10 117/16
121/7 123/5
131/10 131/20
132/23

secret [14] 14/23
20/7 27/12 37/3
49/3 53/24 61/23
67/15 75/1 82/20
87/19 97/16 108/6
128/24

Secretary [2]
2/6

section [1]
110/11

security [9]
77/14 80/10 81/3
82/14 82/14 82/16
91/10 135/8
135/11

see [88]

seeing [6] 6/14
14/4 67/13 74/24

71/14

2/5

86/22 126/2

seem [1] 46/22

seemed [3] 45/14
47/5 124/9

seems [1l] 86/15

seen [10] 11/25
93/12 102/13
105/11 105/14
105/16 105/19
107/24 126/24
127/5

semi [7] 41/6
41/20 42/2 44/12
44/21 57/22 57/23

semi—-automatic [5]

41/6 41/20 42/2

44/12 57/22

semi—-fetal [1]
44/21

sense [1] 90/11

separate [2]
114/17 126/10

Service [1] 48/3

several [1]
114/20

shade [1] 45/7

shall [14] 6/21
15/21 21/7 28/8
38/1 50/4 54/22
62/20 68/11 75/23
83/20 88/16 98/13
109/7

she [192]
she'll [1] 100/12
she's [10] 36/14

47/6 47/16 47/17
104/13 104/13
112/15 119/2
127/22 127/23
SHIDAKER [1] 2/18
shiny [1] 41/16

shirt [2] 26/24
103/18
shit [3] 42/22
58/18 58/19
shock [1] 70/12
shoot [4] 26/5
42/22 58/18 73/22
shop [1] 46/6
shopping [1] 73/9
short [7] 12/8
39/21 59/1 60/9
92/9 96/9 97/4
shorter [1l] 40/4
shorthand [2]
134/7 134/10
shortly [1] 64/11
shot [2] 79/7
107/9
shots [1]
should [1]
shoulder [1]
92/12
shouldn't [1]
116/1
shoved [1] 44/22
show [8] 85/21
86/12 93/4 97/5
106/10 115/24
120/8 121/9
showed [5] 78/12
102/12 121/1
126/5 127/2
showing [26] 10/8
11/6 79/6 79/19
79/19 79/20 79/20
79/21 79/21 79/22
80/7 80/21 81/4
93/11 100/13
107/2 111/1
111/25 113/17
114/25 115/10

79/2
130/22
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showing... [5]
116/16 117/1
118/16 120/23

126/10
shown [1] 79/3
shows [2] 86/20
95/4
sic [1] 121/10
side [10] 19/2

32/15 52/6 58/21
73/2 73/8 95/19
95/20 103/17
116/21

sidewalk [1]
124/4

signaling [1]
71/25

Signature [1]
135/19

Significant [1]
12/24

silver [4] 41/1¢6
41/16 42/5 57/18

simultaneous [1]
39/23

sir [62]

sister [1]

sister's [1]

64/15

119/3
sit [3] 26/4 26/5
26/6
sits [1] 46/6
sitting [9] 13/7

18/24 19/17 36/16
39/14 46/10 46/24
64/17 112/15
six [7] 25/12
41/21 57/23 58/4
100/4 101/9 102/6
six feet [1]

102/6
skateboarding [2]
115/7 115/17
ski [1] 40/13
skin [6] 40/4
40/5 47/11 96/5
97/8 97/9
skinned [3]
9¢6/17 97/2
skinny [2]
73/23
skull [18] 24/1
24/2 24/6 31/5
31/7 31/24 32/1
35/17 40/13 43/17
43/18 44/8 81/1
92/21 95/7 95/11
95/18 127/10

96/8

73/18

slash [1] 130/14

slimmer [1] 40/1

Sloan [1] 122/23

slot [2] 101/22
105/17

small [2] 18/7
25/21

smiling [3] 18/16
18/16 18/21

snatched [1]
34/21

so [114]

social [4] 72/9
72/9 135/8 135/11

sodas [1] 103/2

solemnly [14]
6/19 15/19 21/5
28/6 37/24 50/2
54/20 62/18 68/9
75/21 83/18 88/14
98/11 109/5

some [23] 8/3
8/12 8/25 10/20

19/5 29/22 33/7
33/7 60/2 77/22
86/15 105/24
110/20 110/20
114/21 120/8
121/22 122/17
126/5 127/8
127/10 127/10
132/21
somebody [2]
35/24 121/3
someone [4] 56/5
61/4 104/1 113/23
someone's [2]
52/10 52/10
something [18]
12/24 17/15 17/22
18/1 24/6 39/9
60/11 64/12 65/4
65/9 69/17 70/8
91/11 105/24
106/1 110/24
124/9 127/17
sometime [1]
64/11
somewhere [5]
40/9 47/17 73/8
82/13 123/17
son [1] 52/4
son's [1] 72/8
soon [3] 91/1¢6
104/6 105/22
sorry [13] 18/14
34/15 36/10 43/12
51/19 51/20 52/24
63/8 74/6 100/14
109/2 116/1 128/8
sort [2] 77/22
102/3
sounded [1]
source [1]

71/16
115/6
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south [2] 72/25
125/13

spa [13] 17/9

17/12 22/16 23/5
29/11 39/6 56/2
56/6 64/2 69/14
113/14 113/15
123/24

speak [7] 23/16
65/22 78/5 100/11
111/8 11l6/24
119/21

speaking [1]
47/10

specific [1]
135/12

specifically [12]
9/15 13/25 46/13
46/15 119/25
121/23 122/21
123/2 123/13
123/17 124/1

124/19
speculation [1]
74/4
spell [16] 7/11

16/15 16/17 21/25
28/22 38/16 50/19
55/14 55/15 63/13
69/1 76/13 84/11
90/18 99/2 109/22

spelled [1] 54/17

spoke [3] 9/10
110/20 118/19

Sprint [1] 48/8

Ss [1] 134/3

stamp [2] 82/10
86/3

stand [2] 24/9
75/17

standing [13]
32/5 32/6 33/18
33/19 33/23 34/4
34/5 58/15 77/11
83/15 83/16 83/17
107/22

start [2]
104/13

started [4] 39/15
43/3 64/18 66/15

state [32] 1/5
5/12 7/10 16/14
19/20 21/24 26/14
28/21 38/15 45/19
49/19 49/24 50/18
55/14 61/15 63/12
67/10 68/25 73/11
76/12 82/6 84/10
90/17 91/14 98/7
99/1 108/4 109/21
127/19 134/3
135/12 135/1¢6

State's [12]
20/25 37/20 54/16
68/5 75/20 83/12
88/10 117/6 117/9
117/24 117/25
118/1

State's 26 [1]

6/12

117/25

State's 54 [1]
117/6

State's 55 [1]
118/1

stated [9] 10/18

10/22 11/23 12/3
12/6 13/5 13/20
14/8 96/24
statement [18]
15/2 20/11 27/16
37/7 49/7 54/3

62/2 67/18 75/4
78/9 78/13 78/16
82/24 87/22 97/20
108/9 128/1 129/3
statements [15]
15/1 20/10 27/15
37/6 49/6 54/2
62/1 66/13 67/17
75/3 82/23 87/21
97/19 108/8 129/2
Station [8] 8/8
10/6 10/23 10/25
11/25 12/8 121/21
122/12
stay [2]
96 /22
stayed [12] 39/23
39/24 40/14 41/4
42/1 42/12 44/24
45/11 77/15 80/24
81/15 121/23
staying [1]

19/17

112/15
Stenotype [1]
134/7
STEVE [1] 2/15
still [12] 32/14

34/19 42/12 44/21
79/2 79/3 79/7
85/25 86/16
100/15 119/18

130/8
stocking [1]
103/12
stolen [1] 123/16
stood [1] 18/3
stop [3] 64/21

92/10 111/18
stopped [6] 46/9
48/8 48/9 52/9

52/11 53/11
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store [50]

straight [2] 46/4
72/1

street [3] 48/9
73/2 106/2

strike [3] 36/3
74/3 130/4

stuff [14] 26/8

32/11 32/12 34/4
35/16 45/18 58/14
58/23 60/10 64/20
66/7 67/5 T74/18
104/7

stupid [2] 58/18
58/19
style [1] 41/11

subject [25]

subjects [1]

90/5
91/17 92/15 93/1
93/9 93/17 93/22
94/2 94/5 94/6
94/7 94/16 94/16
94/18 94/20 95/6
95/8 95/18 96/5
96/15 96/16 96/19
96/21 97/3 111/3
90/4

submitted [1]

132/18
submitting [1]
131/23
subpoenaed [1]
89/25
substantive [1]
126/18
sudden [1] 29/22

suddenly [1]

17/19

superseding [5]

1/21 4/4 5/19
129/20 131/8

supervision [1]
134/11

supervisor [2]
23/12 23/14

sure [15] 12/23
19/3 41/25 45/10
58/25 70/6 74/17
78/14 87/9 87/11
89/23 94/21 95/9
107/23 123/12

surveillance [46]

suspect [3] 9/8
81/15 123/5

suspects [5]
111/17 115/4
115/18 116/23
123/9

swear [14]
15/19 21/5
37/24 50/2 54/20
62/18 68/9 75/21
83/18 88/14 98/11
109/5

sweatshirt [2]
52/8 53/14

switched [1]
105/20

sworn [15] 5/5
7/16 16/20 22/5
29/2 38/21 51/2
55/20 63/19 69/6
76/18 84/16 90/23
99/7 110/2

symbol [1]

6/19
28/6

127/4

T

T-R-A-N [1] 16/17

table [3] 19/11
129/11 19/12

take [15] 17/24
19/9 19/13 24/11

32/25 43/22 48/5
49/21 49/22 53/9
65/25 72/3 112/9
112/18 130/1

taken [19] 1/13
26/16 27/4 33/2
33/3 33/10 35/9
47/1 47/1 47/7
59/3 59/10 59/13
59/16 59/24 60/5
60/9 105/5 130/10

taking [8] 17/2
30/17 34/4 35/16
53/13 71/4 78/16
112/12

talk [7] 8/17
30/18 43/12 46/21
110/19 121/24
126/22

talked [5] 8/18
8/22 47/2 47/6
103/8

talking [6]
92/14 104/14
117/8 117/18

71/24

117/23
talks [1] 86/23
tall [6] 39/21

52/7 57/7 73/23
94/19 96/11
taller [6] 30/4
40/1 40/3 43/14
64/25 65/1
Taurus [16]
11/13 52/20
110/24 111/3
111/16 112/5
112/23 112/25
113/1 114/13
115/19 116/22
121/19 124/21

11/5
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Taurus... [1]
125/9

tech [1] 23/6

technician [1]
17/14

technicians [1]
17/21

tell [19] 10/17
12/2 13/3 39/18
40/3 46/23 48/20
61/9 ©9/24 77/25
78/3 91/12 96/4
96/25 97/1 106/16
107/22 112/17
121/17

telling [3]
64/20 67/1

ten [1] 49/22

term [1] 127/11

testified [25]
7/18 8/14 12/15
1l6/22 22/7 29/4
38/23 51/4 51/21
55/22 63/21 69/8
76/20 84/18 90/25
92/8 92/23 93/10
99/9 106/11 110/4
110/15 122/8
130/19 130/25

testify [17] 7/17
9/4 16/21 17/16
21/21 22/6 29/3
38/22 51/3 55/21
63/20 69/7 76/19
84/17 90/24 99/8
110/3

testifying [1]
111/21

testimony [37]
5/16 6/19 7/2

47/3

15/19
21/13
37/24

16/2 21/5

28/6 28/13

38/7 50/2
50/10 54/20 55/2
55/11 62/18 63/1
68/9 68/17 75/22
76/4 83/19 84/2
88/14 88/22 89/8
89/20 90/8 90/13
98/11 98/18 102/7
109/5 109/13
130/2 130/5

Texas [1] 48/17

than [13] 30/4
30/15 64/25 65/1
65/12 90/6 90/10
90/11 96/8 96/15
97/10 114/21
132/5

Thank [76]

that [527]

that's [54]

their [20] 14/15
17/25 18/1 25/21
39/21 40/11 56/5
57/7 70/1 70/3
70/4 73/16 T73/16
73/17 77/19 85/10
96/3 96/23 96/23
97/1

them [65]

then [69]

there [101]

there's [5] 33/20
33/22 53/8 53/9
126/20

thereafter [1]
134/9

these [49]

they [189]

they're [6] 64/6

70/6 74/16 74/17
90/9 116/24

thin [3] 30/5
39/21 47/17

thing [7] 45/9
46/23 86/21 87/6
95/17 97/6 115/15

think [31] 14/18
14/19 30/13 31/25
35/20 35/20 41/10
41/17 56/25 57/8
57/16 64/9 65/4
65/13 65/16 65/20
65/20 65/23 71/14
105/25 106/11
108/22 112/14
120/12 121/2
123/16 126/25
127/1 127/14
127/22 131/9

thinking [1] 19/2

third [2] 90/5
90/8

thirties [1]
127/23

thirty [3] 128/5

128/6 128/7

Thirty-two [2]
128/6 128/7

this [130]

those [28] 6/1
6/10 8/3 23/20
30/2 39/17 42/25
59/10 61/2 70/9
74/10 79/24 82/10
86/13 93/5 93/7
94/15 110/20
112/1 112/22
113/18 115/11
116/7 119/18
119/20 122/24
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those... [2]
123/18 126/16
though [1] 41/8
thought [1] 80/18
threat [1] 93/24
threaten [1l] 26/3
threats [1] 93/3
three [3] 36/24
46/12 100/3
threw [3] 42/20
42/20 105/23
through [13]
30/21 36/12 85/22
95/2 95/12 100/14
101/2 102/4 112/1
113/17 114/18
114/18 117/21
throwing [1]
53/14
Thursday [1] 1/14
ties [1] 126/16
time [42] 12/9
14/14 17/19 19/20
30/18 34/20 36/12
36/22 43/12 45/15
45/19 46/7 47/16
51/22 51/23 52/1
56/14 64/7 67/10
71/20 71/22 73/11
82/7 82/10 82/11
82/13 86/3 86/24
87/11 91/14 94/25
100/11 103/11
103/12 104/14
106/3 114/4
122/25 123/4
126/7 132/5 134/9
timing [1] 87/7
tip [1] 124/10
Title [1] 135/23

to-wit [1] 130/21
today [25] 5/24
7/1 9/4 1l6/1
17/16 21/12 28/12
38/6 39/10 50/9
55/1 55/11 62/25
64/12 68/16 69/18
76/3 77/10 84/1
88/21 89/6 89/7
98/17 109/12
122/9
together [4] 36/8
36/9 60/15 71/19
told [25] 13/6
19/14 24/9 32/18
34/22 34/24 42/19
42/21 44/13 44/17
47/4 53/18 53/19
53/20 58/15 58/21
66/25 70/2 70/21
70/22 74/19 77/13
77/17 119/6 119/7
TONYA [30] 1/9
5/13 7/7 9/5
10/11 16/7 21/18
28/18 38/12 50/15
55/7 63/6 68/22
76/9 84/7 89/2
89/13 89/15 98/23
109/18 111/7
111/8 112/5
112/10 118/1
118/14 118/18
126/16 127/21
132/11
Tonya's
128/20
too [6] 24/24
45/7 56/5 65/16
65/22 130/25
took [28] 19/6

[1]

32/9 34/18 34/18
42/17 44/3 44/4
45/4 46/13 48/7
48/12 53/17 65/18
66/1 66/18 66/20
67/5 71/2 71/8
72/4 72/4 74/9
77/15 104/8 112/4
118/1 130/25

134/7
total [1] 70/17
touch [2] 24/20
26/25
toward [1] 18/24

towards [12]
39/23 39/24 58/20
60/18 65/18 66/21
70/1 72/25 73/5
81/3 95/12 107/25

Tran [7] 16/17
16/19 16/25 19/21
20/2 23/7 130/2

transcribe [1]
5/6

transcribed [2]
128/1 134/10

transcript [3]
1/19 134/12 135/4

transcripts [1]
132/22

translates [1]
22/22

translator [1]
22/19

transpired [14]
14/25 20/9 27/14
37/5 49/5 54/1
61/25 67/16 75/2
82/22 87/20 97/18
108/7 129/1

tried [3] 65/10
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tried... [2]
73/20 106/1

truck [5] 52/4

100/18 100/23
100/24 106/12

true [5] 5/17
5/21 /4 132/9
134/12

truth [84]
try [2] 60/10
73/22

trying [10] 41/10
53/7 53/16 65/23
71/6 72/21 96/14
104/3 104/19
111/17

Tunnell [2]

101/10 103/7

turn [2] 95/11
130/11

twenties [1]
73/18

Twenty [1] 128/5

twice [1] 131/13

twisties [1]
40/20

two [38] 17/19
23/19 23/20 24/8
29/23 29/23 30/2
31/18 33/5 33/15
36/24 39/15 40/6
56/17 57/15 58/9
61/5 64/17 65/14
65/20 66/5 69/25
70/17 77/11 81/25
90/4 91/15 92/4
94/15 96/2 100/5
105/12 105/19
106/17 117/22
120/1 128/6 128/7

type [1] 124/2

U

30/16

34/9
44/7
86/9

uh [11]
32/21 33/11
34/13 35/18
61/10 79/13
87/13

uh-huh [10]
32/21 33/11 34/9
34/13 35/18 44/7
61/10 86/9 87/13

ultimately [1]

30/16

127/16

unarmed [2] 82/18
93/22

under [1] 134/10

undersigned [1]
135/4

understand [40]
7/8 13/13 14/3
15/10 16/8 16/11
17/5 20/19 21/19
21/20 27/24 28/19
37/15 38/13 49/15
50/16 54/11 55/8
62/10 63/7 63/9
68/1 68/23 75/12
76/10 83/7 84/8
88/5 89/3 89/4
89/14 89/17 89/22
90/12 98/3 98/24
104/19 108/17
109/19 129/11

understood [2]
13/15 114/2

undivided [1]
97/6

unknown [1] 95/20

unmanageable [1]
40/22

until [3] 22/22
120/25 123/7
up [43] 24/9 27/3

30/22
42/14
46/13
48/17
58/16
64/24
85/11

35/23
44/25
47/15
48/17
64/20
72/16
86/20

41/4
45/6
48/11
56/4
64/24
77/22
86/20

87/8 90/5 91/23
96/7 96/9 96/19
96/23 100/7
110/19 111/17
115/15 117/9
120/23 120/23
120/24 121/1
121/10 124/13
125/1 125/11
update [1] 100/5
upon [16] ©6/20
13/25 15/20 21/6
28/7 37/25 50/3
54/21 62/19 68/10
75/22 83/19 88/15
92/16 98/12 109/6
upper [3] 79/12
93/8 96/18
us [41] 8/22
14/25 20/9 27/14
30/1 31/21 32/3
34/9 37/5 39/21
42/11 44/6 49/5
54/1 58/13 61/25
64/18 64/19 64/22
65/1 66/16 66/17
66/18 66/24 67/16
69/24 70/1 70/2
70/4 70/21 75/2
82/22 87/20 97/18
100/12 104/18
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us... [5] 108/7
129/1 130/9
130/22 132/18

use [36] 7/4 7/5
13/10 13/12 16/4
16/5 21/15 21/16
28/15 28/16 38/9
38/10 50/12 50/13
55/4 55/5 63/3
63/4 68/19 68/20
74/16 T76/6 T76/7
84/4 84/5 88/24
88/25 89/10 89/11
98/20 98/21
109/15 109/16
126/23 132/13
132/14

used [5] 51/18
51/19 124/21
125/25 127/11

using [1] 125/9

usually [1] 58/3

\Y

V-A-S—-Q-U-E-Z [1]
84/13

various [1] 120/9

Vasquez [3] 83/13

84/12 84/15
Vegas [12] 1/13
5/1 8/8 17/9
22/17 29/11 39/6
56/2 64/2 69/15
77/4 134/14
vehicle [8] 4/5
10/20 10/21 11/2
11/8 12/4 12/5
12/10
versus [1]
very [20]

5/12
40/21

46/7 48/21 48/21
48/22 70/11 73/22
93/19 94/6 96/11
96/19 121/24
122/9 122/18
122/24 123/18
127/8 131/22
132/19 133/3

via [1] 16/11

victims [2] 13/23
128/13

video [24] 11/20
12/12 85/6 85/12
85/18 85/25 99/24
100/2 102/8 103/4
103/14 103/15
103/16 104/16
104/22 112/25
113/24 114/13
115/7 115/24
116/3 116/23
118/10 124/13

Vietnamese [5]
22/19 22/24 23/3
23/16 130/8

view [2] 107/25
117/1

voice [1]

vote [1]

W

W-I-L-L-I-A-M-S
[1] 55/17

wait [2] 22/22
58/18

waited [3] 105/22
124/4 125/12

waiting [3]
115/4 115/14

walk [3] 17/19
33/20 71/7

71/12
132/9

35/25

walked [20] 17/25
31/20 32/12 34/18
35/12 39/15 39/17
41/3 42/4 42/9
42/13 44/14 45/11
46/4 58/20 58/24
64/17 65/18 66/15
71/2

walking [2] 43/6
106/22

wall [1] 53/19

wallet [17] 43/25

44/1 44/6 58/22
59/3 59/5 59/8
66/1 66/4 66/9
72/5 72/7 72/10
130/14 130/14
130/15 130/23
wallets [3] 17/23
25/21 43/4
Walmart [2]
74/15
want [17] &8/6
22/12 29/9 32/25
42/18 42/19 51/9
55/25 73/21 82/2
85/21 86/12 91/4
99/14 103/1
108/23 126/25
wanted [4] 45/9
48/20 94/3 119/8
warrants [1]
105/25
was [398]
Washington [5]
77/2 84/24 91/7
124/16 124/20
wasn't [19] 9/25
27/4 32/17 41/11
42/16 42/18 43/25
46/7 48/11 51/12

43/ 2
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wasn't... [9]
56/24 59/14 71/6
72/1 105/25 119/6
119/15 123/12
125/11

watched [1]
104/22

watching [4]
34/11 112/18
116/23

wave [1]

waving [1]

waxed [1]

waxing [1] 23/18

way [10] 34/21
41/3 44/14 53/5
60/17 77/23 90/12
102/3 105/14

34/9

53/7
53/11
56/16

107/18
Wayne [2] 98/8
99/6
we [52]
We'll [1] 132/3
we're [15] 5/23

6/2 6/6 8/17 17/2
90/12 92/12
102/21 102/22
102/23 104/14
110/19 111/10
117/17 131/23
we've [1] 118/4
weapon [59]
wear [3] 123/11
124/5 127/7
wearing [4] 40/1
40/6 96/6 126/7

weight [1] 107/11
welcome [1] 48/19
well [22] 29/21

39/22 40/19 64/15

65/8 65/23 66/5
66/15 70/11 72/4
73/23 74/10 80/13
89/24 95/6 96/8
96/16 96/19 102/1
104/17 125/15
131/21

went [39] 10/19
10/21 13/1 26/11
32/10 32/10 32/11
34/21 36/9 44/23
44/25 45/1 45/1
46/4 46/13 46/15
53/18 60/10 60/17
60/18 64/15 65/11
67/7 70/11 72/24
73/2 73/2 73/8
73/10 77/14 81/2
94/23 95/2 95/19
95/19 104/7 123/9
124/4 124/22

were [101]

weren't [2]
128/16

west [3] 73/3
95/14 102/23

what [96]

what's [6] 11/14
42/10 77/7 79/23
85/22 92/2

whatever [5]
29/24 59/2 65/11

39/12

86/21 96/3
wheel [1] 52/21
when [63]
where [36] 18/12

19/11 19/17 25/2
25/8 26/11 33/19
33/20 42/16 44/14
44/15 45/1 45/7
52/6 53/8 53/9

58/20 59/22 60/8
61/11 67/3 67/7
73/9 79/9 81/2
90/5 94/23 103/1
104/5 119/1 119/2
125/14 125/15
127/13 127/15
130/12
whether [3]
89/16 121/14
which [27] 5/19
12/8 17/16 18/24
39/10 43/7 43/13
45/24 60/17 64/12
72/24 80/24 86/23
95/4 102/6 113/2
117/8 117/22
117/25 118/1
119/2 123/15
124/20 125/14
125/19 126/6

14/10

129/20
Whichever [1]
32/2
while [25] 7/3

8/19 16/3 21/14
25/23 25/25 28/14
38/8 44/23 50/11
53/5 55/3 59/16
63/2 68/18 69/23
76/5 84/3 88/23
89/9 98/19 101/24
106/2 109/14
132/12

white [16] 9/1
30/11 39/18 47/14
52/20 56/22 56/24
57/3 57/11 60/22
60/23 77/24
107/24 111/16
128/20 128/21
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who [26] 12/20
17/21 18/3 18/5
19/1 23/19 27/5
34/3 36/11 36/16
39/17 40/25 45/11
45/12 45/25 46/2
66/21 80/8 91/21
92/18 95/8 107/5
111/6 115/7 121/5
121/12

who's [4] 15/15
46/14 89/15 101/5

whole [31] 6/21
7/17 15/21 16/21
19/18 21/7 22/6
28/8 29/3 38/1
38/22 45/15 50/4
51/3 54/22 55/21
62/20 63/20 68/11
69/7 71/13 75/24
76/19 83/21 84/17
88/16 90/24 98/13
99/8 109/7 110/3

why [6] 45/8 53/3
90/10 111/13
113/7 117/21

wife [1] 52/5

will [8] 5/20
6/15 6/15 13/12
20/25 26/5 37/20
126/19

Williams [4]

49/19 54/17 55/16
55/19

wise [1] 107/20

wish [1] 95/1

wit [2] 130/21
135/13

without [2] 24/5
78/ 2

witness [18] 6/15
13/9 13/9 13/22
20/25 37/20 48/21
54/16 62/14 68/5
75/20 83/12 88/10
108/23 111/15
111/21 122/9
125/14

witnessed [1]
90/1

witnesses [6]
6/13 9/1 12/13
51/25 127/8

woman [3] 8/19
30/17 100/10

women [3] 17/21
23/22 130/8

word [7] 96/20
129/24 129/25
130/1 130/1
130/12 130/14

wording [1]

112/21

wore [1] 23/21

work [4] 8/3 17/8
71/12 84/23

worked [2]
100/6

worker [1]

workers [1]

working [10]
17/17 19/15 22/15
23/7 77/1 78/24
91/6 101/5 101/14
103/10

3/1

100/4

44/20
46/12

works [1l] 66/25
worth [1] 123/14
would [28] 5/24

15/17 49/25 54/18
68/7 73/5 78/11
79/2 81/13 83/14

97/12
109/3

98/9 103/3

123/11
124/5 126/23
127/7 127/7
127/25 129/21
129/22 130/4
130/7 130/13
130/15 130/18
130/25

wouldn't [7] 32/6
44/17 44/20 44/20
44/22 72/2 85/10

write [1] 129/24

writing [3] 86/15
86/23 100/10

wrong [1l] 41/24
Y

yeah [47]

year [17] 15/5

20/14 27/19 29/10
37/10 49/10 54/¢6
62/5 67/21 T5/7
83/2 87/25 97/23
108/12 120/6
121/11 129/6
years [7] 8/2 8/3
46/5 100/4 101/9
107/12 110/14
yell [2] 100/12
104/14
velled [1]
yvyelling [2]
104/13
Yep [3]
113/19
yes [256]
yesterday [1]
51/19
yet [1]
you [754]

96/22
65/17

92/6 92/9

93/12
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Y

you'd [1] 108/24
you'll [2] 75/18
81/7

you're [33] 15/12

20/21 21/21 28/1

30/14 33/14 37/17

47/5 48/19 48/21
49/17 62/12 68/3
75/14 80/1 83/9
86/8 87/9 87/11
89/6 89/17 89/19
90/7 90/10 90/11
90/13 92/14
104/25 105/1
116/23 126/13
129/13 129/22

you've [7] 5/21
6/9 6/10 35/15
89/24 104/23
127/11

young [3] 36/13
46/23 115/7

your [109]

yours [1l] 52/24

yourself [5]
44/10 79/7 80/8
104/20 107/10

Z

zipped [1] 77/22
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Elec.tronically Filed
10/09/2015 12:56:57 PM

IND , | Cm“ y 8 kﬁ\.«ay—-
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #001565

GIANCARLO PESCI

Chief Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #7135

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, CASENO: C-15-308719-1
-V§- DEPT NO: XII
RALPH ALEXANDER, aka
Ralph Leone Alexander, #2511165
JAMES EARL PARKER, #2669754, SUPERSEDING
TONYA MARTIN, #1761129
INDICTMENT

Defendant(s).

STATE OF NEVADA

COUNTY OF CLARK
The Defendant(s) above named, RALPH ALEXANDER, aka Ralph Leone Alexander

and JAMES EARL PARKER and TONYA MARTIN, accused by the Clark County Grand
Jury of the crime(s) of BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM (Category
B Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50426); ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON
(Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50138); CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT
ROBBERY (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 199.480 - NOC 50147); ATTEMPT
ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380,
193.330, 193.165 - NOC 50145) and ASSAULT WITH A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B
Felony - NRS 200.471 - NOC 50201), committed at and within the County of Clark, State of
Nevada, on or between June 15, 2015 and July 9, 2015, as follows:

11

SS.
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COUNT 1 - CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY
Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and TONYA
MARTIN did on or about June 15, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously conspire with

each other to commit a robbery, by the defendants committing the acts as set forth in Counts
2 through 3, said acts being incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein.
COUNT 2 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and TONYA
MARTIN did on or about June 15, 2015, then and there willfullyl, unlawfully, and feloniously

enter, with intent to commit larceny and/or a felony, to wit: robbery, that certain business
occupied by BOULDER STATION HOTEL AND CASINO, located at 4111 Boulder
Highway, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, said Defendants did possess and/or gain
possession of a firearm during the commission of the crime and/or before leaving the structure,
the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting
in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in
concert throughout..
COUNT 3 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendant RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and TONYA
MARTIN did on or about June 15, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously take personal
property, to-wit: a purse, from the person of ANNUTTIYA PAINSCHAB, or in her presence,

by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and against the will
of ANNUTTIYA PAINSCHAB, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm, the
Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the

commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
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encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this cr{me, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in
concert throughout.

COUNT 4 - CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY |

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA_MARTIN did on or about June 19, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously conspire with each other to commit a robbery, by the defendants committing the
acts as set forth in Counts 5 through 6, said acts being incorporated by this reference as though
fully set forth herein.
COUNT 5 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 19, 2015, then and there willfully,

unlawfully, and feloniously enter, with intent to commit larceny and/or robbery, that certain
business occupied by KWIKY MARKET, located at 6055 East Léke Mead, Las Vegas, Clark
County, Nevada, said Defendants did possess and/or gain possession of a firearm during the
commission of the crime and/or before leaving the structure, the Defendants being criminally
liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly
committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with
the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding,
inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a
conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants
aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout..
COUNT 6 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 19, 2015, willfﬁlly, unlawfully, and

feloniously take personal property, to-wit: a wallet and/or US currency and/or cigarettes, from

the person of CRAIG TUNNELL, or in his presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of
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injury to, and without the consent and against the will of CRAIG TUNNELL, with use of a
deadly weapon, to-wit; a firearm, the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of
the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime;
and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime
be committed, by counseling, encburaging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise
procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this
crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or
conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 7 - CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously conspire with each other to commit a robbery, by the defendants committing the
acts as set forth in Coﬁnts 8 through 16, said acts being incorporated by this reference as though
fully set forth herein.
COUNT 8 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2615, then and there willfully,

unlawfully, and feloniously enter, with intent to commit larceny and/or robbery, that certain
business occupied by LV NAIL SPA, located at 4430 East Charleston, Las Vegas, Clark
County, Nevada, said Defendantls did possess and/or gain possession of a firearm during the
commission of the crime and/or before leaving the structure, the Defendants being criminally
liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly
committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with
the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding,
inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit the clrime; and/or (3) pursuant to a
conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants

aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout..

| 7/
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COUNT 9 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and
feloniously take personal property, to-wit: US currency, from the person of LIEN NGUYEN,
or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent
and against the will of LIEN NGUYEN, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm, the
Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the
commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in
concert throughout.

COUNT 10 - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL

PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously attempt to take personal property, to-wit: US currency, from the person of CANG
TRAN, or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the
consent and against the will of CANG TRAN, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm,
the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting
in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in
concert throughout. |
COUNT 11 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
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PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and
feloniously take personal property, to-wit: US currency aﬁd/or a cell phone and/or
miscellaneous identification and/or credit cards, from the person of EVANGELINA
ESPINOZA, or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without
the consent and against the will of EVANGELINA ESPINOZA, with use of a deadly weapon,
to-wit: a firearm, the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the folloWing
principies of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by
aidiﬁg or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed,
by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the
other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the
intent that this crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by
Defendants acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 12 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously take personal property, to-wit: US currency and/or a cell phone and/or a purse
and/or a wallet and its contents, from the person of ANGELICA MIRANDA, or in her
presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and
against the will of ANGELICA MIRANDA, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm,
the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting
in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in
concert throughout.
COUNT 13 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
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PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and
feloniously take personal property, to-wit: US currency and/or a \;vallet with identification and
credit cards, from the person of BRIAUNA WILLIAMS, or in her presence, by means of force
or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and against the will of BRIAUNA
WILLIAMS, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm, the Defendants being criminally
liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly
committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with
the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding,-
inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a
conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants
aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout,
COUNT 14 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously take personal property, to-wit: US currency and/or a purse and/or identification
and/or credit cards, and/or a cell phone, from the person of IRACEMA MONTES-
CERVANTES, or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and
without the consent and against the will of IRACEMA MONTES-CERVANTES, with use of
a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm, the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more
of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime;
and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime
be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise
procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this
crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants aiding or ;abetting and/or
conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 15 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER aﬁd TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 26, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and
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feloniously take personal property, to-wit: US currency and/or a purse and/or car keys and/or
identification and/or credit cards and/or a cell phone, from the pefrson of IRAIS MONTES, or
in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent
and against the will of IRAIS MONTES, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm, the
Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal
liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the
commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in
concert throughout.
COUNT 16 - CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 30, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously conspire with each other to commit a robbery, by the defendants committing the
acts as set forth in Counts 18 through 19, said acts being incorporated by this reference as
though fully set forth herein.
COUNT 17 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 30, 2015, then and there willfully,

unlawfully, and feloniously enter, with intent to commit larceny and/or robbery, that certain
business occupied by RAINBOW MARKET, located at 5075 East Washington, Las Vegas,
Clark County, Nevada, said Defendant did possess and/or gain possession of a firearm during
the commission of the crime and/or before leaving the structure, the Deféndants being
criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1)
by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this
crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hifing,

commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3)
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pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed,
Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants afi:ting in concert throughout..
COUNT 18 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about June 30, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously take personal property, to-wit: U.S. Currency, from the person of ALMA
GUTIERREZ, or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and
without the consent and against the will of ALMA GUTIERREZ, with use of a deadly weapon,
to-wit: a fircarm, the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following
principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by
aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed,
by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the
other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the
intent that this crime be committed, Defendants aiding or aBetting and/or conspiring by
Defendants acting in concert throughout. |
COUNT 19 - CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT ROBBERY

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about July 9, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously conspire with each other to commit a robbery, by the defendants committing the
acts as set forth in Counts 21 through 24, said acts being incorporated by this reference as
though fully set forth herein.
COUNT 20 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about July 9, 2015, then and there willfully,

unlawfully, and feloniously enter, with intent to commit Iarceﬁy and/or robbery, that certain
business occupied by FAMILY DOLLAR, located at 4365 East Lake Mead, Las Vegas, Clark
County, Nevada, said Defendants did possess and/or gain possession of a firearm during the

commission of the crime and/or before leaving the structure, the Defendants being criminally
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liable under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly
committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the co;inmission of this crime, with
the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding,
inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a
conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants
aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout..
COUNT 21 - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about July 9, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

” feloniously attempt to take personal property, to-wit: U.S. Currency, from the person of
i KESHAUN RICHARDSON, or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of
injury to, and without the consent and against the will of KESHAUN RICHARDSON, by one
Defendant brandishing a firearm, one or both Defendants demanding money, and one
| Defendant opening a cash register drawer in an attempt to locate money, with use of a deadly
weapon, to-wit: a firearm, the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the
following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or

(2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be

committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise
“ procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this
crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or
conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 22 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON
Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about July 9, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously take personal property, to-wit: a purse and contents, from the person of ELENA
OJEDA-CHAVARRIA, or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to,
and without the consent and against the will of ELENA OJEDA-CHAVARRIA, with use of a

deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm, the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of
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the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime;
and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime
be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise
procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this
crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or
conspiring by Defendants acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 23 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

Defendants RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander and JAMES EARL
PARKER and TONYA MARTIN did on or about July 9, 2015, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously take personal property, to-wit: a phone, from the person of CHAD WILLIAMS,
or in his presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent
and against the will of CHAD WILLIAMS, with use of a déédly weapon, to-wit: a firearm,
the Defendants being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting
in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendants aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendants acting in
concert throughout.

1/

/1

/1

/1

/1

1/

11/

1/

1/

11

W:A2015FAI01\65\ 5F10165-IND-(ALEXANDER _ RALPH)-002.DOCX

2 AA 190




O 00 1 N W bW N

1 T N T N T (N T N T N T N T N T N T S S g g e G
o ~1 O o b W N = O Y0 N i R W N O

COUNT 24 - ASSAULT WITH A DEADLY WEAPON
Defendant RALPH ALEXANDER, aka, Ralph Leone Alexander did on or about July

09,2015, willfully, unlawfully, feloniously and intentionally place another person in reasonable
apprehension of immediate bodily harm and/or did willfully and unlawfully attempt to use
physical force against another person, to-wit: D. WALBURN, Qith use of a deadly weapon,
to-wit: a firearm, by pointing said firearm at the said Officer D. WALBURN as the Defendant

was fleeing from having just committed various crimes.
DATED this 3] day of October, 2015.
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

Foi'eperson, Clark County Grand Jury
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Names of witnesses testifying before the Grand Jury:
CARRERA, GABRIEL, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

CHAVARRIA-OJEDA, ELENA, c/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
ESPINOZA, ANGELIA, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
GUTIERREZ, ALMA, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
HUBBARD, SEAN, LVMPD P#7212

LORSON, KARL, LVMPD P#5746

MAIN, RONALD, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

MILLER, DAVID, LVMPD P#6627

MIRANDA, ANGELICA, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
MONTES-CERVANTES, IRACIMA, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
MONTES-CERVANTES, IRAIS, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
NGUYEN, LIEN, ¢/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

PAINSCHAB, ANYTTIYA, c/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
RAMIREZ, RAFAEL, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
RICHARDSON, KESHAUN, c¢/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
SALTER, DOUGLAS, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
SUTTON, DONALD, LVMPD P#15153

TRAN, CANG, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

VASQUEZ, RAMON, c¢/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
WALBURN, DAMIAN, LVMPD P#5642 |
WILLIAMS, BRIAUNA, ¢/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
WILLIAMS, CHAD, c¢/o0 CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

WOLD, RAYMOND, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

Additional witnesses known to the District Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:
BRINKLEY, MICHAEL, LVMPD P#9819
CARBONE, JOSHUA, LVMPD P#15053
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1 || COURTNEY, RYAN, LVMPD P#13434

" CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, CCDC

“ CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, LVMPD DISPATCH
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, LVMPD RECORDS
| DIAZ, ANTHONY, LVMPD P#15069

DUVALL, CAMERON, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
DUVALL, REGINA, c/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
EASTERLING, JAMES, LVMPD P#7923

EMBRY, CHAD, LVMPD P#6223

10 || GUYER, JEFFERY, LVMPD P#7430

11 " KAVON, SCOTT, LVMPD P#4131

12 | MARTELL, BLAINE, LVMPD P#8429

13 || MARTIN, TONYA, c¢/o CCDA/GCU, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

14 || PARKER, KEITH, LVMPD P#9865

15 “ PARKER, KENNETH, LVMPD P#12960

16 | PASQUALICCHIO, VITO, LVMPD P#9847

O 0 3 N U R W

17
18
19
20
21
|
23

24
25
26 14BGJ113ABC/15F10165AB/15F11140X/dd-GJ

27 | LVMPD EV#150709-1037; 150615-0641

- i (TK3)
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